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ACRONYMS

AgDF  Agaciro Development Fund          

BDF  Business Development Fund          

BNR  National Bank of Rwanda          

BRD  Development Bank of Rwanda Plc         

CSR  Corporate Social Responsibility          

DFI  Development Financial Institution         

EGF  Export Growth Fund           

Frw Rwandan Francs           

GCF  Green Climate Fund            

GDP  Gross Domestic Product            

GoR  Government of Rwanda            

IDA  International Development Association            

IFC  International Finance Cooperation             

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standard          

k One Thousand            

KfW Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau          

MDBs  Multilateral Development Banks           

MFI  MicroFinance Institutions              

MINICOM  Ministry of Trade and Industry            

MINECOFIN  Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning          

MININFRA  Ministry of Infrastructure            

NAEB  National Agricultural Exports Board          

NPL  Non–performing Loans            

NST  National Strategy for Transformation          

OPEC  Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries         

PSF  Private Sector Facility            

REF  Renewable Energy Fund            

RHFP  Rwanda Housing Fund Project           

RSSB  Rwanda Social Security Board           

SDGs  Sustainable Development Goals          

SEMs		 Social	&	Environmental	Management	System			 	 	 	 	 	 	 	

SACCOs  Savings and Credit Cooperatives          

US United States of America                    

VCF  Value Chain Financing               

Powering up 
Rwanda’s energy
We have not only focused on our people but we have also 
focused on energy with emphasis on renewable energy. BRD has 
invested largely in this sector through research and development.

we empower you

FUTURE. FOCUSED.
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COMPANY OVERVIEW

VISION MISSION

To be an innovative and 
sustainable provider of 
development	finance	for	
socio–economic impact

A trusted strategic partner 
for Rwanda’s development 
that	offers	financial	solutions	
for enhanced value to our 
stakeholders

STRATEGIC THEMES

Operational 
excellence

Strategic 
partnerships

Dynamic 
culture

Passionate Innovative

Integrity

Excellence

Accountable

We are We are

We espouse in 
our activities

We strive to 
achieve

We are

VALUES

Developing 
our people

Legal	&	
Regulatory 
Framework

Innovative 
financial	
solutions

Operational 
Excellence

Financial 
sustainability

Data	&	
Business 
intelligence

Developing 
Strategic 
partnerships

STRATEGIC ENABLERS

The Development Bank of Rwanda Plc (BRD) is Rwanda’s only national Development Finance Institution with the mandate to 
support the development of the private sector with a focus on priority sectors aligned to the national strategic goals. The Bank 
which	marked	51	years	in	existence	this	year,	has	contributed	to	the	country’s	economic	growth	through	financial	and	non–
financial	investments	in	key	growth	areas	and	progressively	realigns	itself	to	ensure	relevance,	competitiveness	and	sustainability	
of	its	operations.	The	Bank	offers	short,	medium	and	long	term	financing	to	small,	medium	and	large	enterprises	at	attractive	
rates through debt, equity and mezzanine instruments.

OUR STRATEGY

Our	current	strategy	(2018–2024)	is	refined	
from the previous 2016–2020 strategy following 
a deep–dive analysis of the implementation, 
redefinition	of	objectives	and	targets	per	priority	
sector and assessment of the Bank’s risk, people 
and knowledge management.

The	Bank’s	new	strategic	direction	reaffirms	its	mandate	to	
support private sector development by ensuring relevance, 
responsiveness	and	effectiveness	of	its	products	and	
services. 

During 2018, we reviewed our operating environment, 
assessed our organizational capacity and updated our 
corporate strategy towards 2024. In 2018, the Bank 
adopted a new seven (7) year strategy 2018– 2024. Our 
updated strategy is aligned with the government’s national 
strategy for transformation (NST1) and the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs), both of which are building 
blocks of the Bank’s increased focus on socio–economic 
impact of its activities. 

While BRD’s strategy has delivered development impact, 
balance sheet growth and stakeholder value since 2016, it 
is important that we understand and adapt to the mid–to–
long term changes in our operating environment. 

Technologies, regulation, and markets are always changing, 
which means that the success parameters and business 
models along various sector value chains are expected 
to adapt to these changes. The key underlying trends 
being	the	increasing	technology	integration	in	financing	
processes and how this will shape the Bank’s approach 
to doing business, a focus on value creation and shifting 
patterns in types and sources of funding for development 
projects.

This is the backdrop of the need for the Bank to always 
deliver	financial	solutions	that	meet	our	customers’	needs.	
To	reflect	this	reality,	BRD’s	2018–2024	strategy	update	
includes a new set of mid–term strategic objectives and 
priorities.

BRD	will	continue	to	operate	in	its	five	key	priority	sectors	
of	Agriculture,	Energy,	Affordable	Housing	&	Infrastructure,	
Manufacturing	&	Exports	and	Education	where	we	believe	
the Bank will be able to deliver maximum development 

impact and create value for all our stakeholders. Likewise, 
the Bank’s business model was refocused to encompass 
the entire value chain rather than a narrow focus 
on	financing.	To	ensure	that	management	becomes	
accountable in delivering on the strategy, one of the 
key initiatives that was carried out in the year under 
review was design and development of an institutional 
scorecard using the balanced scorecard approach. This 
will be a crucial tool in strategy implementation as it will 
enable the development of a performance management 
and measurement system. This will also help in the 
implementation of strategic business transformation 
initiatives that are critical in unlocking potential for 
provision	of	financial	solutions.	

The Strategy is delivered through annual business plans 
with key performance indicators cascaded from the 
Institutional Balanced Scorecard. The annual business 
plans are reviewed on a quarterly basis, taking into account 
any changes in the operating environment, systems and 
processes. 

To ensure even more clarity of the Bank’s strategic 
direction,	the	revised	strategy	saw	the	re–definition	of	the	
Bank’s Vision and Mission as follows;

 f Vision: To be an innovative and sustainable provider 
of	development	finance	for	socio–economic	impact

 f Mission: A trusted strategic partner for Rwanda’s 
development	that	offers	financial	solutions	for	
enhanced value to our stakeholders

The Bank’s role is to catalyze private 
sector funding to address sector specific 
constraints and close access to finance 
gaps for viable and impactful projects.
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OUR BUSINESS MODEL

VISION AND MISSION

TRANSFORMING VALUE

BUSINESS VERTICALS /  SECTORS

Agriculture

Key Products:
 f Debt (Loans)
 f Equity

Others:
 f Guarantees
 f Technical Assistance (TA)
 f Matching Grant (EGF)
 f Investment Catalyst (EGF)
 f Export Guarantee Facility (EGF)
 f Advisory

Managed Funds:
 f Export Growth Fund
 f Renewable Energy Fund (REF)
 f Affordable	Housing	Fund
 f Education Fund

PRODUCTS

EducationEnergy
Exports and 

Manufacturing

Affordable	
housing and 

Infrastructure

Identify and develop 
the right human capital 

to deliver the Bank’s 
objectives

Strengthen  
internal systems and 
processes to ensure 
effectiveness	of	the	

operations of the Bank

Contribute to  
Economic development  

(Socio–economic  
impact) with a focus on 

key growth  
areas

Build a customer 
satisfaction culture 
through relevant 
and competitive 

products and 
service delivery

Improve	financial	
performance and 
build economic 

competitiveness and 
sustainability 

G
O

V
E

R
N

A
N

C
E

R
IS
K
	&

	C
A
P
IT
A
L	
M
A
N
A
G
E
M
E
N
T

Strategic Partnerships Operational ExcellenceDynamic Culture

Sourcing of 
investments 

(Analyse, advise 
and Fund)

Project 
Management

Earn income– 
manage opex 
and invest in 
employees

Invest	profits	into	
reserves  

and business

Development 
impact and 
learnings

Secure funding 
from partners

DELIVERY CHANNELS

Direct  
Lending

Financial 
Institution

Implementing 
Agencies

Commercial 
BanksPrivate Sector GoR Agencies

SACCOs PSF, RSSB

MFIs
Development 
Partners
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OUR VALUE CREATION MODEL

Value creation is the consequence of how we apply and 
leverage	our	capital	in	delivering	financial	performance	
(outcomes) and optimising value (outcomes and outputs) 
for all stakeholders. Our value creation process is 
embedded in our mission as an organisation.

Frw 37.8Bn – Total Equity 
Frw 216Bn – B/S 

Funds invested in business

MISSION AND VISION

Core IT systems 
PPE, Intangible assets –  

Capital goods stock  
built by the Bank

Market Leader in long 
term	financing	of	impactful	&	

development projects. 
Knowledge based intangibles.

152 employees: Focus on 
talent mgmt – Attract,  

nurture	&	retain	skill	growth,	
re–skilling and training

FINANCIAL CAPITAL FINANCIAL CAPITAL

SOCIAL CAPITAL SOCIAL CAPITAL

NATURAL CAPITAL NATURAL CAPITAL

Leader in sustainability &	
leader in social responsibility 
&	relationships	with	our	

stakeholders

Leader in renewable energy 
financing – Integration of impact, 
social	&	environmental	approach	

in lending

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL MANUFACTURED CAPITAL

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

MISSION AND VISION

80% growth in PAT 
Frw 63.3 Bn Total Equity 

Frw 236 Bn B/S 
Equity injection – 31.8Bn

Investment in IT Systems 
– T24, ERP, FOS 

Business  
Intelligence – 2019

Market Leader –  
in	long	term	financing	of	impactful	
&	development	projects.	Managing	
REF,	EGF	&	Affordable	housing	
fund. 9% growth in total assets 

7%	incr	in	gross	loans	&	advances

Employees 
Growth in skills to manage 

complex	projects	in	energy	&	
affordable	housing.	Remuneration,	
benefits,	career	development,	

great work environment

Community & Stakeholders: 
Socio–economic impact 

Leader	in	sustainability	&	CSR.	
Financial inclusion

Reduced lending to carbon 
intensive industries 

Reduced carbon intensity in 
our operations. Leadership in 
renewable	energy	financing

OUTPUTS
Products, services 
and by–products

STRATEGY  
AND 

ALLOCATION  
OF  

RESOURCES

OUTLOOK

HUMAN CAPITAL HUMAN CAPITAL

OUTCOMES

GOVERNANCE

RISKS AND 
OPPORTUNITIES

PERFORMANCE

Transforming 
value through our 
business model

BUSINESS 
ACTIVITIESINPUTS

BUSINESS 
MODEL
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DEFINITION OF OUR RESOURCES

Capital Description How we create value

Social and 
Relationship 
Capital

Our Clients, funding and implementing 
partners and the communities we 
operate in

Creating strategic partnerships, stakeholder management– leading sustainable 
financing	solutions,	leadership	in	social	responsibility	and	providing	sustainable	
solutions in the communities we operate in through energy access, increasing 
financial	inclusion	for	vulnerable	communities	(small	scale	farmers,	women	&	
youth).
Leveraging	the	Balance	sheet	through	co–financing	and	syndications	through	
our strategic partnerships.
Unique abilities in sourcing projects that are Impactful, sustainable and viable.
Identifying and working with impactful entrepreneurs and SME’s that provide 
solutions	(both	social	&	economic)	that	are	needed	by	our	communities.

Financial 
Capital 

Capital from shareholders, Borrowings, 
Interest and principal repayments 
earnings from loans, Dividends from 
equity investments

Extending debt and equity investments to impactful entrepreneurs, repayment 
of borrowings and covering operating expenses

Human 
Capital

Our	staff Unique	skills	necessary	for	financing	of	complex	&	long	term	Projects	–	
Assessing Investment proposals, monitoring and managing our investment 
portfolio and providing business support services including sourcing funds, 
research, communication and legal and procurement services
152	staff	members,	(23%)	–	Managerial	Category,	(60%)	–	Professional	Officer	
category, and (11%) – general service category.
Focus	on	Talent	Mgmt	–	Attract,	nurture	&	retain	talent
Skill	growth	–	Re–skilling	&	training

Intellectual 
capital

Knowledge developed over time 
through activities in our business 
operations	and	Industry	specific	
economic research, especially in 
financing	of	complex	and	long	term	
projects.
Our operations in availing solutions and 
financing	in	housing,	energy	(Energy	
generation,	efficiency	&	Renewable	
energy), exports growth and agriculture 
financing.

Ability	to	identify	strategies	to	develop	the	priority	sectors,	identification	of	
impactful projects/programs and manage risks in our investment.
Understanding the value chains through research/studies and continuous 
market interaction. Creating market linkages. Working with various stakeholders 
to mitigate risk in sectors and value chains considered risky leveraging the 
balance sheet to catalyze more investments.

Natural 
Capital

Our Brand; Our leadership in 
sustainable	financing	in	the	country	
i.e leadership of renewable energy 
financing	and	the	integration	of	socio–
economic	&	environmental	factors	in	
our decision making process.
As the nation’s only Development Bank 
with	over	50	years	of	providing	financial	
solutions with an aim to contribute to 
Rwanda’s socio–economic growth, we 
are trusted to serve our client’s needs.

We	offer	financial	solutions	for	entrepreneurs	with	impactful	projects.
Our	financing	activities	are	geared	towards	reducing	lending	to	carbon	intensive	
industries. Leading a paradigm shift towards low–emission and climate–
resilient	development	in	the	most	vulnerable	sectors	like	agriculture,	energy,	&	
manufacturing.
Work with partners championing solutions around climate change by investing 
in low–emission and climate–resilient development. With a focus to limit or 
reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
Reduced carbon intensity in all our operations.

Technological 
Capital

Our information technology and security 
systems 

Effective	stewardship	of	information	assets	and	provide	a	secure,	highly	reliable	
technology infrastructure along with high–quality, customer–oriented services 
and support, so as to meet the ever–changing needs of the Bank and our 
clients

BRD’S ROLE IN SUPPORTING THE NST AND SDGS 

BRD’s leadership is committed to meeting the challenges of a transforming Rwanda by aligning its investment 
activities to the National Strategy for Transformation (NST) and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
adopted by the United Nations to shape the 2030 development agenda. 

The SDGs represent a common set of measurement criteria for ‘doing good’ or improving the state of society and the world, and 
were chosen to measure the delivery of ‘doing good’. The illustration below shows the role BRD aims to play to contribute to both 
the NST and SDGs objectives.

Agriculture Manufacturing 
and Exports Housing Energy Education Infrastructure

Targeted 
Investment USD 230.9 Million USD 267.8 Million USD 191.7 Million USD 230.9 Million USD 376.9 Million USD 142.1 Million

BRD’s Role per NST
Increase	financing	
and infrastructure 
for agriculture

Increase exports of 
high–value services 
and value added 
goods

Increase the 
provision of 
affordable	housing

Enhance energy 
accessibility 
for Rwandan 
households

Increase 
financing	for	skills	
development

Operationalise 
national innovation 
ecosystems

Related Action

Launch a 
comprehensive 
agricultural	financing	
program

Agro–processing 
development 
program

Expand the export 
growth fund

Partner with private 
sector through PPPs 
and Joint ventures

Provide housing 
loans products for 
SACCOs cooperative 
members

Design a developer 
scheme for low cost 
housing

Financing	off–grid	
solutions

Conduct a feasibility 
study for savings 
scheme for private 
education	finance

Leading on 
syndication for 
infrastructure 
projects

Related SDG



14          A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

D E V E L O P M E N T  B A N K  O F  R W A N D A w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           15

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT/ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

Global Outlook

Global growth is moderating 
as the recovery in trade and 
manufacturing activity loses 
steam. Despite ongoing 
negotiations, trade tensions 
among major economies 
remain elevated. 

A strengthening U.S. dollar, 
heightened	financial	market	
volatility, and rising risk premiums 
have	intensified	capital	outflow	and	
currency pressures in some large 
emerging markets and developing 
economies, with some vulnerable 
countries experiencing substantial 
financial	stress.	But	with	growth	still	
above potential in most developing 
market economies, we look for 
continued labor market tightening, 
gradually	rising	core	inflation,	and	in	
many cases higher policy rates.

According to world Bank reports, 
global growth is projected to 
moderate from a downwardly 
revised 3 percent in 2018 to 2.9 
Percent in 2019 and 2.8 percent 
in 2020–21, as economic slack 
dissipates, monetary policy 
accommodation in advanced 

economies is removed, and global 
trade gradually slows. Global growth 
is moderating as the recovery in 
trade and manufacturing activity 
loses steam. Growth in the United 
States remained solid, bolstered by 
fiscal	stimulus.	In	contrast,	activity	in	
the Euro Area has been somewhat 
weaker than previously expected, 
owing to slowing net exports. 

While growth in advanced 
economies is estimated to have 
slightly decelerated to 2.2 percent 
in 2018, emerging markets and 
developing economies’ growth 
edged down to an estimated 4.2 
percent in 2018 – 0.3 percentage 
point slower than previously 
projected driven mostly by countries 
with elevated current account 
deficits	experiencing	substantial	
financial	pressures	and	slowdown	
in activity, with recovery among 
commodity exporters losing 
momentum	significantly	owing	to	
some	country–	specific	challenges	
like capacity constraints and 
decelerating export growth. 

In low–income countries 
(LICs),	growth	is	firming	up	as	
infrastructure investment continues 
and easing drought conditions 
support a rebound in agricultural 
output. However, LIC metals 
exporters are struggling partly 
reflecting	softer	metals	prices.	
Central Banks in many Emerging 
market and developing economies 
have tightened policy to varying 
degrees to confront currency and 
inflation	pressures.

Energy	prices	fluctuated	markedly	in	
the second half of 2018, mainly from 
supply factor, while prices of most 
metals and agricultural commodities 

also	weakened,	largely	due	to	concerns	about	the	effects	of	
tariffs	on	global	growth	and	trade	but	these	are	expected	
to stabilize in 2019. Oil prices averaged $68 per barrel 
(bbl.) in 2018, a touch lower than June forecasts but about 
30 percent higher than in 2017. 

While robust global oil consumption contributed to this 
increase, supply–side factors were the main drivers of price 
movements throughout the year. 

The	political	instability	in	Venezuela	that	affected	
production and the market concern about the impact of 
US sanctions on Iran contributed to rising crude oil prices. 
However, prices fell in November after the united states 
announced temporary waivers to the sanctions on Iran for 
eight countries, including China and India. 

The	decline	in	prices	also	reflected	continued	rapid	
growth in oil production in the United States, as well as a 
substantial increase in supply by the Organization of the 
Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC) and the Russian 
Federation. Oil prices are expected to average $67/bbl. In 
2019 and 2020, however, uncertainty around the forecast 
is high. With the outlook for supply expected to be largely 
dependent on production decisions by OPEC and its non–
OPEC partners. 

Market concerns about global trade and investment 
prospects, as a result, have clouded the outlook for 
demand for commodities. Industrial metals have been 
particularly responsive to these concerns given their many 
uses in the manufacture of tradable goods, with some 
metals such as nickel falling more than 20 percent. 

In contrast, the price of steel and aluminum in the United 
States	rose	following	the	announcement	of	specific	tariffs	
on imports of those metals from a wide range of countries.

In many Emerging market and developing economies 
rising	global	interest	rates	will	make	financing	fiscal	deficits	
through sovereign debt issuance costlier, underscoring the 
need to realign government spending with revenue and to 
manage the composition of debt, particularly in countries 
with elevated foreign–currency denominated debt or 
persistent	current	account	deficits.

Emerging markets and developing economies’ 
governments with high private–sector debt are exposed to 
contingent liabilities if Banking sector stress materializes 
in a rising interest rate environment (World Bank 2018). 
Underscoring these changes in anticipated reality of what 
a proliferation of trade barriers across both advanced 
economies	and	EMDEs	could	inflict	lasting	damage	to	the	
global economy. 

In	particular,	if	all	WTO	members	were	to	increase	tariffs	up	
to legally–allowed bound rates, this could translate into a 
decline	in	global	trade	flows	of	about	9	percent,	similar	to	
the	drop	seen	during	the	global	financial	crisis	in	2008–09	
(World	Bank	reports).	The	impact	of	increasing	tariffs	will	
have	a	ripple	effect	in	regional	and	global	value	chains	as	
associated	costs	will	accumulate	at	the	different	stages	of	
production.

Most emerging and developing markets face the pressing 
challenge of ensuring sustained improvements in living 
standards. This is despite the projected deceleration in 
growth outlook. This will require investments in human 
capital and skills development to raise productivity and 
take full advantage of technological changes. 

Studies show that continued divergences in the demand 
for high and low–skilled labor could exacerbate income 
inequality over time. How education systems adapted to 
skills needs will be a key determinant of the productivity 
and	distributional	effects	of	technological	change

Despite these challenges facilitating the expansion of small 
and medium–sized enterprises including improving their 
access	to	international	markets	and	finance	would	also	
be critical in spurring their productivity and stimulating 
growth–enhancing investments. 

For many emerging and developing market countries, 
there is scope to further liberalize trade and improve the 
extent to which they are integrated into global value chains, 
which	would	foster	a	more	efficient	allocation	of	resources,	
job	creation,	and	export	diversification.	Policies	that	help	
improve outcomes in these areas would also contribute to 
addressing the challenges associated with informality, thus 
reinforcing the basis for future productivity growth.

In a rising global interest rate environment, employing expansionary fiscal policy with 
limited fiscal space can amplify vulnerabilities by increasing market perceptions of 
sovereign credit risk, which may lead to higher sovereign bond yields and borrowing costs. 
LICs are more vulnerable to rising global financial costs than in the past, as LIC debt has 
increasingly shifted from concessionary to market financing, more generally. 

These tensions, combined with concerns about softening 
global growth prospects, have weighed on investor 

sentiment and contributed to declines in global equity 
prices. This has partially led to increase in borrowing costs 

for emerging market and developing economies as most 
advanced economy central Banks continue to withdraw 

policy accommodation in varying degrees. 



16          A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

D E V E L O P M E N T  B A N K  O F  R W A N D A w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           17

Local Economic Outlook 
(Rwanda)

Economic growth:  
Economic growth remained high in 
2018 averaging 8.6 % in 2018 compared 
to 6.1% in 2017. This was largely driven 
by good performance of the agricultural 
sector (6%), service sector (9%) and 
industry sector (10%). This momentum 
is expected to continue in 2019 to 
reach the initial growth projection of 
7.8%.

The	country’s	trade	deficit	increased	
by 12.4% resulting from increase in 
the import bill by 9.5% that more than 
offset	export	earnings	that	rose	by	
5.5% during the period. High increase 
in imports on account of ongoing 
infrastructure projects including 
construction of a peat power plant in 
southern province, Bugesera airport, 
various road projects and demand 
for intermediary goods for industrial 
production. Imports of capital goods 
increased by 10.4% while the imports 
of intermediary goods increased by 
12.4% resulting to formal exports cover 
of imports slightly declining to 41.1% in 
2018 compared to 42.6% in 2017. 

Inflation	remained	low	in	2018	with	
headline	inflation	averaging	1.4%	
from 4.9% in 2017 owing mostly to 
lower	food	inflation.	Core	inflation	
remained moderate at 1.6% in 2018 
compared	to	3.9%	in	2017	reflecting	
non–inflationary	aggregate	demand.	
In 2018 the National Bank of Rwanda 
(BNR) kept the policy rate at 5.5% to 
continue	supporting	the	financing	of	the	
economy by the Banking sector given 
that	both	inflationary	and	exchange	rate	
pressures were projected to remain 
within manageable ranges.  
This resulted into broad money growing 
by 15.6% vs 12.4% in 2017. During the 
same period outstanding credit to the 
private sector and new authorized loans 

rose by 10.8% and 17.2% respectively 
compared to 13.9% and 4.6% in the 
same period in 2017.

Money market interest rates remained 
broadly stable and have been 
converging towards the CBR as a result 
of improved liquidity management. 
Commercial Banks’ lending and deposit 
rates slightly decreased closing the 
year at 16.96 and 7.51% in 2018 
respectively vs 17.17% and 7.72 % 
recorded in 2017.Aggregate demand 
is projected to increase although it will 
be	non–inflationary,	while	exchange	
rate pressures are projected to remain 
moderate	and	inflation	to	be	around	
3% in 2019 in line with the benchmark 
inflation	band.

Total	financial	sector	assets	increased	
by 14.4% YoY to FRW 4,632bn against 
13.8% growth registered the previous 
year. Lending improved in Banks and 
MFI’s	reflecting	Banks	loan	approval	
rates in some sectors. Total outstanding 
Bank loans increased by 13.6% as at 
end of December 2018 against 12.9% 
registered in December 2017, while 
MFI’s loans increased by 19% compared 
to 3% in 2017. 

The NPL’s ratio in Banks dropped from 
7.6% in December 2017 to 6.4% in 
December 2018 and from 8.2% to 6.5% 
for MFI’s. This was driven by improved 
economic	conditions	and	write	offs	of	
long outstanding non–performing loans. 
The improved agriculture performance 
in 2018 particularly supported this. 

The Capital Adequacy ratio (CAR) for 
the Banking industry stood at 25.5% 
in December 2018 which was an 
improvement from 21.4% in December 
2017 and above the 15% minimum 
prudential requirement. The CAR for 
MFI’s stood at 35.1% in December 2018 
compared to 35.8% in December 2017. 

Private insurers maintained adequate 
solvency with a consolidated solvency 
ratio of 165% in December 2018 
compared to 100%prudential 

Inflation	remained	
low in 2018 from 
4.9% to 1.4%

Exports cover of 
imports decline 
to 41.1% in 2018 
compared to 
42.6% in 2017.

Trade	deficit	increased	
resulting from increase 
in the import bill

1.4

41.1

12.4

%

%

%

requirement.	The	sufficient	Capital	buffers	held	by	the	
financial	sector	indicate	the	resiliency	of	the	sector	to	
shocks.

The central Bank initiated and coordinated a number of 
reforms to modernize the payment system, among them, 
the development of a National strategy framework for the 
national payment system. In the same year the process of 
upgrading the current inter Bank payment systems (RIPPS) 
started. It will extend the operating hours of the system to 
24/7 hours, open access to the non– Bank payment service 

and enriched payment information by adopting the ISO 
20022. At the same time BNR is working with the payment 
systems in the industry to establish an interoperable retail 
payment system.

This initiative aims to facilitate economic agents 
to easily and instantly transfer or/and receive 
funds across all payment accounts including 
mobile money.



Profile of  
outgoing Chairman
Francis Mugisha is a management consultant with a significant 
track record working across sectors (public, private and social) 
and interacting at all levels to influence change.

He is the founder and managing director of Cerrium Advisory, a niche management 
consulting firm providing advisory services in strategy development, execution and 
measurement; board development and evaluation; performance assessments 
(diagnostics), institutional restructuring and transformation; project design 
and evaluations; human capital transformation (attract, grow and 
retain); public financial management reforms (PFM); business 
continuity management; and brand strategy.  

Francis is a former CEO of Rwandair and continues to serve 
on a number of boards as a non-executive director.  He 
has completed his maximum allowable two-term as 
chairman of the Rwanda Development Bank (BRD); 
serves as vice chairman of the Horizon Group; is a 
member of the ‘K-Lab’ Board; and has recently joined 
the RISA (Rwanda Information Security Authority) 
board. He served on the 2nd board of the Pan African 
Federation of Accountants (PAFA); served as president 
of Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Rwanda 
(ICPAR); was the inaugural chairman of the ICPAR 
‘Curriculum, Education and Examination Commission’; 
and served as a member of the East African 
‘Superbrands Council’.  

He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants (FCMA); a Chartered 
Global Management Accountant (CGMA); a 
Certified Public Accountant (CPA-R); and a Fellow 
of the African Leadership Institute (ALI) and the 
Aspen Global Leadership Network (AGLN). He is a 
certified Balanced Scorecard Master Professional 
(BSMP); a Certified Chartered Director (CERT IoD, 
London) and a PEFA (Public Expenditure Financial 
Accountability) consultant. Francis believes that 
society grows stronger when we plant trees whose 
shade we may never enjoy.

We thank you for your 
dedication and commitment 
in your leadership.

Providing affordable 
housing solutions
BRD has invested in solutions that provide durable, cost effective 
and eco–friendly construction materials especially in the real sector 
through construction of houses affordable to both the average and 
below average Rwandans, with individual architecture and identity.

we empower you

FUTURE. FOCUSED.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The initiatives we continue to 
implement are designed to position 
the Bank to deliver on its refocused 
mandate and have begun to bear 
significant	results.		We	are	pleased	
to report that through concerted 
efforts	of	all	stakeholders,	BRD	
registered	significant	improvement	
in all key performance metrics, 
putting the bank on a good path 
as a DFI (Development Financial 
Institution).  

This is in line with the shareholders’ 
decision to increase the Bank’s Tier 1 
Capital from a small base of about Rwf 
7.8 billion (where it had stayed for a 
long time) to Rwf 57 billion and align 
with BRD’s revised Strategic Plan (2018 
– 2024).  

Whilst the Bank has refocused as a 
Development Financial Institution (DFI) 
and ceased to be a ‘deposit taking 

Tier 1 Capital increased to 
align with the Bank’s Strategic 
Plan (2018 – 2024)

Net loan impairments 
reduced substantially by

Frw57

73

bn

%

to reduced impairment charges and 
increased recoveries from earlier write-
offs.	

In addition, the net loan impairments 
reduced substantially by 73 percent 
to close at Frw 3.4 billion [2017: Frw 
12.6 billion].  Also the Bank approved 
and signed 24 new Projects equivalent 
to Frw 18.78 billion during the year 
to support projects in the key priority 
sectors of agriculture, exports, 
energy,	affordable	housing	and	social	
infrastructure as well as a growing 
pipeline for 2019.  

In spite of the constrained lending 
capacity for much of the year, the 
Bank was able to post a stable topline 
revenue at Frw 21.1 billion [2017: 
Frw 20.7billion] translating into a 
Net Operating Income of Frw 7.8 
billion [2017: Frw 8.9billion] before 
impairment and other charges. We are 
confident	that	for	the	year	2019,	our	
performance will be substantially better 
given the foundation we continue to lay 
in improving the quality of our assets 
as well as the new capital injection.  

While progress is being realised 
across the board, the transition into 
an agile DFI ready for the challenges 
of today and ability to seize the 
immense opportunities of tomorrow 
is still a good work in progress, but 
encouraging. 

This	journey	will	include	a	significant	
restructuring and empowerment of our 
human capital and enhancement of 
the role of technology.  During the year, 
we successfully implemented a key IT 
infrastructure - the Facility Origination 
System (FOS); Temenos (T24) Core 
Banking System; and the Knowledge 
Management System (GIEOM) – to 
increase	efficiency	and	make	the	
institution a more customer-centric 
organization.   We plan to elaborate 
the Bank’s digital strategy in 2019 to 
further lay the foundations of an agile 
and capable DFI.

New Strategic Direction 
During the year under review, the 
Bank revised its strategic plan 2016-
2020 and aligned it with changing 
market and regulatory environment 
as well as the National Strategy for 
Transformation (NST-1). 

We believe this will help us enhance 
the Bank’s development impact and 
its catalytic role as a DFI – enhancing 
our ability to attract investments into 
priority sectors at a scale substantially 
larger than BRD’s balance sheet.  The 
Board approved the new revised 
strategy	(2018-2024)	and	signed-off	
a three-year Balanced Scorecard to 
guide its successful execution. 

As a result, a number of initiatives 
are underway to transform many 
aspects of the Bank in the medium 
term.  Further, the Board approved a 
revised Risk Management framework 
aligned with the Bank’s new operating 
model with stronger emphasis on 
improved sensitivity to risk and creating 
accountability across the board while 
supporting investments in the priority 
sectors.   

Governance and Oversight 
In 2018, the Government of Rwanda 
(GoR) consolidated its investments by 
transferring its shareholding and that 
of the National Agricultural Export 
Board (NAEB) to the Sovereign Wealth 
Fund – Agaciro Development Fund 
(AgDF).   As a result, AgDF now holds 
23,690,298 shares in BRD.  Also, as a 
result	of	significant	capital	injections	by	
the two main shareholders (GoR and 
RSSB) during the year, we are engaging 
the remaining shareholders to inject 
additional capital to avoid dilution.  

In a bid to strengthen its oversight 
role and ensure adherence to the 
new regulatory framework, the 
Board approved the reconstitution 
of its committees and appointed 
chairpersons of the respective 
Board committees. During the year, 
the Board comprised of nine non-

set for the 24 projects 
approved to boost 
key sectors

Agriculture

Renewable Energy

Exports

Housing

Social Infrastructure

Frw18.78bn

You can find out more at: brd.com/annualreport/

2018 was preceded by a highly 
turbulent	and	financially	
challenging year (2017), which 
was characterized by a tough 
operational environment and 
introduction of a more stringent 
regulatory regime – two things 
that greatly impacted BRD. During 
the year, the Bank continued to 
implement its three-pronged 
recovery program of ‘stability, 
recovery and thrive’.  

We are grateful for the continued commitment and 
support from our majority shareholders - the Government 
of Rwanda (GoR) and the Rwanda Social Security Board 
(RSSB)... for recapitalizing the Bank with additional 
Tier 1 capital – amounting to Frw 31.2 billion, which 
strengthened the bank’s lending capacity to support priority 
sectors of the economy as the Rwanda embarks on the 
ambitious National Strategy for Transformation (NST1). 

institution’ in 2016, BRD continues to 
be regulated as a commercial bank.  
We however welcome the continued 
support of the regulator and the recent 
progress made in reviewing the Bank’s 
regulatory regime.  

Operational Performance 
2018	remained	a	difficult	year	in	
many ways.  Change takes time, but 
the recent journey was harder than 
anticipated.  In the new focus of the 

Bank, projects that come to BRD are 
larger,	greenfield	in	nature,	are	more	
complex, require a longer tenure and 
carry higher risk.  The new regulations 
(IFRS	9,	Basel	2	&	3)	have	also	exerted	
additional pressure for enhanced 
compliance and performance.    When 
the Bank ceased to take deposits, it 
became dependent on credit lines 
predominantly in foreign currency – 
creating a foreign exchange challenge 
as the Rwandan Franc depreciated.   
In this environment, and an initially 
slow capitalization pace as well as the 
echoes of the previous year – the Bank 
was for a short period in breach of 
some of the regulatory benchmarks 
- thus limiting Bank’s ability to 
mobilize	new	financial	resources	and	
accommodate new business. 

The Bank continued to implement 
strategies focused on preserving 
the quality of the loan book within 
acceptable levels while fast tracking 
recovery.	This	significantly	contributed	
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executive directors of whom four are 
independent directors; grouped under 
its	five	Board	committees.		

Outlook
We	welcome	the	significant	stakeholder	
support the Bank continues to receive 
– including supporting the Bank to 
appropriately capitalize.  In the year 
under review, the Bank was honored 
to be designated as the implementing 
entity of the Rwanda Housing Finance 
Project (RHFP) worth 129.6 Million 
Euro	–	financing	received	from	the	
International Development Association 
(IDA)/World Bank.

This	will	strengthen	the	Bank’s	efforts	
to	expand	access	to	affordable	and	
long-term	housing	finance	mainly	
benefitting	the	low	to	middle-income	
segments which have limited access to 
mortgages under the current market 
conditions. The RHFP will also enhance 
Capital Market development as well as 
provide technical assistance support 
to	financial	institutions	for	increased	
issuance of housing loans to targeted 
beneficiaries.		

In the same vein, BRD started the 
implementation of the USD 48.9 Million 
Renewable Energy Fund (REF) in 2018 

with increased focus on awareness 
and attracting more Umurenge Savings 
and Credit Cooperatives (SACCO’s) into 
the	program.	The	target	beneficiaries	
are mainly households and small 
businesses	located	in	‘off-grid’	areas.	
The project aims at extending electricity 
to 445,000 households in rural and 
peri-urban areas. A robust monitoring 
and evaluation system is being rolled 
out to enhance evidence-based impact 
measurement.  

Both	energy	and	affordable	housing	
are priority sectors under the Bank’s 
revised strategy.  We also expect some 
of our initiatives in agriculture, exports 
and education and other priority 
sectors to mature in 2019. 

Although the resources attracted to the 
priority sectors tend to be ‘earmarked’, 
the Bank will continue to build 
stronger partnerships with lenders 
and development partners in order to 
broaden the funding base, especially 
affordable	long-term	finance.

We welcome the continued 
shareholders’ support to complete 
the capitalization journey in the next 
3 years – to reach the approved Tier 1 
Capital of Rwf 57 Billion. Francis is the founder and 

managing director of “Cerrium 
Advisory (formerly MCA)”, a niche 
management	consulting	firm	
operating within Africa to unlock 
performance and sustainable 
value across institutions. 

He is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Management Accountants 
(FCMA); a Chartered Global Management 
Accountant (CGMA); and a Fellow of 
the East African Leadership Initiative 
(ALI) and the Aspen Global Leadership 
Network (AGLN). He has over 12 years 
management consulting experience 
across sectors and industry.  
Francis is BSMP (Balanced Scorecard 
Master	Professional)	certified,	a	PEFA	
consultant and practices the Memetor 
leadership methodology.

Francis Mugisha 
Board Chairperson

Antonina	has	diversified	16	years’	
experience of which she has held 
leadership roles in Commercial 
Banking, Development Finance 
with	regional	financial	institutions	
as well as Public and International 
Development Organizations.

She has hands on technical expertise in 
Financial advisory, Banking, Accounting, 
Auditing, Funds Management as well 
as structuring innovative broad–based 
access	to	finance,	financial	inclusive	
solutions and seed stage venture capital 
at the base of the pyramid. 

Kayitesi holds an MBA, B.Comm and 
ACCA.

Antonina Kayitesi 
Director

Eric Rwigamba
Director

Eric is the Director General of the 
Financial Sector development 
in the Ministry of Finance and 
Economic Planning.

In this capacity, he oversees a variety of 
nationally important initiatives related 
to	the	financial	sector	development	(	
Banks, MFI, SACCOs, insurance, pension 
and capital markets). Before joining the 
Ministry, he was the Technical Manager 
for Access to Finance Rwanda.

Eric has vast experience in the 
development and implementation of; 
Financial Sector policies, Strategies, 
Legislations and corporate Business 
planning. 

He holds an MBA in Finance, Bachelor of 
Commerce/	finance	and	is	also	an	ACCA	
finalist.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BRD started the implementation of the USD 48.9 Million Renewable 
Energy Fund (REF) in 2018 with increased focus on awareness 
and attracting more Umurenge Savings and Credit Cooperatives 
(SACCO’s) into the program. The target beneficiaries are mainly 
households and small businesses to access ‘off–grid’ solutions for 
home and SMEs. 

Concluding Remarks
On behalf of the Board, Management 
and	entire	staff	of	the	Development	
Bank of Rwanda (BRD) Plc, I am pleased 
to extend sincere appreciation to 
all our stakeholders, for remaining 
steadfast and for the immeasurable 
support given to the Bank throughout 
the	year.	Our	collective	efforts	to	
stabilize, recover and thrive are bearing 
fruit and continue to position the bank 
favorably towards its DFI mandate.  We 
expect to break-even in 2019, ahead of 
expectations in the bank’s three-year 
institutional scorecard. We remain 
committed to the Bank’s mandate 
to maximize development impact 
through our support to Rwanda’s NST-1 
development goals.

Let me take this opportunity to thank 
the shareholders for the opportunity 
to serve the Bank.  As my maximum 
allowable mandate comes to an 
end, I am grateful to your support, 
the support of management and 
the board.  I know that with your 
continued support, BRD is on a path 
to	play	a	more	significant	role	in	the	
development of our country.  

Francis Mugisha
Chairman of the Board of Directors,  
BRD Plc
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Cyrille Hategekimana
Director

Cyrille is currently the Advisor to 
the Minister of State in charge of 
Economic Planning at the Ministry 
of Finance and Economic Planning 
since November 2014.

Prior to that, he served as the Director of 
Government Portfolio Management Unit 
at the Ministry of Finance and Economic 
Planning.

He has a wealth of knowledge and 
experience in Planning, Audit and 
control, Management of Public Finance 
and enforcing compliance with 
policy guidelines on management of 
Government Business Enterprises. He 
holds a Master’s degree in Financial 
Management.

Patrick Mwesige
Director

Patrick is equipped with knowledge 
and expertise spanning over 15 
years in varied sectors including 
Energy, Public Investments and 
PPPs for Infrastructure, Utilities 
Regulation and Strategy, Project 
Management and Project Finance 
Modeling among others.

He is a Fellow of the Chartered 
Association	of	Certified	Accountants	
and holds an MBA from Durham 
University Business School along with a 
special	honors	award	as	a	certified	PPP	
Specialist from the Institute of Public 
Private Partnerships (IP3) in the USA.
Mr. Mwesige is currently the Project 
Manager for the RESSP Project of the 
Energy Utility Corporation Limited 
(EUCL).

Athanase is an advocate with the 
Rwanda Bar Association since April 
2000 to date.

He is a Partner with MRB Attorneys. He 
holds an LL.B Degree from the National 
University of Rwanda and currently a 
finalist	at	the	LUNDI	University	–	Master	
of Science in International Trade Policy 
and Trade Law.

Mr. Rutabingwa is a Chartered Arbitrator 
from the London Chartered Institute of 
Arbitrators and specializes in commercial 
law, Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR), 
Banking, corporate law, labour law, land 
law, transport law. 

He is also currently a Non – Executive 
Director of Volkswagen Mobility 
Solutions Rwanda, and also a Board 
Member of the Development Bank of 
Rwanda, chairing its Credit Committee.

Athanase Rutabingwa
Director

Eric K. Gasana 
Director

Johan Debar
Director

Agnes Kanyangeyo 
Director

Eric is a Masters degree holder in 
Business Administration, Banking 
and Financial industry from the 
University of Bologna, Italy.

He is equipped with a vast experience of 
11	years,	serving	in	different	leadership	
positions at the Rwanda Social Security 
Board. Eric stood out among his 
peers through his deep expertise in 
Asset management, Financial Analysis, 
Financial Management, Equity Analysis, 
Credit	Assessment	&	analysis	as	well	
as the Strategic Planning and Risk 
Management to name but a few.

Johan Debar holds a Master’s 
Degree in Applied Economics 
and Economics with Majors 
in International economics, 
econometrics, development 
economics.

He’s experience spans over 35 years 
in international cooperation and 
development economics. Since 1998, 
he has been serving with the Belgium’s 
Ministry	of	Foreign	Affairs,	Foreign	Trade	
and Development Cooperation in several 
functions. He also previously worked in 
Rwanda as Economist in the Embassy of 
Belgium to Rwanda (1989–1992).

Mr. Debar has since September 2016 
returned to Rwanda, serving at Embassy 
of Belgium to Rwanda in the capacity of 
Minister Counselor.

Agnes has 16 years’ experience 
in the areas of statistical analysis, 
strategic planning, monitoring 
the implementation of planned 
activities, tax policy analysis, 
revenue forecasting and tax 
administration performance 
monitoring.

She holds a Masters of Arts in Policy 
Economics, Bachelor of Statistics degree; 
and serves on numerous other Boards.

Kanyangeyo is currently the Deputy 
Commissioner General at the Rwanda 
Revenue Authority (RRA)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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BOARD
From left: Eric K. Gasana, Johan Debar, Antonina Kayitesi, Cyrille 

Hategekimana, Francis Mugisha, Athanase Rutabingwa, 
Patrick Mwesige, Eric Rwigamba, Agnes Kanyangeyo

Positioning the Bank for prosperity



28          A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

D E V E L O P M E N T  B A N K  O F  R W A N D A w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           29

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

2018 marked the  completion of the 
first	year	of	implementation	of	
the Bank’s revised strategic plan 
2018–2024 during which the Bank 
implemented key turnaround 
strategies such as stringent 
monitoring of the loan book quality 
and accelerated recovery processes 
which were crucial in enabling the 
Bank	to	register	improved	financial	
performance during the year.

Overview of Financial and 
Operational Performance
The Bank registered improved 
operational performance over the 
course of the year 2018. We are 
pleased that the Bank’s loss for the 
year reduced by 80 percent closing 
at Frw3.3 billion (in comparison to a 
net loss of Frw16.5 billion in 2017). 
The	combined	efforts	on	recovery	
and	cost	management	paid	off	as	
the Bank made recoveries from 

both	the	NPL	and	written	off	loan	book	
amounting to Frw4.3 billion (against the 
Frw 6.6 billion target in 2018). 

Additionally, the Bank’s total assets 
increased by 9 percent year on year to 
close at Frw236 billion (versus Frw216 
billion in 2017) largely attributed to the 
growth of the loan book and increased 
liquidity from new funding raised 
during the year.

BRD’s active loan portfolio on 31 
December 2018 stood at Frw 195.465 
billion with 2018 registered approvals 
amounting to Frw 18.78 billion 
Rwandan francs that was injected into 
the priority sectors of the economy 
including Housing, Education, Exports, 
Energy, Agriculture and infrastructure 
contributing to sustained development 
impact in the country. The low new 
investment performance emanated 
from	the	fact	that	efforts	were	directed	
recovery of non– performing loans 
and cleaning up the loan book to avoid 
further slippages.

 Bank’s loss reduced

Loan	written	off

Increase in assets 
owned by the Bank

80

9

%

%

2017 16.5 billions

2018 3.3 billions

Frw4.3bn

Despite	sustained	efforts	to	improve	
the quality of the loan book as well as 
to increase loan collections over the 
last year, the Bank is still vulnerable 
to non–performing loans, in part, 
caused by the nature of the funding 
base vis–à–vis the nature of projects 
financed.	Consequently,	the	non–
performing loans (NPL) ratio increased 
from 16.3 to 19.3 percent. A number of 
projects that had inherent weaknesses 
in	performance	were	identified	
towards the end of the year to ensure 
that they are restructured to align 
their	cash	flow	to	payment	terms.	This	
will help to reverse the portfolio trend 
going forward. 

Fostering strategic partnerships 
to enhance resource 
mobilization.
In the year under review BRD 
continued to maintain its position as a 
leader	in	development	financing	in	the	
market through focusing on building 
and maintaining key partnerships. The 
Bank has established key partnerships 
with investors and funders. Part of 
these relationships is to enable the 
Bank to work towards providing long 
term and blended funding solutions for 
development	financing	in	the	various	
sectors.

Our approach to the Strategic 
partnerships is also an avenue 
to enable the business to gain a 
competitive advantage through access 
to knowledge and project funding. This 
approach will enable the Bank to crowd 
in the private sector and continue 
acting as a catalyst for third party 
participation	in	development	financing.	
Operating within the constraints of a 
limited balance sheet demands greater 

third party involvement from the 
private sector, international DFIs and 
pension funds.

The	Bank	maintains	a	flexible	funding	
strategy premised on balancing the 
dual requirements of optimizing the 
cost of funding whilst containing 
refinancing	risk	within	acceptable	
boundaries. At the same time, 
continuous	efforts	are	made	to	
diversify funding sources. 

The US Libor continued its meteoric 
rise giving credence to the Bank’s 
strategy of working towards diversifying 
funding sources. Part of the journey 
towards	diversification	was	the	process	
of getting accredited with Green 
Climate Fund (GCF) private sector 
facility to upscale investment in climate 
change and adaptation. 

The Bank’s strategy involves green 
financing	as	one	of	the	major	initiatives,	
hence creating a pathway to access 
green	financing	through	GCF.	The	
fund seeks to engage across private 
and public sectors to unlock high 
impact and paradigm shifting climate 
investments. GCF has a Private Sector 
Facility (PSF), with the primary mission 
to engage both the local and global 
private sector to support climate 
change mitigation and adaptation 
projects in developing countries.

We also continued various initiatives 
to	attract	blended	finance	that	is	
crucial to attainment of our strategy. 
A key notable one is our continued 
partnership with the SDG center for 
Africa with whom BRD has carried out 
various initiatives to attract private 
capital.

Performance of Key Programs
In the third year of management of 
the Government of Rwanda (GoR) 
student loans and bursary scheme, 
BRD continues to register strong 
improvements in the management 
of disbursements, recovery and 
identification	of	beneficiaries	largely	
attributed to the successfully 
implementation of a robust 
management information system (MIS) 
that streamlined our internal processes 
and enhanced collaboration with our 
stakeholders.

We are proud to report that the 
number	of	beneficiaries	(both	local	and	
abroad students) totaled 28,138, and 
the Bank registered 49 billion Rwandan 
francs in disbursements of loans and 
bursaries as well as achieving 2.84 
billion Rwandan francs as student 
loans recovered.

The Bank continues to showcase 
consistent commitment to integrate 
corporate, social and environmental 
initiatives into its business operations 
and stakeholder engagement. 
Under	its	CSR	efforts,	the	Bank	
provided Frw 135 million to support 
numerous activities aimed at 
enhanced community development, 
environmental protection, women and 
youth empowerment, strengthening 
government social development 
programs such as supporting the one 
cow per poor family, building homes 
for the less advantaged, sponsoring 
sports and wellness, amongst many 
other initiatives.

Under the implementation of the 
Renewable Energy Fund (REF), we 
registered disbursements amounting 
to Frw580 million (about US$ 668,000) 
entirely to the SACCOs. In addition, 

...the Bank continues to showcase consistent 
commitment to integrate corporate, social 
and environmental initiatives into its business 
operations and stakeholder engagement... The 
Bank adopted a pro–active holistic enterprise wide 
view of all risks and their associated risk appetite 
and tolerance to ensure they are fully aligned 
to the Bank’s objectives and strategies. 
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the Bank provided several trainings 
and workshops with SACCOs as well 
as holding countrywide awareness 
sensitization with our partners to 
create awareness about the REF 
program	benefits	and	increase	uptake	
of the funds. 

We are extremely indebted for 
the continued support from the 
Government of Rwanda and KfW to 
ensure successful implementation 
of the Export Growth Facility (EGF) 
which has contributed to export 
promotion, manufacturing and agro–
processing. Since its establishment, 
the EGF project has so far supported 
up	to	30	projects	in	different	sectors	
(coffee,	tea,	horticulture,	textiles	and	
agro–processing) through its various 
windows such as direct lending under 
the investment catalyst fund (Frw3.6 
billion), matching grant (Frw686.3 
million), and on–lending to partner 
financial	institutions	(Frw5.2	billion).	
All these investments are projected to 
generate export revenues amounting 
to US$ 9.9 million and create 8,789 
jobs	among	other	benefits	from	EGF.	

BRD is honored to be chosen as the 
implementing entity for the Rwanda 
Housing Fund Project (RHFP) – a Euros 
129.6	Million	fund	financed	by	the	
International Development Association 
(IDA) – World Bank Group – which is 
expected to support the provision of 
at least 6,000 new housing loans to 
the middle income category of the 
population.

People, Processes and Systems
During the year, the Bank successfully 
upgraded its IT infrastructure and 
adopted robust systems that greatly 
improved business processes 
efficiency.	The	Bank	rolled	out	a	loan	
origination system, a new core Banking 
system (T24 by TEMENOS) and an ERP 
system powered by ORACLE.

The Board approved robust risk 
management framework aligned to 
the Bank’s new operating business 
model. The Bank adopted a pro–active 
holistic enterprise wide view of all 
risks and their associated risk appetite 
and tolerance to ensure they are fully 
aligned to the Bank’s objectives and 
strategies. 

The Bank completed the development 
of its institutional scorecard as 
a	performance	management	&	
measurement system. We also 
adopted and implemented a new 
human resource (HR) strategy that 
reaffirms	the	Bank’s	commitment	to	
ensure that our people are central 
to realising its vision and strategic 
ambitions. The Bank is committed 
to creating a high–performance 
environment that attracts and retains 
staff	with	the	commitment	and	
skills required to achieve the Bank’s 
mandate.

The Board approved a new 
organizational structure aligned with 
the new strategic path of the Bank and 
hired two new senior executives – Ms. 
Liliane Igihozo Uwera who joined the 
Bank	as	the	Chief	Operating	Officer	
and Mr. Vincent Ngirikiringro who 
joined	as	the	Chief	Finance	Officer

Outlook
Building from the strong foundation 
of 2018, the focus for 2019 will be 
strengthening	the	Bank’s	financial	
performance and sustainability, risk 
management as well as investing in our 
people. With a strong and continuously 
improving capital base, BRD will be able 
to attract more funding to strengthen 
its investment activities in the priority 
sectors. Financial sustainability will 
be generated through increased 
investment, strengthening our risk 
management processes to ensure 
improved portfolio quality as well as 
through cost management. The quality 
of our human resources is central to 

achieving long term sustainability and 
BRD is committed to continuously 
investing in its human capital to deliver 
on its mission. 

Focus will also be directed toward 
increasing uptake of REF project funds 
by SACCOs and solar companies to 
ensure	that	the	rates	of	electrification	
among	our	off–grid	communities	are	
increased. The year 2019 marks the 
introduction of the Rwanda Housing 
Finance	Project.	Efforts	will	be	directed	
to	increasing	availability	of	affordable	
homes and availability of long–term 
affordable	financing	to	low–	and	
medium–income categories. Similarly, 
efforts	will	be	directed	to	awareness	
for EGF to increase uptake and expand 
the country’s export base. 

Appreciation
We are grateful for the unwavering 
shareholder support, cooperation 
from our esteemed clients, and strong 
partnerships with our lenders. We 
believe that with this support, the Bank 
is	in	a	stronger	position	to	effectively	
realize its mandate. We look forward to 
a rewarding year, 2019. 

On behalf of the Management and 
entire	staff	of	the	Bank,	I	wish	to	
invite you to join us as we embark on 
a seemingly challenging but equally 
rewarding 2019.

Eric Rutabana
Chief Executive Officer

Loyce K. Bamwine
Company	Secretary	&	General	Counsel

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Eric Rutabana
Chief	Executive	Officer

Liliane Igihozo Uwera
Chief	Operating	Officer

Benjamin Nyakeriga
Chief	Strategy	Officer

Vincent Ngirikiringo
Chief	Finance	Officer

Jules Mukulira 
Ag.	Chief	Risk	Officer

Bosco Mkombozi Karake
Chief Internal Auditor

Odeth Mbabazi
Chief	Human	Capital	&	Administrative	
Services	Officer



EXCO
From left: Vincent Ngirikiringo, Benjamin Nyakeriga, Loyce K. 

Bamwine, Liliane Igihozo Uwera, Eric Rutabana, Jules 
Mukulira, Odeth Mbabazi, Bosco Mkombozi Karake

Steering the Bank towards growth and success
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board of Directors of the Development Bank 
of Rwanda Plc is responsible for the governance 
of the institution and has accountability for 
its strategic direction, management and 
performance.

In executing its duties, the Board ensures the Bank 
complies with good corporate governance principles and 
high ethical standards as embedded in the applicable laws 
and regulations, the Bank’s Articles of Association and the 
Board Charter.

As	a	financial	institution,	the	Bank	is	subject	to	the	
supervisory authority of the National Bank of Rwanda 
(BNR). Accordingly, the corporate governance principles 
and standards adopted by the Board have been developed 
with close reference to the Law governing the organization 
of Banks in Rwanda, the National Bank of Rwanda 
Regulation on corporate governance, the law governing 
companies in Rwanda as well as other international 
corporate governance guidelines. 

To underpin its commitment to sound corporate 
governance, the Board has adopted a Board Charter 
that sets out roles and responsibilities for the Board, the 
Board Chairman and each of the Board directors and 
respective Board committees as well as Matters reserved 
for	the	Board.	In	execution	of	its	fiduciary	responsibilities,	
the Board is also guided by applicable legislation and the 
Company’s Articles of Association. 

The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association 
and the Board Charter are revised regularly to ensure their 
alignment with new corporate governance standards, the 
Bank’s strategic direction, shareholders’ interests and best 
corporate governance practices. 

In accordance with the Board Charter, Board directors 
endeavour to work together to advance good corporate 
governance within the Bank. And as a Bank, we are 
committed to maintaining corporate governance best 
practices, which promote long–term interest of our 
shareholders, clients, stakeholders and partners, and to 
build public trust in the Company.

Key highlights of the year 2018
During the year under review, the Bank welcomed a new 
shareholder – Agaciro Development Fund (Government 
of Rwanda (GoR) Sovereign Wealth Fund), who took over 
23,690,298 ordinary shares formerly owned by Government 
of Rwanda (GoR) and the National Agricultural Exports Board 
(NAEB).

The transfer of ownership of GoR and NAEB shares in the 
Development Bank of Rwanda to Agaciro Development Fund, 
was approved by the Board in line with the said shareholders’ 
requests and in accordance with the provisions of Article 60 
of the Law N° 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 governing companies 
in Rwanda1. The transfer of these shares was subsequently 
approved by the National Bank of Rwanda [BNR] pursuant 
to the provisions of Article 21 of the Law Nº 47/2017 of 
23/9/2017 governing the organization of Banking in Rwanda 

With new authorized share capital and Agaciro 
Development Fund acquiring GoR and NAEB 
shares, the Bank’s shareholding is currently as 
follows: Agaciro Development Fund [40.980%), 
Rwanda Social Security Board [30.760], 
Belgium Government [1.120%], Agence 
Francaise de Développement [0.514%], Bank 
of Kigali [0.135%], local private companies and 
individuals [0.543%] and 25.948% authorized 
but unissued shares. 

The Bank’s strategic plan [2016–2020] was revised and 
approved to align it with Rwanda’s 7 Years Government 
Programme: National Strategy for Transformation 2017– 2024 
[NST1]. Accordingly, the Board revised the Bank’s vision, 
mission and values as well as the priority sectors to align with 
the revised strategic direction. 

The Board also revised the Bank’s organization structure to 
align it with the changing needs of the Bank and introduced 
a	position	of	the	Chief	Operating	Officer	(COO)	overseeing	
investment origination and management. 

	Art.	21	states	that	“no	person	shall	acquire	or	transfer	directly	or	indirectly	a	significant	holding	or	controlling	interest	in	a	Bank	without	prior	authorisation	of	the	Central	Bank”.

In line with the above, each Board 
Committee	is	composed	five	[5]	
board members. The Committees’ 
review, and composition took into 
consideration the proper mix of skills 
and regulatory requirements for 
independent directors. 

In accordance with the provisions 
[Article 25] of BNR Regulation Nº 
01/2018 of 24/01/2018 on corporate 
governance for Banks, the Board 
Audit committee, Risk Management 
and Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees are chaired by 
independent directors, who are not 
the Board Chairperson. Additionally, 
the Board audit committee is distinct 
from other committees and most of 
its members are independent and 
non–executive directors (NED) who 
have experience in audit practices, 
financial	reporting	and	accounting.	
The Audit committee of the Bank 
works closely with the internal Audit 
function and external auditors of 
the Bank. Likewise, the Board Risk 
Management Committee is chaired 
by an independent director and 
the majority of its members are 
independent and non–executive 
directors [Article 29].

To ensure regulatory compliance, 
the Bank’s Board Charter and Board 
Committees Terms of Reference 
(TORs) were revised to align with 
requirements of BNR Regulation 
Nº 01/2018 of 24/01/2018 on 
corporate governance and other 
legal instruments, the revised 
strategic plan as well as the best 
corporate governance standards. 
Importantly, the IT Committee’s 
Terms of Reference were developed 
and approved, to guide the new 
Committee	in	its	fiduciary	roles	and	
responsibilities. 

In terms of policy framework, the 
board approved the Risk Appetite 
framework of the Bank. The Risk 
Appetite Framework shall help 
in supporting risk assessment, 
monitoring and control activities. 
It also helps the Risk Management 
Function to understand the relative 
significance	of	the	risks	faced	by	
the Bank and better prioritizes risk 
monitoring, control activities, and 
corrective actions. The Bank also 
revised its HR and Investment policies 
to align with the new regulatory 
and internal requirements as 
well as changes in the operating 
environment.

Regulatory Changes in 2018 
During the year 2018, the Banking 
industry	had	significant	changes	in	
terms of the legal and Regulatory 
framework, and some of the new 
Regulations include Regulation No 
01/2018 of 24/01/2018 Corporate 
Governance for Banks, Regulation 
No 02/2018 of 24/01/2018 on 
Cyber security, Regulation No 
2310/2018–0017 [614] of 27/12/2018 
Liquidity requirements for Banks, 
Directive No 04/2018 of 15/02/ 
2018 on treatment of collaterals and 
guarantees by Banks and Directive No 
2500/2018 –09 [613] of 27/12/ 2018 
on Lending in foreign currency. The 
said regulations were mainly aimed 
at enhancing corporate governance 
practices and Board oversight in 
Banks, enhancing risk management 
and independence in decision making, 
and reducing foreign exchange and 
credit losses.

BRD Board of Directors
In accordance with the Law 
Governing Companies and the 
Bank’s Memorandum and Articles 
of Association, the business and 

Audit Committee Risk Committee IT	&	Strategy	Committee Credit Committee Nomination	&	Remuneration	
Committee

Ms. Antonina R. Kayitesi (Chair) Mr. Patrick Mwesige (Chair) Ms. Agnes Kanyangeyo (Chair) Mr. Eric Rwigamba (Chair) Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa (Chair)

Mr. Patrick Mwesige Mr. Francis Mugisha Ms. Antonina R. Kayitesi Mr. Francis Mugisha Mr. Cyrille Hategekimana

Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa Mr. Antonina R. Kayitesi Mr. Eric K. Gasana Mr. Agnes Kanyangeyo Mr. Francis Mugisha

Mr. Eric Rwigamba Mr. Eric Rwigamba Mr. Johan Debar Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa Mr. Eric Gasana

Mr. Cyrille Hategekimana Ms. Agnes Kanyangeyo Mr. Patrick Mwesige Mr. Eric K. Gasana Johan Debar 

The Board, in adherence to the requirements of National Bank of Rwanda Regulation Nº 01/2018 of 24/01/2018 on corporate 
governance for Banks and good corporate governance practices, reviewed and approved its Committees composition and Chairpersons 
during the year, as follows:
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 c The Bank’s Board of Directors membership 
during the financial year 2018 was as follows: 

The Bank’s Board of Directors 
membership	during	the	financial	
year 2018 was as follows: 

Mr. Francis Mugisha   
Chairman of the Board  
(Independent	&	NED)

Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa  
Non–Executive Director 
(Independent)

Ms. Antonina R. Kayitesi  
Non–Executive Director 
(Independent)

Mr. Mr. Patrick Mwesige  
Non–Executive Director 
(Independent)

Mr. Eric Rwigamba  
Non–Executive Director

Mr. Cyrille Hategekimana  
Non–Executive Director

Ms. Agnes Kanyangeyo  
Non–Executive Director

Mr. Johan M. Debar  
Non–Executive Director

Mr. Eric K. Gasana  
Non–Executive Director

2  Art. 7 and 8.

affairs	of	a	company	are	managed	
under the direction of the Board 
of Directors. The law governing 
companies in Rwanda, the Banking 
law	and	more	specifically,	BNR	
Regulation on corporate governance 
for Banks, clearly sets out that the 
Board of directors has a duty of care, 
duty of loyalty, and is responsible for 
promoting “corporate culture and 
values2” . The Board of directors is 
therefore responsible for the overall 
administration, establishment of the 
Bank’s vision, mission and strategy for 
the interests of the Shareholders. 

Article 25 of the Bank’s Articles of 
Association sets out that, members 
of the Board of Directors including 
the Board Chairperson shall be 
appointed by the shareholders for a 
three [3] year term renewable twice. 
The Appointment and renewal of 
a Director’s term shall be subject 
to approval by the National Bank 
of Rwanda. The Shareholders are 
represented in the Board of Directors 
proportionally to their shares. A 
shareholder with less than 5% of the 
shares cannot be represented in 
the Board of Directors. As such, BRD 
Plc Board of directors is presently 
comprised of 9 Non–Executive 
Directors (NEDs), four (4) of whom are 
Independent Directors appointed in 
consideration of their expertise and 
experience in corporate governance. 
The	remaining	five	directors	are	
Shareholders representives. 

Board Committees
To	effectively	discharge	its	roles	and	
responsibilities, the Board of Directors 
has	delegated	specific	responsibilities	
to	specific	Committees.	The	Board	of	
Directors	has	five	Board	Committees	
that play a pivotal role in assisting the 
Board in the execution of its mandate. 

Each	Committee	has	specific	terms	of	
reference which have been adopted 
by the Board and form part of the 
Board Charter. Committees report to 
the Board on their deliberations and 
recommendations through reports 
from the Committee’s Chairperson at 
Board meetings. All Committees are 
adequately facilitated, and each Board 
Director has access to professional 
services in order to discharge his/
her duties either as a Director or as a 
Committee member. The respective 
Board committees and their objectives 
are detailed below: 

Audit Committee
The Board Audit Committee is 
established	to	review	the	financial	
conditions of the Bank, assess the 
effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit	and	
control function, maintain adequate 
ratios in accordance with the laws 
and regulations, and accordingly 
support internal audit function in 
discharging	their	duties	effectively.	
The	committee	is	composed	of	five	
independent and Non–Executive 
members in accordance with 
Corporate Governance requirements. 
The Committee meets on quarterly 
basis or as business demands.

Credit Committee
The Credit Committee is mainly 
responsible for reviewing and 
overseeing the overall investment 
management policies of the Bank; 
deliberates and considers loan 
applications beyond the discretionary 
limits of the Credit Risk Management 
Committee; reviews lending by the 
Credit Risk Management Committee 
and	ensures	that	there	are	effective	
procedures and resources to identify 
and manage problems of irregular 
credits, minimize credit loss and 
maximize recoveries, among others. 

The	Committee	is	comprised	by	five	
non–executive Directors. The Credit 
Committee meets on a quarterly basis 
or as circumstances require.

Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee 
is established to assist the Board 
in	fulfilling	its	responsibilities	in	
managing the Bank’s Risk. The 
Committee reviews and approves 
principles, policies, strategies, 
processes and control frameworks 
pertaining to Risk management. It 
oversees the policies and strategies 
to ensure compliance with both 
internal and statutory requirements 
to	protect	the	Bank,	staff	and	assets.	
The	Committee	is	comprised	of	five	
(5) non–executive directors and is 
chaired by an Independent Director. 
The Committee meets on a quarterly 
basis or as business demands.

IT	&	Strategy	Committee
The IT Committee’s role is oversight 
over the IT policies and strategies 

of the Bank. The Committee also 
oversees the implementation of the 
requirements provided in the laws 
and regulations on cyber security, 
reviews and approves the Bank’s 
technology planning, strategy and 
works in partnership with other board 
committees and senior management. 
The	Committee	is	composed	of	five	
(5) non–executive directors. The 
committee meets on a quarterly basis 
or as often as business demands. 

Nomination	&	Remuneration	
Committee 
The Committee is established to 
assist the Board in discharging its 
responsibilities related to governance, 
review and approval of guidelines 
for nomination and remuneration 
systems design and operation vis–à–
vis the Bank’s long–term business and 
legal and regulatory requirements. 
The Committee assesses and issues 
independent judgement on Bank’s 
organizational structure, nominations 
and remuneration policies, systems 
and incentives. It is comprised of 

five	(5)	non–executive	directors.	The	
Committee meets quarterly or as 
often as need arises.

During the year under review, the 
Board committees conducted their 
business on a quarterly basis in 
line with the Corporate governance 
requirements and the Bank’s Board 
charter. Committees reports were 
prepared and presented to the 
Board in a timely manner to facilitate 
informed decision making

Board and Committees’  
membership and meetings

During the year 2018, the Board and 
its Committees held several meetings 
to deliberate and take decisions on 
the Bank’s business.

The records of Board Committees 
membership and Directors’ 
attendances at the Board and 
respective Committees meetings 
during the year under review are as 
follows:

Directors Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Risk 
Committee

Credit 
Committee

IT 
Committee

Nomination 
and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Mr. Francis Mugisha 100% – 100% 100% – 100%

Mr. Eric Rwigamba 100% 50% 100% 100% – –

Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa 90% 50% – 100% – 100%

Ms. Agnes Kanyangeyo 100% – 60% 100% 100% –

Mr. Cyrille Hategekimana 90% 100% – – – 100%

Mr. Eric K. Gasana 100% – – 100% 100% 80%

Ms. Antonina Kayitesi 30% 60% 25% – 100% –

Mr. Patrick Mwesige 100% 100% 67% – 100% –

Mr. Johan Debar 60% – – – 0% 20%
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Overall, the Board meetings attendance stood at 85% 
against the regulatory requirement of 75% attendance 
as per a corporate governance requirement, while some 
committees attendance was below 75% requirement 
as per the table above. It is imperative to note however 
where attendance was below the required threshold, was 
due to changes in the regulatory framework where some 
committees were scrapped, new committees introduced as 
well as existing ones reconstitute. The said changes were 
considered and adopted by the Board of Directors in May 
2018. The changes in committees and their composition by 
mid–year 2018 is the main reason for the low attendance 
compared to previous years, as members were moved 
from one committee to another, to ensure a proper mix of 
skills.

Annual Board Assessment 
A Board evaluation is conducted annually. The assessment 
is done for the Board, its committees and individual 
board members. Each Board director is assessed so as 
to ascertain his or her performance and the results are 
shared with all directors for feedback on performance and 
corporate governance practices. 

As per the governance regulation, the Board may carry 
out its assessment alone or with assistance of an external 
expert3. During the year, the Board of Directors engaged in 
a Board Evaluation assisted by an external consultant. The 
results of the review were discussed by all board members, 
and the evaluation report was submitted to the National 
Bank of Rwanda (BNR).

Trainings undertaken by the Board 
Considering the importance of the Board oversight role 
to the company, the Bank ensures that Board trainings or 
refresher courses are organized each year. 

During the year 2018, the Board of Directors, Senior 
Management	and	some	other	staff	were	trained	by	the	
International Finance Corporation (IFC) on corporate 
governance. This training focused on Corporate 
Governance for the Board of Directors and Senior 
Executives	of	Banks,	building	effective	and	efficient	Boards,	
Case	for	good	corporate	governance:	Banks	and	financial	
institutions, and the Role of Regulators and Banks in 
building a sustainable Private Sectors. 

The said training was also an opportunity for Board 
members to engage with their counterparts from other 

financial	institutions	in	Rwanda,	to	discuss	and	share	
knowledge	on	building	an	effective	corporate	governance	
culture in the Banking industry.

Conflicts of Interest
The	Board	has	adopted	a	robust	Conflict	of	Interest	
Policy. In accordance with the revised Board’s Charter, all 
directors	have	a	duty	to	avoid	conflicts	of	interest.	This	duty	
applies to any situation that could reasonably be expected 
to	give	rise	to	a	conflict.	It	is	clear	on	how	Directors	should	
manage	their	outside	interests,	how	these	may	conflict	
with	their	duties	as	well	as	how	any	conflict	of	interest	is	
reported.

OUTLOOK
In terms of corporate governance, we look forward to 
2019 with much enthusiasm and commitment to continue 
demonstrating exemplary standards. As the new regulation 
requires more independent Non–Executive Directors 
(a requirement of a ratio of 4:7 independent NEDs), 
Shareholders shall appoint a new independent member 
to comply with the requirement. In order to continue 
enhancing compliance with regulations, a new Board 
chairperson to replace the outgoing Chairman, Mr. Francis 
Mugisha,	who	has	completed	his	term	of	office	will	be	
appointed.

Overall, the Board meetings attendance 
stood at 85% against the regulatory 
requirement of 75% attendance as per 
a corporate governance requirement... 
some committees were scrapped, 
new committees introduced as well as 
existing ones reconstituted.

3 Art. 10 (3).

Managing risks strategically
BRD recognizes that a more dynamic and strategic 
approach to business and risk management is essential in 
an environment in which the speed and impact of change 
are unprecedented. Risk management is fundamental 
to BRD’s strategy and the business of Banking. Our top 8 
risks, risk strategy and risk appetite are integrated in our 
strategy, processes and operations. 

BRD’s anticipation and response to risk and opportunities 
is an integral part of achieving its strategic mandate. 
This also requires that we continuously adapt the Bank’s 
strategy and risk management in response to the changing 
operating environment.

BRD’s	Board	of	Directors	is	responsible	for	the	effective	
management of risk and reviews and approves, on a 
regular basis, the Risk Management Framework covering 
credit, market, balance sheet, operational, compliance 
and	asset	&	liability	management	policies	and	procedures	
used to manage risk exposures of the Bank. This is to 
ensure that BRD pro–actively manages the risks inherent 

in its strategy, operations and business, and that the 
management of risk is embedded in the mainstream 
planning, business and decision–making processes.

To execute the risk management process, the following 
risk management infrastructure is in place: Board of 
Directors, Board Risk Committees, Risk Management 
group, formalized policies and procedures that clearly 
define	and	communicate	the	risk	management	process	
and appetite, consistent risk measurement methodologies, 
comprehensive risk management reports and information 
technology to satisfy risk information needs throughout 
the BRD.

The	Risk	Management	Group	consists	of	different	
management committees that report to the Chief 
Executive	Officer.	These	committees	are	the	Credit	
Risk Management Committee, the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (ALCO) and the Operational Risk Committee. 
The Risk Management Group is supported by the Division 
of Risk, the Division of Finance, and Internal Audit.

BRD Five Lines of Defense Risk Management Model
BRD	five	lines	of	defense	risk	model	defines	the	roles	and	responsibilities	for	the	management	of	risk	within	the	Bank.

Investments 
/Business

Internal and 
External 
Auditors

Board of 
Directors

Risk  
Management

Executive 
Committee

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Line of Defence Function Responsibility

First Investments/Business Controlling and monitoring the risks in the operating environment

Second
 Bank Risk Management 
Division

Monitoring implementation of risk management policies and principles and 
adherence to regulation and consolidation of risk reporting

Third Internal and External Audit Providing	independent	assurance	on	the	effectiveness	of	risk	management

Fourth Executive Committee
Responsibility for and oversight of BRD activities to ensure that they are 
consistent with business strategy and policies approved by the Board

Fifth Board of Directors
Responsible for recognizing all the risks to which BRD is exposed and ensures 
that the required culture, practices and systems are in place.

Credit Risk Due to the loans given to BRD clients, the risk essentially consists of the inability or unwillingness of clients to 
reimburse	their	loans.	This	also	involves	factors	that	affect	the	value	of	underlying	collateral	and	guarantees.	

Interest rate risk 
Shifts in the yield curve imply that assets and liabilities do not re–price simultaneously, possibly leading to losses 
for	the	Bank.	For	example,	the	cost	of	funds	could	go	up	while	the	lending	rate	does	not,	consequently	affecting	
margins.

Exchange rate risk
This risk is the current or prospective loss to earnings and capital arising from adverse movements in currency 
exchange rates. The potential for a loss arises from the process for revaluing foreign currency positions in 
Rwandan Francs terms. 

Liquidity risk
It’s the current or prospective loss to earnings and capital arising from a Bank’s inability to meet its liabilities when 
they fall due without incurring acceptable losses. It arises when the cushion provided by the liquid assets are not 
sufficient	to	meet	its	obligations.

Operational risk Which	is	the	risk	of	financial	loss	or	reputational	damage	due	to	breakdown	of	internal	procedures,	fraud	and	
theft, or IT breakdowns. Most operational risks are exceptional, but the damage could be very large indeed. 

Legal and 
compliance risk 

The current or prospective to earnings and capital arising from violation of, or no conformance with laws, rules and 
regulations, prescribed practices or ethical standards issued by the regulator from time to time. 

Strategic risk The current or prospective loss to earnings and capital arising from adverse business decisions, improper 
implementation of decisions, or lack of responsiveness to industry changes. 

Reputational Risk 
Potential that negative publicity regarding an institution’s business practices, whether true or not, will cause a 
decline in the customer base, costly litigation, or revenue reductions. This risk may result from a Bank’s failure to 
effectively	manage	any	or	all	of	the	other	risk	types.	

Key BRD Enterprise–wide Risks
BRD’S Board and management continuously review the top risks to ensure an appropriate understanding of the operating 
environment. The following are the key risks that BRD in its daily operations may encounter:

The Bank’s Risk Management  
Strategies for the year 2018

Bank’s risk appetite framework 
The Bank has developed a prudent and conservative risk 
appetite focused on the core Banking activities that have 
been developed over the timeline of the Bank’s growth. 
Our	Risk	Appetite	Framework	ensures	that	the	risk	profile	
of the Bank is known and assessed against established 
targets and limits. In the year 2018, the Board of Directors 
approved the Bank’s Risk Appetite that’s aligned with the 
revised strategy.

Risk Culture
In carrying out its business, the Bank’s decision making 
processes are made with a risk management approach. 
The Bank’s Board and management continuously ensure 
Risk management is ingrained in the Bank’s culture. 
Proactive and well–established risk management practices 
have been put in place and are continuously updated to 
ensure that appropriate levels of capital and resources are 
allocated, with appropriate levels of focus. 

There is also a shift in risk management from the 
traditional historical monitoring role to a an enhanced 
strategic/advisory role of ensuring smarter business 
balanced by appropriate governance and risk tolerance in 
line with the Banks business strategy. Risk management 
across BRD remains dynamic through the escalation of risk 
issues through our Risk policies and our Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework. This allows for a robust, resilient 
and agile system to respond to the current and future 
operating environment appropriately.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Responsibility	for	the	systems	of	internal	financial	and	
operational control rests with the Board and has been 
delegated to the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit 
function primarily provides objective assurance and Insight 
on	the	effectiveness	and	efficiency	of	Governance,	Risk	
Management and Internal Control Processes to the Board 
and Executive Management of BRD. 

The function, which is governed by the Board approved 
internal audit charter, operates with strict accountability 
for	confidentiality	and	safeguarding	of	records	and	
information and has full, free and unrestricted access 
to any and all of BRD’s records, physical properties, and 
personnel pertinent to carry out any engagement as well 
as unrestricted access to the Board.

The Internal Audit function conducts periodic reviews 
of	key	processes	linked	to	significant	risk	to	provide	
independent assurance to the Board and management on 
the	effectiveness	of	the	internal	control	system.	Members	
of the Audit Committee review the work of the internal 
Audit unit and report to the Board.

The Internal Audit Unit follows the Institute of Internal 
Auditors’ standards
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Partnership with Nature
BRD is committed to managing and reducing any adverse 
impact of our investment operations on resource use 
(water, energy, soil, materials), interference in biodiversity, 
and greenhouse gas emissions.

Environmental and social impact management 
approach
BRD’s environmental objectives are to preserve, protect 
and improve the quality of the environment; protect 
human health, in relation to the environment; ensure the 
prudent and rational utilization of natural resources and 
to conserve nature; and, promote measures to deal with 
regional or worldwide environmental problems, notably 
climate change and access to potable water and sanitation. 

In order to implement the terms of this social and 
environmental policy, BRD has developed a Social and 
Environmental Management System (SEMS). The purpose 
of the SEMS is to proactively identify and evaluate the 
social and environmental risks of projects before a decision 
is	made	to	finance	them	and	to	monitor	ongoing	social	and	
environmental performance after disbursement of funds. 

For	effective	implementation	of	the	SEMS	and	to	ensure	
that	the	risk	review	process	is	conducted	in	an	efficient	
and timely manner, BRD developed guidelines to help 
relevant	staff	improve	their	ability	to	identify	social	and	
environmental issues and to assess risk. All projects 
received by BRD are screened against BRD’s exclusion 
list	to	determine	if	the	activity	for	which	financing	is	being	
requested is eligible under BRD’s social and environmental 
policy

Although the implementation of the environmental 
guidelines is a collective responsibility of every employee 
in the Bank, the primary responsibility for implementing 
these social and environmental guidelines lies with the 
following: Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Credit 
Risk Committee and Division of Risk. 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

Interact and Negotiate with Clients

Analyze	E&S	risks	of	projects

Evaluate potential issues with collateral property

Review	Legal	documents	for	E&S	
safety and compliance

Monitor Project sustainability

Investments Division

Credit Risk

Collateral

Legal

Credit Administration

Client

 d Integration of social and environmental sustainability into BRD’s 
investment/credit analysis and approval processProviding food security and 

creating job opportunities
BRD has invested in agriculture ensuring food security and providing 
incomes to farmers, employment to local labour thus playing a role in 
poverty reduction in a sector that cannot be ignored. 

we empower you

FUTURE. FOCUSED.
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Social and Environmental due–diligence 
Compliance with applicable national laws on environment, 
health,	and	safety	is	verified.	The	project	proponent	
is required to provide copies of all necessary permits 
and required documents or to obtain these before the 
application is further evaluated. 

If	other	areas	of	noncompliance	are	identified,	the	project	
proponent is asked to develop a plan for corrective 
action within a reasonable time frame to be included 
as a condition of signing or disbursement in the loan 
agreement. 

Additional social and environmental due diligence is 
conducted for certain complex Medium Risk (Category 
B) and High Risk (Category A) projects. This includes a 
review to ensure that the requirements in international 
best practice guidelines are met; particularly on 
environmental risk assessment; social and Health Impact 
Assessment; Management of social and environmental 
performance; community engagement through disclosure 
of project–related information and consultation with local 
communities	on	matters	that	directly	affect	projects.

Reporting 
Accidents and Incidents 
From the outset, BRD strives to develop good working 
relationships with clients based on mutual trust, to 
promote	a	two–way	information	flow.	The	Monitoring	Unit	
immediately follows up with clients when BRD becomes 
aware of any accidents or incidents, or when clients report 
directly to BRD on any such events. The Monitoring Unit 
will also inform the Risk Committee and Risk Management 
Division of such events. 

Executive Management would immediately report to 
external stakeholders if a client experiences a major 
accident. 

Reporting on High Risk Projects 
Based on information provided by the Investment 
Analysts/Officers,	the	Investments	Division	as	well	as	
the Risk Management Division would inform Executive 
Management of any High Risk (Category A) projects that 
are	being	appraised	and	considered	for	financing,	prior	to	
making a decision. 

Review and continuous improvement 
BRD periodically revises the SEMS to ensure that it remains 
relevant	and	effective	over	time,	incorporates	the	evolving	
needs	of	the	Bank	and	reflects	changes	in	the	regulatory	
framework. 

Periodic Reviews 
The Risk Committee reviews the SEMS annually or as issues 
arise that require immediate revision of the procedures. 
This includes changes in the regulatory framework (laws 
and regulations that are of particular relevance to BRD’s 
portfolio across various industry sectors), changes in 
international	best	practices,	and	financial	activities	in	new	
industry sectors for BRD. 

SEMS Revisions 
The Risk Committee keeps Senior Management informed 
on challenges, successes and other important issues 
associated with SEMS implementation. Based on input 
received from the Monitoring Unit, the Credit Risk 
Committee makes the necessary revisions to the SEMS to 
improve the operational aspects of SEMS implementation 
and	to	reflect	changes	in	applicable	national	laws	on	
environment, health, and safety. The Board of Directors 
and Senior Management review the changes and approve 
the	revised	SEMS,	before	informing	all	BRD	staff	about	
changes in SEMS procedures.

Benefits	of	SEMS	to	our	strategy

Implement a social and environmental  
management system (SEMS)

Improve management of 
environmental and social risks

GENERATE INDIRECT PROFITS: 
Reduce costs and liabilities

IN THE SHORT AND MEDIUM TERM: Improve	financial	and	non–
financial	perfomance	in	meeting	business	goals

INCREASE ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS: Strengthen 
involvement in environmental and social sustainability internally 
within the organisation and externally with stakeholders

IN THE LONG TERM: Strengthen brand value which in turn 
generates goodwill builds the consumer base and market share, 
attracts	partners	and	financing	and	increases	profits

GENERATE INDIRECT PROFITS: 
Attract new clients and tap new 
markets

Generate	innovative	financial	
products and services to 
capture opportunities in 
the area of sustainable 
development

CASSAVA VALUE CHAIN

Overview of BRD’s  
interventions in  
Cassava sub–sector

Kinazi Cassava Plant installed capacity and market
BRD jointly with the Rwanda Government took the lead 
in the establishment of the Kinazi Cassava Plant (KCP) 
that has 10.9 million USD of investment as equity from 
BRD. The installed processing capacity for the factory is 
estimated at 120 MT per day of raw tubers which translate 
to	an	estimated	36	to	42	tons	of	cassava	flour	per	day.	

Although the plant has sometimes faced operational 
challenges arising from raw materials supply and utilization 
of its processing capacity, the role it plays in value addition 
to agriculture, providing incomes to cassava farmers, 
providing employment to local labour and playing a role in 
poverty reduction in the area cannot be ignored. 

Loans	to	farmers	(agribusiness	men	&	 
women and cooperatives)
With a view to ensure the availability of raw material to 
KCP, BRD extended loans amounting to Frw 634 million to 
185 cassava farmers from which 27 work individually as 
agribusiness	men	and	women	that	own	medium	&	large	
size pieces of land above 10ha, where 158 farmers are 
members of a cooperative. BRD loans covered cassava 
plantations totaling 510 ha located in three (3) districts of 
the Southern Province.

Current Impact of BRD Investments 

SOCIO–ECONOMIC IMPACT HIGHLIGHTS

1020

A 1 ha of cassava plantation may require about 500 
casual a day to carry out all needed activities from land 
preparation to harvest. That is equivalent to 2 permanent 
jobs created per hectare if we 250 working days per year.

2006 676,000 tons

2014 1,074,000 tons

Domestic consumption and food security

Covered by 
BRD in loans permanent 

jobs created

510ha

BRD contributed to the increased 
production of cassava tubers leading 
to the increased consumption

There was a huge decline of consumption 
and production between 2015 and 2017 
because of cassava diseases.

2015

2014

340,000 tons

1,074,000 tons

2017 380,000 tons

Domestic consumption and food security
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 c Figure 3: Domestic cassava consumption (2009–2017, tons), 
NISR, RRA, and BNR data

Outlook on Cassava Value Chain Development

1.1. Cassava value chain opportunities

 f High demand of cassava products
As mentioned above, the cassava value chain development 
constitutes an opportunity for investors given its wide 
market at local, regional and international level. Rwanda 
still registers a big trade gap because of the low production 
compared to the local demand.

 f Control of Cassava diseases 
With	combined	efforts	of	the	Government	and	different	
stakeholders, more varieties resistant to cassava diseases 
are being multiplied to ease access to seedlings for farmers 
and ensure a high productivity.

 f Cassava processing units still few
We may note that Low–Quality Cassava Flour (LQCF) 
represents	98%	of	the	domestic	market	of	cassava	flour	
(RNB, 2017) and this is due to lack of high quality cassava 
processing units like KCP. This value chain segment is still 
under developed and constitute an investment opportunity 
to attract investors to set up cassava plant.

1.2.	Required	financing	facilities	

Each	value	chain	may	require	one	or	more	financing	
mechanisms among which (i) a chain liquidity mechanism, 
(ii)	an	agricultural	finance	product	as	a	common	financial	
service;	and	(iii)	an	arrangement	for	value	chain	finance.	
The	value	chain	and	its	different	segments	can	be	financed	
by one or a combination of these three mechanisms. 

The	value	chain	finance	(VCF)	is	the	most	appropriate	
given	different	actors	of	the	
chain. The VCF is comprised by 
internal	and	external	financing;	
the latter includes loans, but also 
grants and other VCF support 
provided by the donors, GoR as 
well	as	non–financial	services	
such as inputs, insurances, quality 
control	and	certification	as	well	
as capacity building. However, for 
sustainability	purposes,	financial	
services provided by other non–
financial	actors	like	Government	
or Donors need to be well 
channeled to avoid market 
distortions. These may concern 
long–term public infrastructures 
investments as well as policy and 
regulations of the chain. 

Consumers

Retailers/ Exporters

Distributors
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Individual farmers
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TEA VALUE CHAIN

Overview of BRD interventions  
in Tea sub–sector in Rwanda

Throughout the 6–year strategic plan 2018–2024, BRD’s 
new business model is based on strategic objectives 
focusing on 5 key priority sectors including export. 
BRD	finances	traditional	export	crops	(tea,	coffee	and	
pyrethrum) as well as non – traditional export crops like 
horticulture	and	floriculture	products.	

From 2016, the export sector received further boost with 
the roll out of the Export Growth Facility (EGF) aimed 
at	facilitating	export	–	oriented	SMEs	to	access	finance	
through interest subsidies, grants and credit insurance 
facilities. 

BRD	has	so	far	financed	several	projects	in	export	sector,	
mainly	coffee	and	tea	production	and	processing	activities,	
but	also	other	non–	traditional	crops	like	flowers	as	well	
as industries generating import substitution products and 
hotels, etc.

The	figure	below	presents	the	BRD	outstanding	loan	
amount for export, agriculture and other sectors combined 
as of 31 December 2018

 d BRD Outstanding Loan Amount for Export, Agriculture, other Sectors 

The	export	portfolio	is	split	in	different	sub–sectors	as	
follows.

 d Outstanding loan % per export subsector

51%

14%

38%

82%

11%

4%

Other sectors

Coffee sub–sector

Export

Tea sub–sector

Agriculture

Other exports (hotels, 
industries)

The BRD portfolio comprises at 49% export and agriculture 
projects that are key pillars of the Rwandan economy 
growth. This portfolio concentration highlights the 
development role of BRD as a strategic partner of the 
Rwandan Government for economic growth. 

Other exports include industries that produce import 
substitution products and hotels for tourism promotion.

Total 
outstanding 

loan

Total loans approved 
from 2010–2016 to 

six cooperatives

8.13bn8.38bn

Current Impact Tea sector development

52,419  
jobs created by 
other tea projects 

83,380  
jobs created by BRD 
projects out of 134,485

Total	paid	off	
loans by 11 tea 
cooperatives 
before 2012

Total	paid	off	
loans by four tea 

factories

1.2bn 5.3bn
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Development 
impact of BRD 
financing	in	tea	
sector 
BRD investments 
in tea sector 
generate 
outcomes in terms 
of tea production 
for export, 
jobs creation, 
taxes, SMEs 
development, 
as well as 
environment 
protection. These 
outcomes are 
presented in the 
below	figure.	

Governance structure of the Tea Farmer’s Cooperatives
The 19 cooperatives are grouped in union of Cooperatives depending on their location (district) and those unions operate under 
the umbrella of a federation named FERWACOTHE (Federation Rwandaise des Cooperatives Theicoles). The governance structure 
of the 19 cooperatives is highlighted below. .

 d Structure of FERWACOTHE   

Kicukiro

Rusizi

Shagasha

Gisakura

Mulindi

Gicumbi Rubavu Karongi Nyaruguru

FERWACOTHE

UCOTHE

COOPTHE COOTP PFUNDA COOTHEGIM KOBACYAMUASSOTHE

COOPTHE M CONTRAGAGI KATECOGRO COOTHENYACOOPTHEVM

COOPTHEVIGI COOPTHEGA COTHEGA COTHENKCOOPTHE

UMUCYAGI RUTHEGROC COTHEGA B COOTHEMUKI

COTHECYAKA

UCTHEN UCTCCN UCOTHESN UCOTHENYU

Federation Cooperatives still under 
the BRD Portfolio

Cooperatives no longer in 
the BRD Portfolio though 
have been funded by BRD

Cooperatives 
Unions

BRD Loan

9.6bn
Tea Plantation

16.576ha
42,840

Cooperative Members

83,380
Permanent jobs 

created
564

Permanent	staff

350.090
Mtons of tea leaves 

produced

Value 

63.4bn

27,032
Males

15,808
Females

Considering the job creation in tea sector, BRD’s contribution is 61% of the total jobs generated by tea plantations and tea 
factories	(see	figure	below).

 d Tea production for 19 cooperatives financed by BRD in kilograms

200 permanent 
jobs created

Cooperative 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

KOBACYAMU  4,785,278  4,118,327  4,092,193  4,634,622  5,053,985 

COTHENYA  1,694,063  2,030,009  2,041,785  2,352,894  2,953,374 

COTHENK  1,458,330  1,373,114  1,941,924  2,081,727  2,363,050 

COTHEMUKI  120,241  98,976  352,247  664,235  874,435 

COTHEGIM  5,212,481  5,205,576  5,503,188  5,705,810  6,199,356 

KATECOGRO  857,121  877,251  856,568  1,185,765  1,374,231 

COTHEGA  491,840  1,281,815  1,446,984  2,322,715  3,755,670 

COTHEGAB  761,340  727,989  922,431  1,486,486  2,048,351 

COTPFUNDA  7,940,967  7,931,084  8,075,750  7,748,711  8,005,764 

COOPTHEGA  128,406  150,594  170,247  199,225  210,914 

COTRAGAGI  2,681,554  2,922,080  3,244,547  3,212,366  3,660,655 

RUTHEGROC  93,063  296,796  458,306  641,493  926,242 

ASSOPTHE  9,693,903  9,328,138  9,236,808  9,666,231  11,013,125 

COOPTHE MULINDI  4,366,521  4,632,368  4,650,978  4,922,916  5,198,265 

COOPTHEVM  10,845,204  10,743,273  9,215,181  9,898,868  10,513,065 

COOPTHE Shagasha  3,003,676  3,383,867  3,390,591  3,737,944  3,920,921 

COOPTHE Gisakura  3,126,310  2,975,755  3,255,740  3,330,218  3,460,524 

COOPTHEVIGI  2,433,053  2,122,740  2,001,672  2,116,865  2,317,693 

UMUCYAGI  4,892,029  5,867,826  5,835,992  6,315,292  6,670,599 

Total  64,585,380  66,067,578  66,693,132  72,224,383  80,520,219 

BRD Loan to tea 
factories

5.3bn

4 Tea Factories 

The tea green leaves production has increased over the years 
because of the maintenance of existing tea plantation, but 
also new plantations that have now started to produce. Even 
though production from the young plantations is still low, it is 
on an increasing trend.

New tea plantations owned by COTHEGA, COTHEGAB, 
COTHEMUKI, RUTEGROC and KATECOGRO have not reached 
their expected production levels because of the following:

 f Early stage of production,

 f Lack of proper maintenance, 

 f Gap	filling	not	done	earlier	in	some	plantations,	

 f Some plantations not harvested because of poor roads.

Over the past 5 years, the national production of tea green 
leaves	was	550,693	tons	out	of	which	19	BRD	financed	
cooperatives produced 63.6%

The tea revenues increased as well for every cooperative 
over the 5 years. A sale value amounting to Frw 63.5 billion 
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Cooperative 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

KOBACYAMU  684,675,641  601,275,742  942,778,381  1,325,715,413  1,404,456,607 

COTHENYA  200,312,775  243,589,080  375,299,153  541,205,870  691,759,301 

COTHENK  183,334,627  175,758,592  377,506,400  487,702,617  546,470,097 

COTHEMUKI  15,029,416  12,668,928  64,855,749  148,344,008  201,981,434 

COTHEGIM  808,027,634  822,481,008  1,361,690,239  1,652,167,818  1,709,369,887 

KATECOGRO  132,727,415  138,605,658  152,104,056  262,388,180  312,292,746 

COTHEGA  76,549,895  202,526,770  351,370,526  672,529,511  902,805,246 

COTHEGAB  117,799,173  108,470,361  165,397,328  331,164,431  459,648,803 

COTPFUNDA  940,848,915  951,730,080  1,490,651,225  1,677,772,422  1,659,376,400 

COOPTHEGA  17,166,343  20,480,784  37,806,170  55,294,524  58,482,866 

COTRAGAGI  363,789,946  403,247,040  722,885,150  880,413,217  956,753,486 

RUTHEGROC  8,011,366  37,099,500  81,453,251  158,017,187  245,203,562 

ASSOPTHE  1,146,883,671  1,119,376,596  1,690,276,615  1,998,049,962  2,501,563,800 

COOPTHE MULINDI  517,405,887  588,310,673  721,930,950  925,438,064  1,039,392,208 

COOPTHEVM  1,284,806,133  1,364,395,633  1,423,604,650  1,851,271,425  2,101,196,743 

COOPTHE Shagasha  355,118,928  429,751,134  545,659,579  716,347,486  815,681,220 

COOPTHE Gisakura  370,235,031  357,090,600  547,409,964  718,973,327  756,909,436 

COOPTHEVIGI  287,869,722  254,728,800  339,945,680  458,408,333  511,371,840 

UMUCYAGI  666,328,683  745,213,889  940,620,959  1,208,712,381  1,400,294,098 

Total  8,176,921,201  8,576,800,868  12,333,246,025  16,069,916,176  18,275,009,780 

has been generated from green leaves in 5 years’ period. 
Revenues will increase in the future because of the 
expected production growth for new plantations with 
performed	gap	filling.	

4. Tea sector development outlook 
With	combined	efforts	of	different	stakeholders	(NAEB,	
FERWACOTHE, Cooperatives) new strategies have been set 
to reduce losses, increase yield and ensure good quality of 
green tea leaf.

 f Gap filling: NAEB provides substancial support to 
cooperatives to develop nurseries of tea seedlings 
used	in	gap	filling	purpose.

 f Roads renovation: Road renovation is a priority 
under the feeder roads programme of respective 
districts. This will allow for access to plantations as 
well as transport of green leaves to factories to reduce 
post–harvest losses. 

 f Fertilizers application: Factories to which tea leaves 
are supplied will provide the required fertilizers to tea 
cooperatives and retain the equivalent amount per kilo 
sold by the farmers. 

 f Value addition as a key component of agricultural 
export growth. Tea processing factories will 
continuously increase in numbers and in capacity from 
15 (2017) to 18 factories (2024). 

 f Increased volume of tea products 

• Tea productivity from 7MT/ha to 8MT/ha. 

• Tea plantations will increase from 26,879 ha (2017) 
to 32,800 ha by 2024. 

BRD will continue supporting initiatives to achieve the 
objectives as per the National Strategy for Transformation 
by	extending	financing	products	to	cooperatives	and	private	
sector to expand the plantation acreage and promote value 
addition through new tea factories to be set up.

 d Source: Monetary Policy and Financial Stability Statement, 30th August 2017; NAEB

COFFEE VALUE CHAIN

Overview of BRD strategy and  
interventions	in	Coffee	 
sub–sector in Rwanda 

The fourth Strategic plan for the Transformation of 
Agriculture (PSTA4) for the period of 2018–2024 targets 
to position agriculture sector as the central driver for 
economic transformation of the Rwanda by facilitating 
private sector investments in agro–processing and value 
addition of the agricultural value chains.

The National Agricultural Export Development Board 
(NAEB)	statistics	indicated	that	the	coffee	sector	has	
played	a	significant	role	in	the	economy	by	contributing	an	
average 24 percent to Rwanda’s total agricultural export 
value leading to increased foreign exchange earnings 
and enhanced the monetisation of the rural economy 
tremendously impacting on sustainable livelihoods of more 
than 400,000 small holder farmers.

For the past decades, the Development Bank of Rwanda 
(BRD)	has	been	at	the	forefront	of	providing	financing	
which	de–risked	the	coffee	sector	and	catalysed	massive	
investments	(entry	of	other	key	stakeholders)	in	the	coffee	
sector. 

BRD	financing	contribution	to	 
the	growth	of	coffee	sector
In its strategic mandate 2018–2024, BRD has prioritized 
the	financing	of	the	export	sector	to	increase	and	
diversify exports as a key driver for the Rwanda’s 
economic transformation. Since 2002, the Bank extended 
loan facilities to export–oriented businesses (mainly 
cooperatives and private companies) especially in the 
coffee	sector.

Under	the	coffee	campaign,	BRD	provides	several	financing	
solutions such as investment loans, equity, guarantees, 
grants, and equipment leasing to key players along the 
coffee	value	chain	to	facilitate	clients	to	acquire	enough	
working	capital	to	plant	coffee	trees,	harvesting,	and	
penetration to new markets.

Over the past decade, there is tangible evidence of 
direct,	indirect	and	induced	effects	of	the	BRD	financed	
interventions	in	the	coffee	sector	which	have	greatly	
impacted	the	livelihood	of	the	loan	beneficiaries	
(particularly small holder farmers grouped in cooperatives), 

provided employment opportunities for women and youth, 
and generally contributed to the growth of the Rwandan 
economy. 

The Bank greatly contributing to the de–risking of the 
coffee	sector	which	catalyzed	increased	investments	in	
the	sector.	The	entry	of	middlemen	in	the	coffee	business	
chain	affected	BRD	considering	that	it	did	not	have	the	
required	capacity	to	control	the	entire	whole	coffee	value.	

In fact, between 2002–2010, BRD (along with OCIR Café) 
was	the	leading	financier	of	the	coffee	sector	supporting	
growth	of	coffee	plantations	and	Coffee	Washing	Stations	
(CWS). For instance, BRD begun supporting the sector 
when there were just about 49 CWS but have increased 
to over 300 CWS presently (with more than 60% 
cooperatives–owned).

Since	the	main	beneficiaries	of	the	BRD	coffee	campaign	
are	mainly	cooperatives–owned	farms	and	coffee	washing	
stations, the Bank has registered decline in number of 
clients	in	its	portfolio	over	the	past	five	years	from	about	32	
clients	about	14	currently.	In	the	same	period,	the	coffee	
campaign	total	approvals	to	the	coffee	sector	averaged	
between 1.8 and 2.5 billion Rwandan francs annually 
considering	that	the	main	beneficiaries	are	cooperatives

However, over the past ten years, BRD has injected over 
25.7	billion	Rwandan	francs	into	the	coffee	sector	to	
strengthen	the	coffee	value	chain	for	increased	production	
and export revenues.

 d Table 4: Evolution of BRD Coffee campaign (2006 – 2017) in Frw billions

2014

2010

2012

5.68

3.57

5.51

2015

2011

2016

2013

2017

2009

2007

2008

2006

2.16

3.69

4.18

1.31

2.26

2.25

2.08

0.61

0.94
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 d Table 5: Evolution of Coffee financing (2013 – 2017) in Frw billions per 
BNR, Value in USD

1.1 OUTLOOK 

BRD	continues	to	play	a	crucial	financing	role	through	
programs such as the Export Growth Facility (EGF) – which 
is jointly supported by KfW and Ministry of Trade and 
Industry (MINICOM) – aimed facilitating export–oriented 
SMEs	to	access	finance	through	interest	subsidies,	grants	
and credit insurance facilities. 

The EGF facility is designed as a single facility with three 
separate windows, an investment catalyst fund, matching 
grant fund for market entry related costs, and an export 
guarantee	facility.	To	support	new	innovations	in	coffee	
production, processing, packaging and exportation, BRD 
intends	to	resolve	the	challenge	of	cost	of	financing	which	
is considered very high and expensive by clients, the Bank 
hopes that EGF subsidy of 6.5 percent will attract new 
clients.

Appendices: Case Studies:
BRD continues to improve livelihoods of several small–
holder farmers grouped under cooperatives mainly in 
coffee	sector	that	have	largely	benefited	from	the	Bank’s	
annual	coffee	campaign.

2014

2016

59.68

58.49

2015

2017

2013

62.04

64.12

54.9

2014

2016

3.74

3.14

2015

2017

2013

33

3.43

2.75

 d Table 7: Evolution of Coffee financing (2013 – 2017), Price in USD/KGs

2014

2016

15.97

18.64

2015

2017

2013

18.79

18.67

19.99

 d Table 6: Evolution of Coffee financing (2013 – 2017) Volume in KGs

Considering	that	coffee	is	a	seasonal	business,	the	biggest	
players	in	the	coffee	value	chain	in	Rwanda	–	such	as	
RWACOF, RTC, RFC, OIKO Credit, Rabo Bank and other 
financiers	–	control	and	manage	the	whole	coffee	value	
chain	and	influence	price	determination.	

The BRD average lending interest rate is 16.5 percent 
while commercial Banks charge up to 19 percent while 
other	financiers	(such	as	Root	Capital)	lend	lower	than	BRD	
because they easily access credit from commercial Banks 
and	also	attract	cheap	(low–cost)	from	external	financiers.

Koperative COCAMU:

 f Licensed in 2009 by Rwanda Cooperative Agency; the 
cooperative has been a regular client of BRD since 
2009	benefitting	from	the	coffee	campaign	which	
has enabled them to increase production (quality 
and	volumes),	purchasing	coffee	cherries	from	non–
cooperative	members,	and	establishing	a	coffee	
washing station.

 f  Located in Musaza sector, Kirehe district, (Eastern 
province), the cooperative has 595 members (364 
male,	231	female)	who	have	planted	920,349	coffee	
trees on 4,000 hectares.

 f  The cooperative provides direct employment – that 
is 7 permanent jobs in addition to 32 temporary jobs 
(of which 80 percent are youth), and 150 seasonal 
jobs (working on the vehicle transportation, operating 
machinery and post–harvest and storage duties). All 
these	staff	earn	an	estimated	22.4	million	in	wages	
annually.

 f  While visiting Kirehe district in 2014, H.E. Paul Kagame 
donated a brand–new Fuso truck worth Frw40 
million	to	the	coffee	cooperative	in	recognition	of	
their good management practices and increased 
coffee	production	which	improved	members’	living	
conditions.

1.	 Overview	of	financial	
inclusion and accessibility to 
financial	services	in	Rwanda

The government of Rwanda considers 
microfinance	institutions	(MFIs)	as	an	
integral enabler to the development 
of the national economy and boosting 
financial	inclusion	particularly	among	the	
low–income groups that normally have no 
access to Banking services provided by 
traditional Banks. 

The	financial	inclusion	survey	(FinScope	
2016) noted an increase in formal and 
informal	financial	inclusion	which	is	at	89	
percent. The MFIs have played a crucial 
role through their outreach and physical 
presence to facilitate ease of access to 
financial	services	(in	form	of	branches	and	
agency Banking) especially in the rural 
areas. 

The	BNR	financial	year	2017/18	report	
indicates that MFIs have a total of 1,471 
branches and 974 agents across the 
country.

1.1	 Increased	financing	of	 
agriculture sector 

In consideration of the strategic 
importance of the Agriculture sector 
which presently provides employment 
to about 70 percent of the Rwandan 
population, BRD is the leading provider 
of	financing	for	the	development	and	
modernization of agriculture sector.  
The Bank continues to de–risk and 
catalyze investments to the sector 
especially	through	MFI	refinancing.

In line with BRD’s business model of 
targeting retail borrowers consisting of 
Micro–SMEs and small–scale farmers 
BRD works through SACCOs and MFIs to 
increase	accessibility	and	affordability	of	
the on–lending facilities. 

This has tremendously boosted the Bank’s 
financing	outreach	and	enhanced	rural	
development and improved livelihoods of 
smallholder farmers across the country.

2.	 Overview	of	BRD	refinancing	
of MFIs

For	over	fifty	years	of	existence,	the	
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) has 
been	intervening	in	different	sectors	
of the economy to achieve integrated 
development. To achieve this, BRD has 
been working with MFIs and SACCOs who 
have the greatest outreach both in the 
City of Kigali and geographically across 
other provinces.

In consideration of the Bank’s overall 
mandate of maximizing development 
impact with a focus on job creation, 
eradicating extreme poverty, and 
increasing agricultural production to spur 
growth of exports and manufacturing 
sector.

In its expanded and refocused mandate 
(2018–2024), BRD has prioritized 
refinancing	of	SACCOs	and	MFIs	to	foster	
access	to	finance	and	financial	inclusion	
by providing lines of credit and investment 
loans and capacity building to strengthen 
their governance and lending operations.

Although	BRD’s	refinancing	facility	mainly	
targets agriculture–based projects, MFIs 
also	extend	financing	to	education,	
housing, light infrastructure and other 
sectors as well as providing a diverse 
product	and	service	offerings	(including	
utilizing mobile Banking services).

CONTRIBUTION OF BRD’S REFINANCING TO MICROFINANCE INSTITUTIONS (MFI’S)

1,471 Branches 
created by BRD

974 agents 
created by BRD

735 Branches 
built by June 
2017

487 agents 
built by June 
2017

736 Branches 
built by June 
2017

487 agents 
built by June 
2017

Borrowed from 
BRD nationwide

247m
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2014

2016

2016

6,28

 5,06

595.62

2015

2015

2017

2017

2018

2018

2013

5,44

338.67

Frw

4,56

694.8

2,53

795.3

1,31

3.	 Analysis	of	impact	of	BRD	refinancing	
facility

Considering the nature of MFI lending operations and 
presence in diverse locations, it is easier to extend loan 
amounts of as low as Frw100,000 or less to individuals 
or groups of borrowers who otherwise would not easily 
qualify for the same loan facilities provided by either 
BRD or commercial Banks. This has enabled MFIs to 
extend	affordable	finance	to	smallholder	farmers	and	
other micro–projects thereby promoting value addition, 
increased tax revenues, creation of employment for mainly 
youth and women, and monetization of the rural economy.

 d Table 5 – Evolution of MFI refinancing (2013 – 2018)

An analysis of the BRD portfolio 
shows	that	over	the	last	five	
years, the Bank injected a 
cumulative total loan amount of 
Frw	25.2	billion	refinancing	to	
MFIs for on lending to towards 
refinancing.

Case study: INKUNGA Finance Plc

 f  It primarily operates in the Western province (districts 
of Karongi and Rutsiro) making it best positioned 
to	finance	rural	and	agriculture–related	micro	
businesses. It currently serves over 15,800 clients 
(mainly cooperatives and small holder farmers) and 
provides	permanent	employment	to	26	staff.

 f 	Since	INKUNGA	started	benefiting	from	the	BRD	
refinancing	facility,	its	loan	portfolio	grew	by	61%	
from Frw1.19 bn in 2015 to Frw1.91 bn in 2018; 
and maintained good performance with low non–
performing loans rate varying between 2 and 5 
percent (way below the Central Bank requirement for 
MFI’s of 5 percent).

 f  A review of INKUNGA’s whole loan portfolio indicates 
that lending to the agriculture sector accounts for 44 
percent of the total portfolio. The agricultural loans 
are mainly invested in purchase of agriculture inputs, 
supporting value chains (including maize, rice, poultry, 
horticulture, milk and piggery) as well as boosting 
mechanization and agri–business (short term working 
capital, agro–equipment, agro–trade).

In this same period, over 20 MFIs and SACCOs 
benefited with majority located in the City of Kigali 
and Western province. These include – UMWALIMU 
SACCO, COOPEDU, INKUNGA Microfinance, 
URWEGO Opportunity Bank, ZIGAMA CSS, such as 
CT RUSIZI, UNGUKA Bank Ltd, AGASEKE Bank Ltd, 
Goshen Finance, Letshego Ltd, CT Rusizi, and SACCO 
Indashyikirwa za Murunda – just to mention few.

 Cumulative Total

 Cumulative Total

25,18

2.4bn

 d Table 6 – Evolution of INKUNGA’s lending to agriculture sector

INVESTING FOR IMPACT:  
PROJECT CASE STUDY

BRD’s measurement of impact is guided by what Rwanda 
has set out to achieve in the NST1 (2017–2024). These 
targets include: 9.1% annual GDP growth, 9.3% growth 
in services and 17% annual export growth, creation of 
214,000 jobs annually, access to electricity scaled up from 
34.5%	to	100%	and	provision	of	increased	affordable	
housing.

BRD’s priority sectors of intervention have shown tangible 
contribution to the laid–out targets through development 
impact parameters including jobs, export value and 
domestic production value addition, contribution to GDP 
growth, energy generation and housing development, as 
well as commercial and social infrastructure development.

1. Boosting export promotion and 
manufacturing 

Under the export (which also includes hotels) and 
manufacturing	sector,	BRD’s	financing	aims	to	enhance	
the growth of domestic production and export to generate 
foreign exchange reduce imports and improve the 
balance	of	payment.	The	Bank	has	significantly	contributed	
to the development of the hospitality through better 
accommodation and service delivery through increasing 
supply of quality accommodation in high standard 4 stars 
hotels.	Manufacturing	industries	were	financed	as	well	
to produce high quality products/ material, boost the 
domestic production and reduce imports. 

 f Afriprecast
The Afriprecast is a precast concrete manufacturing 
industry located in Kigali – Kicukiro District. This plant has a 
plan of making good quality of precast concrete materials 
for construction using technical experts in technology.

The Afriprecast modern precast products are in high 
demand and are used in most of the new building and 
infrastructure projects. The business comes as a solution 
to providing durable products like railway sleepers, bridge 
components and concrete arches etc, through provision of 
cost	effective	and	eco–friendly	construction	materials.

In its second year of operation, this project is by now 
operating at 80% of its production capacity with Frw 24.9 

billion and 19.1 billion contracts in pipeline for 2019 and 
2020 respectively. 

Considering the implementation of the Kigali City master 
plan and the increasing demand for housing in and 
around Kigali city, Afriprecast is well placed to provide raw 
materials for constructions that are aligned with the vision 
of the country. 

Furthermore, compared to conventional way of 
construction,	Afriprecast	offers	the	following	benefits;

 f A reduction in completion time of construction by 25 
to 50%, as well as reduction of noise and pollution 
from dust. 

 f Significant	reduction	in	wastage	of	materials

 f Durability and low maintenance with a life span of 100 
years’ products

 f Recyclable buildings with components that can be 
disassembled and reused for other locations, 

 f Good	quality	of	products	that	offer	a	reduction	of	
uncontrollable	weather	condition	effects	and	are	
better sound and acoustic.

Regarding impact to society, Afriprecast has created the 
following opportunities from the plant construction up to 
its operation processes:

 f 12 permanent jobs for the management team and an 
approximate of 200 permanent jobs created for other 
staffs	with	salaries	and	wages	amounting	to	Frw	23	
billion during the course of 5 years

 f 400 jobs were created during the construction stage 
over a period of 3 years 

 f Contributing	to	fiscus	by	paying	taxes	projected	at	Frw	
10.3 billion over the 5 years’ period starting from 2019

 f Generating a domestic production value of about Frw 
25 billion in 2019

 f Due to availing environmentally friendly products, the 
environment is protected. 
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 f Kivu Marina Hotel
Kivu Marina is a 4–star hotel located in Rusizi district, 
Kamembe sector in Western Province with aim to boost 
tourism by attracting international travellers (business and 
leisure segments) and guests for regional and international 
conferences as well as those on working mission. 

Located on the shores of lake Kivu close to the Democratic 
Republic of Congo and Rwanda border, the hotel has 
77	accommodation	rooms	classified	into	3	categories:	1	
presidential suite with 3 bedrooms, 51 standard rooms, 
6 standard twin rooms, 12 family rooms and 7 deluxe 
rooms. It is owned by local investors, the Cyangugu diocese 
and 7 districts of Western Province with a common main 
objective of long–term investment in the area. 

Kivu Marina is among a few 4 stars hotel in the country 
outside Kigali City. It is the only high standard quality hotel 
in the area that will serve guests from Democratic Republic 
of Congo, Burundi and Rwanda. The hotel will also serve 
tourists visiting the Nyungwe national park, one of the most 
attractive parks for tourists given its wide range of species 
(flora,	fauna	(primates,	birds	and	animals)).

Concerning the impact to the society and to the Rwandan 
economy,	Kivu	Marina	Bay	hotel	offers	the	following	
benefits;

 f Creation of 130 permanent jobs with salaries and 
wages amounting to Frw 23 billion during the course 
of 5 years

 f More than 150 jobs created during the construction 
stage over a period of 4 years 

 f Contributing	to	the	fiscus	by	paying	taxes	during	
construction and corporate income tax projected to 
be Frw 856 million over the 5 years period starting 
from 2019

 f Generating revenues from accommodation services of 
about Frw 110.3 billion contribution to the GDP during 
the course of 5 years

 f Development of small and medium businesses by 
population surrounding the hotel location. 

 f Epic	Hotel	&	Suites	
EPIC	is	a	4–star	hotel	&	suites	located	in	Nyagatare	district,	
Nyagatare sector in Eastern Province created under the 
initiative of 7 districts of Eastern Province, RSSB, BRD and 
private investors.

The hotel aims at enhancing the development of tourism 
in the area by attracting local and international travelers 
(for business and leisure), hosting local, regional and 
international conferences, etc. Located on the Northern 
gate to the Akagera National Park and close to Uganda and 
Rwanda border, the hotel has 78 accommodation rooms 
classified	into	5	categories	comprising	2	presidential	suites,	
9 executive suites, 3 standard and superior rooms, 57 
standard	&	superior	rooms	and	7	family	rooms.	

Besides	the	accommodation	facilities,	EPIC	Hotel	&	Suites	
will	generate	the	following	benefits	for	the	Rwandan	
economy in general and surrounding society in particular:

 f  Creation of 66 permanent jobs with salaries and 
wages amounting to Frw 984 million during the course 
of 5 years

 f  Over 130 jobs were created during the construction 
stage in a period of 5 years 

 f 	Contribution	to	the	fiscus	by	paying	taxes	projected	to	
be Frw 56 million in 2019

 f  Generating revenues from accommodation services 
of about Frw 14 billion as a contribution to the GDP 
during the course of 5 years

 f  Development of small and medium businesses by 
population surrounding the hotel location. 

2. Establishing advanced commercial 
infrastructure

To	support	Government	efforts	of	encouraging	pooling	of	
resources and investing together through cooperatives/
companies,	BRD	is	the	leading	financier	of	group/collective	
investments particularly in the construction of modern 
community markets, commercial buildings/shopping malls, 
and other facilities that improve the business working 
environment while abiding by the requirements of the 
various	city	and	provincial	master	plans.	BRD	financed	
among others the following commercial infrastructures to 
address	the	need	for	office	and	business	space.

 f Inkundamahoro
BRD advanced loan to Inkundamahoro company for 
the construction of a commercial building located in 
Kimisagara sector, Nyarugenge District, in Kigali City in 
order to address the need for improved business working 
conditions for commercial infrastructure. The building 
comprises of 450 rooms of about 30 m2 each and about 
2,022 stands (commercial space for micro businesses) 
with sizes of 1square meter each, and has the capacity 
to accommodate more than 2,500 micro, small and 
medium businesses. The company was created by 100 
shareholders	that	own	different	businesses.

 f Development of small and medium businesses along 
the business value chain. 

The building complies with the environment requirements 
with a waste water treatment facility and clean space.

 f COPCOM
COPCOM	is	one	of	the	companies	that	benefited	from	BRD	
financing	for	the	construction	of	a	commercial	building	
that is located in Gisozi sector, Gasabo District, Kigali City, 
close to ADARWA and DUHAHIRANE shopping malls that 
were	also	financed	by	BRD.	The	building	comprises	of	420	
commercial rooms and has the capacity to accommodate 
at least 500 small and medium businesses. The company 
has 321 shareholders who are also involved in other 
different	businesses	in	the	area.

In additional to the above, the project has generated the 
following impact: 

 f Creation of 24 permanent jobs 

 f Over	250	temporary	staff	were	hired	during	the	
construction stage over a period of 3 years 

 f Contribution	to	the	fiscus	by	paying	taxes	amounting	
to Frw 387 million during the course of 5 years starting 
from 2018

 f Generating revenues in form of rent of Frw 2.5 billion 
during the same period

 f Development of small and medium businesses along 
the business value chain. 

The building conforms to both the Kigali City Master Plan 
and environmental requirements.

Besides that, the commercial building generates the 
following development outcomes 

 f Creation of 30 permanent jobs 
 f Over	300	temporary	staff	were	hired	during	the	

construction stage over a period of 4 years 
 f Contribution	to	the	fiscus	by	paying	taxes	projected	

to Frw 1.2 billion during the course of 5 years starting 
from 2019

 f Generating revenues of about Frw 10.5 billion during 
the course of 5 years
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 f Rusizi Investment Corporation
In the framework of the urbanization of secondary 
cities	with	modern	commercial	buildings,	BRD	financed	
a commercial complex owned by Rusizi Investment 
Corporation in Kamembe sector, Rusizi district, in Western 
Province.

The 4 storied commercial building has 204 commercial 
spaces/rooms that can serve more than 300 small and 
medium businesses in the area.

In addition to that, the commercial building generates the 
following development impact.

 f Creation of 19 permanent jobs 

 f Over	200	temporary	staff	hired	during	the	
construction phase over a period of 3 years 

 f Expected payment of taxes amounting to Frw 1.2 
billion during the course of 5 years starting from 2019 
as	a	contribution	to	the	fiscus.

 f Generating revenues of about Frw 1.8 billion in form of 
rent during the course of 5 years

 f Development of micro, small and medium businesses 
along the business value chain. 

The building is one of the few iconic infrastructures in 
Rusizi	and	beautifies	the	city.	

3. Modernizing livestock industry

 f Abusol
The project is located in Mayange sector, Bugesera district 
in Eastern Province and is a vertically integrated modern 
Poultry farm with a poultry Feed Plant. The plant has a 
maximum production 3 tons of feeds per hour. The poultry 
farm has 50,000 layers.

The promoter has successfully exhibited high level capacity 
and understanding of the poultry farming technics 
supported by ISA BROWN. This will help other poultry 
farmers in modernizing their farms. 

The products sold as part of project output include, poultry 
feeds, eggs and old layers. Currently, the factory supplies 
to farmers with 20,000 chickens that are equivalent to 8% 
of the factory capacity and sells more than 2 million eggs 
per month. The project supports a range micro, small and 
medium businesses along the value chain.

The daily operating activities of the project are carried out 
by	38	staff	with	salary	benefits	amounting	to	Frw	94	million	
per year. 

 f Bella	flowers
Bella	flowers	is	a	newly	established	flower	business	that	
produces roses on 20 ha land located in Gishali sector, 
Rwamagana district in Eastern Province. The company is 
owned by NAEB as the sole shareholder.

As a member country of the East Africa Community that 
has signed the Economic Partnership Agreement with 
Europe,	Rwanda	is	entitled	to	export	quota	free	cut	flowers	
to Europe. Rwanda decided thus to increase acreage 
under	rose	as	the	most	classic	favorite	flower	among	120	
varieties in the world and with a color spectrum ranging 
from red, pink, purple, orange, coral, peaches and white.

Bella	flowers	started	producing	in	2016	and	has	so	far	
generated and/or expects to generate the following 
development outcomes;

 f Revenues amounting to Frw 15 billion over a 5 years 
period from 2016; 90% being export revenue. 

 f Generation of Frw 1.8 billion taxes the same period

 f Creation	of	181	permanent	jobs	with	salary	benefits	
amounting to Frw 941 million in 5 years

 f Stimulating the creation of more than 50 SMEs as 
wholesalers, retailers, input suppliers, among others, 
in the country. 

The company will in the medium term expand the project 
through	addition	of	15	ha	of	land	under	flower	production	
to increase production and exports.

RENEWABLE ENERGY FUND

Project fact sheet 
 f The Renewable Energy Fund (REF) project is a US$ 
48.94	million	fund	financed	by	the	Scaling–Up	
Renewable Energy Program (SREP) – a multi–donor 
trust fund managed by the World Bank – to catalyze 
private resources for deployment of renewable 
energy. 

 f  The REF was signed between the International 
Development Agency (IDA) and the Government of 
Rwanda (GoR) with the objective to increase electricity 
access	in	Rwanda	through	off–grid	technologies	and	
facilitate private sector participation in renewable 
off–grid	electrification.	Renewable	Energy	Fund	
project is aligned with Rwanda’s National Strategy for 
Transformation for the period 2017–2024.

 f  The Renewable Energy Fund is managed by the 
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD), as the Project 
Implementing entity. 

The Renewable Energy Fund has significant positive 
implications for socio–economic development and 
productivity growth for people and businesses in 
peri–urban and rural areas of Rwanda. The Fund is 
expected to facilitate the deployment of an estimated 
445,000 off–grid connections and benefit 1.8 million 
people, 52% of whom are women.

 f  The Renewable Energy Fund aims to scale–up 
deployment of standalone home systems and 
renewable energy–based mini–grids in Rwanda; it 
was	designed	to	address	consumer	affordability	and	
access	to	finance	constraints.	

 f  The REF provides access to local–currency 
financing	through	three	active	financing	windows:	
(i) On–lending through SACCOs to households and 
micro–enterprises, (ii) On–lending through Banks 
(commercial	and	microfinance)	to	households	and	
small and medium enterprises, and (iii) Direct lending 
of	off–grid	mini–grid	developers.

 f 	The	Fund	allows	qualified	SACCOs,	commercial	and	
microfinance	Banks	to	provide	affordable	loans	to	
their customers (households, microenterprises, and 
small– and medium–enterprises) in local currency for 
the	purchase	of	certified	solar	systems	and	facilitate	
cooperation	between	Rwandan	financial	institutions	
and	private	sector	to	ensure	quality	provision	of	off–
grid services. 

 f  The REF also provides necessary technical assistance 
and	capacity	building	to	BRD	and	participating	financial	
institutions (PFIs), as well as other players engaged in 
off–grid	electrification	to	ensure	smooth	operation	of	
the Fund. Trainings and workshops were held with the 
SACCOs	that	have	been	pre–qualified,	awareness	visits	
were	done	to	the	off–grid	areas	in	collaboration	with	
the Rwanda Energy Group and a meeting was held 
with Sector Executive Secretaries to sensitize them on 
the	REF	program	and	its	benefits.

 f  All systems supported by the facility are required to 
be at least Tier 1 that provides a basic service level, 
such as lighting, radio and cell phone charging and 
meet predetermined quality standards aligned with 
International Electro Technical Commission (IEC) 
Technical	Specifications.	

 f 	The	pre–qualified	Commercial	Banks	have	signed	the	
Subsidiary Financing Agreements with BRD during the 
first	quarter	of	2018,	namely	Bank	of	Kigali,	I&M	Bank	
Rwanda, KCB Bank Rwanda and Access Bank Rwanda. 
Off–grid	Solar	Companies,	SMEs	and	households	
are	invited	to	approach	them	to	get	financing	for	the	
Off–grid	systems.	More	commercial	and	micro–finance	
Banks will be appraised to join the program and 
facilitate the roll out 

 f  The Renewable Energy Fund is expected to crowd–
in	resources	to	scale–up	electrification	in	Rwanda	
using	off–grid	renewable	energy	technologies,	
attracting	financing	from	both	the	private	sector	
and development partners, thus contributing to 
sustainable expansion of electricity services in 
Rwanda. 

 f Targeted	final	beneficiaries	of	the	Fund	are	Rwandan	
households and small businesses which gain access 
to	off–grid	electricity	services	through	solar	systems	
or mini–grids and whose use of electricity will replace 
consumption of diesel, kerosene, and dry cell 
batteries.

received from the 
WB (SREP funds) in 
March 2018, has been 
disbursed, entirely to 
the SACCOs.

Frw

580m
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 f 	Since	the	REF	became	effective	
on 3rd November 2017, Frw 
580,000,000 (about US$ 668,000), 
representing 13.3 percent of the 
US$ 5 million advance received 
from the WB (SREP funds) in March 
2018, has been disbursed, entirely 
to the SACCOs. This equals to 1.45 
percent of the total US$ 45.94 
million fund available for lending.

 f  The REF project has an overall 
target of electrifying 445,000 
households in rural and peri–urban 
areas. So far only 298 households 
have accessed the solar home 
systems through the Window 1. 
Other windows have not been 
operational. For the year 2019, 
the REF will bring on board more 
SACCOs, more Banks will be 
appraised and mini grid projects 
identified.

 f  In order to facilitate the 
implementation of the REF project, 
BRD/REF PIU will carry out an 
extensive awareness campaign in 
off–grid	demarcated	zones.	This	
Awareness campaign will target the 
households and small businesses in 
the	off–grid	zones	and	will	provide	
potential	beneficiaries	with	the	
relevant	information	and	benefits	
from the REF program, like health 
benefits	and	access	to	affordable	
Solar Home Systems and to 
affordable	financing.

 f  A Monitoring and Evaluation system 
will be put in place to monitor the 
impact of the project on the increase 
of	access	to	electricity	through	off	grid	
technologies, the increase of access to 
affordable	financing	and	on	all	other	
aspects of the household lives (health, 
education, business generation, etc.) 
in	the	off–grid	areas.

households to be 
electrified in rural and 
peri–urban areas

445k

RWANDA HOUSING FUND PROJECT

Project fact sheet
 f The Rwanda Housing Financing Project (RHFP) is a 
Euros	129.6	Million	fund	financed	by	the	International	
Development Agency (IDA). 

 f  Objective – To expand access to long–term housing 
finance	for	the	benefit	of	middle–income	segments	
which have limited/no access to mortgages under the 
current market conditions and support Capital Market 
development. The project serves three purposes;

 f  First, access to longer–term resources renders 
mortgages more accessible to many Rwandans, who 
are	unable	to	afford	mortgage	loans	under	current	
mortgage loan conditions. The project will, therefore, 
enable the mortgage market to develop and serve the 
currently underserved segments. 

 f 	Second,	by	enabling	the	growth	of	financial	and	
mortgage markets to move to underserved income 
segments and gain experience in this product, the 
project is a necessary step toward paving a path of 
reaching even lower–income segments over time.

 f  Third, the project incentivizes lenders to scale up 
their housing credit activity by providing them with 
the long–term resources as it helps them reduce the 
risks arising from the maturity mismatch between 
their assets and liabilities. Greater access to long–term 
funding also contributes to greater competition in the 
mortgage	market	as	financial	service	providers	who	
lacked long–term funds gain access.  
 
This is particularly relevant for MFIs and SACCOs which 
are less likely to have long–term resources. The project 
also	fosters	greater	financial	intermediation,	and	
through contributing to develop capital markets by 
facilitating the creation of a MRC, which is anticipated 
to have a positive impact on growth. 
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Project Components 
i. Provision of Long–term Finance to 

expand Housing Finance (Euro 127 
Million) 

ii. Technical Assistance and 
Implementation Support (Euro 
2.6million)

 f 	The	first	component	is	a	line	of	
credit (LoC) to the GoR to support 
the provision of housing loans by 
Rwandan	financial	institutions.	The	
LoC will be implemented by the 
BRD as the main implementing 
agency which will administer 
this component on behalf of the 
government. 

 f  Financing will be provided to 
financial	institutions	to	support	
the issuance of housing loans 
to	targeted	beneficiaries.	
Eligibility	criteria	for	financial	
institutions are expected to 
include compliance with national 
prudential requirements, minimum 
capital adequacy ratio, maximum 
nonperforming loan ratio, adequate 
appraisal standards, capacity to 
meet project implementation 
requirements, and ability to provide 
adequate security/mortgages 
against housing loans. 

Expected Impact
 f The RHF project will have a powerful 
leverage	effect	on	private	sector	
funding. The debt and quasi 
equity funding provided under 
the project would be leveraged 
directly by issuance of bonds, 
but would also result indirectly in 
increased investment into housing 
construction and development. 
This	additional	influx	of	funds	into	
housing investment would result 
in large scale employment creation 
both in housing jobs but also in 
related sectors such as household 
goods, mining/quarrying, service 
sector	and	finance.	

 f The provision of long–term 
funding has a direct impact on 

the	affordability	of	housing	loans.	
The extension of the loan maturity 
from 5 to 20 years reduces the 
monthly mortgage payment 
almost by half, rendering the same 
mortgage accessible to more than 
10 percent of households, which 
were	previously	unable	to	afford	it.	
Impact of Extended Loan Maturity 
on	Affordability	(Simulation)

 f The project brings important 
economic additionally to the 
housing	finance	market.	The	project	
will hugely contribute to improve 
the	mortgage	financing	in	Rwanda.	
Currently, many personal loans 
are used for housing but do not 
provide	an	affordable	solution	given	
their short–term nature. With the 
support of this project and more 
efficient	property	registration,	
financial	institutions	would	gradually	
convert these loans into long–term 
mortgage	loans.	In	five	years	of	
operations, the project is expected 
to support the provision of at 
least 6,000 new housing loans and 
inject more than US$100 million of 
long–term	funds	into	the	financial	
system, helping to provide shelter 
to at least 24,000 people assuming 
an occupancy of four people per 
household.

Provided for expansion 
Housing Finance

for techinical assistance 
and implementation 
support

People to assume 
occupancy with US 
$100 million injected as 
a long–term fund

127m

2.6m

24k

Euro

Euro

EXPORT GROWTH FACILITY

Project fact sheet
 f The Export Growth Facility (EGF) was established in 

2015 to support export growth, domestic market 
recapturing,	and	improved	access	to	finance.	The	
EGF	aims	to	facilitate	businesses	to	access	finance	
for export–related activities through loans, interest 
subsidies, grants, and credit insurance. 

 f  The initiative is aligned to the National Strategy for 
Transformation (NST1) which targets a 17% average 
growth of export from which 11.2% annual average 
growth	for	tea	and	coffee	and	17.8%	annual	average	
growth of exports of services annually. 

 f  The Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) was selected 
as the Project Executing Agency given its unique 
position as the country’s lone Development Financing 
Institution	(DFI)	with	adequate	financial,	human	and	
systems capacity to manage the fund. 

Objectives
 f 	Catalyse	the	local	financial	sector	by	partnering	with	
financing	institutions	on	export	related	financing	to	
their clients

 f 	Facilitate	access	to	tailored	export	finance	products	to	
export–oriented	firms	with	growth	potential

 f 	Provide	financing	at	affordable	costs	for	export	related	
activities

 f  Improve knowledge and capacity for SME through 
technical assistance for export related businesses

Partnerships
MoU	between	the	Ministry	of	Trade	&	Industry	and	the	
Development Bank of Rwanda 

 f Funded by MINICOM – Frw 2.5 billion contributed to 
date for interest subsidies and grants

 f  BRD initial contribution to the Facility – Frw 500 million

 f  Operationalised and managed by BRD

Financing agreement between KfW, Government of 
Rwanda and BRD

 f  KfW pledged €6 million for loans to export–oriented 
SMEs. BRD pledged Frw 500 million

 f Partnerships	with	five	(5)	locally	based	Commercial	
Banks	(	Bank	of	Kigali,	I&M	Bank,	BPR	part	of	Atlas	
Mara, Equity Bank Rwanda and CogeBanque) to 
channel	financing	to	their	export–oriented	clients.

 f  A further €2.5 million from KfW for consultancy 
services, capacity building in BRD and Partner Financial 
Institutions,	and	marketing	the	export	financing	
product.

EGF Windows of Finance
The EGF aims to support SMEs that are both active and 
those with the potential to export through three separate 
but interlinked windows namely;

Investment Catalyst Fund – to encourage private sector 
investments through concessional credit. 

Commercial Loan Direct Lending

• Facilitates export–
oriented loans at 
attractive rates (typically 
around 14% per annum)

• Loans provided by 
Partner Financial 
Institutions

• Funded by KfW

• Provides interest 
subsidies of 6.5% on 
applicable markets rates 
(typically ranging from 
16% – 20% per annum) 
to successful applicants 
for export–related 
activities

• Loans provided and 
administered directly by 
BRD

• Interest subsidies funded 
by Government of 
Rwanda

Matching Grant
 � Supports private sector market penetration abroad 

 � Assistance	based	on	specific	needs	of	firms	looking	to	
penetrate regional and international markets 

 � Beneficiaries	are	provided	with	a	50%	grant	for	
bespoke export–focused activities up to USD 100,000

 � Grants provided and administered directly by BRD

 � Funded by Government of Rwanda

Export Guarantee Fund 
 � Intends	to	enhance	the	financial	and	exporting	

capabilities of recipient companies. 

 � Short–term pre–shipment and post–shipment 
credit and export performance guarantees through 
participating	financial	institutions
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EGF Window
Value of 
facility (Frw) Sub sectors Projected 

Impact
Achieved 
Impact

Direct–Lending Investment 
Catalyst Fund

2.4Bn (18 
loans)

agro–processing, 
coffee,	and	textiles

generation 
USD 9,923,940 
of exports

3,062 jobs

Facilitation of 
Frw 13 billion of 
investment

On–Lending Investment  
Catalyst Fund

5.2Bn (5 
PFIs)

tea,	coffee,	
horticulture, textiles

Matching Grant 700M (12 
grants)

agro–processing, 
horticulture, textiles

Facilitating 
Frw 1.7 billion 
investment by 
Rwandan	firms

 f Available to startups and 
established	firms	already	
exporting or seeking to export

 f Export targets (40%+)
 f Credit limit for Frw 900 million / 

EUR 1 million
 f Available for new investment, 

expansion and restructuring

 f Available to existing SMEs in 
export

 f Grants are limited to USD 100.000 
per project

 f Exporter contribution of 50% of 
projects total value

 f Focused on costs related to: 
certification,	barcoding,	labelling,	
packaging, branding, trade 
missions and trade fairs

 f Preshipment credit for export 
production guarantees of 270 
days

 f Post–shipment credit guarantee 
of 60 days

 f Export performance guarantee of 
270 days

 f 75%–80% guarantee
 f Guarantee limit of USD 1 million 

per shipment

Investment 
Catalyst Fund

Matching Grant 
Facility

Export Credit 
Guarantee Fund

Targeted	Beneficiary
All enterprises in the export sector or with the intention to export. A major focus on small to medium export oriented enterprises. 
These	could	also	be	significant	players	on	a	particular	export	value	chain.

 d Eligibility for each of the EGF windows

Impact
Since	the	establishment	of	EGF	in	September	2015	up	to	December	2018,	a	total	of	30	projects	in	different	sectors	namely	
coffee,	tea,	horticulture,	textiles	and	agro–processing	among	others	benefited	from	EGF.

PFIs and BRD are also working closely with KfW and consultants – Carnegie Consult to improve various avenues of the scheme; 
Marketing and awareness, and Environmental and Social Management Systems (ESMS). Training has been provided by Carnegie 
Consult	to	BRD	and	PFIs	on	export	finance,	contact	negotiations,	contract	law,	and	ESMS,	and	this	will	continue	in	2019.

Three	formal	trainings	were	held	in	2018.	Training	was	provided	to	20	staff	across	four	PFIs	and	BRD	on	export	finance,	a	short,	
half–day ESMS training was held with BRD and four PFIs, with a further three days of ESMS training later in the year for some 15 
participants and another four days of training were provided to 25 participants on international contracting and negotiations. 
Additionally,	an	offering	remote	support	for	any	export	finance	issues	encountered	on	the	job	is	offered	to	PFIs	and	BRD.

	  

	  

 e Participants from BRD, BPR, 
Bank of Kilgali, and I&M 
Bank, and training staff of 
Introduction Export Finance 
March 2018

 c 2018 Training with PFIs 
and BRD on export finance, 
contract negotiation, 
contract law, and ESMS. 
Training was provided by 
Carnegie Consult. 
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Case study: SORWATHE

Sorwathe Ltd is a tea producer and exporter which has 
been in operation in Rwanda since 1975. It is located 
in the valleys of Kinihira, Rulindo District in Rwanda’s 
Northern Province. Sorwathe owns and operates around 
285 hectares (ha) of land dedicated to cultivating tea 
and recently reached an agreement with the District and 
National Agriculture Export Board to support farmers to 
cultivate another 300ha of of tea. It works with Assopthe 
Tea co–operative which has a membership of 3,500 
Smallholder farmers that own around 1,050 hectares of 
Tea. Sorwathe employs some 500 permanent employees 
in its factory and field and an additional 2,000 seasonal 
employees (pluckers and field workers, factory workers, 
Forest workers, maintenance etc). Almost 600 of these 
employees are women.

Tea Importers is the majority shareholder of Sorwathe 
Ltd. Sorwathe was founded in 1975. Tea Importers is 
a family business, headquartered in Connecticut, USA. 
Tea Importers buys teas from most of the tea producing 
countries in the world, which it sells to major tea packers 
and blenders as well as specialty tea companies in the 
United States, Canada, Europe, Asia and the Middle East. 

Sorwathe alone exports tea worth around Frw 8 billion 
francs per annum, to countries around the world, in 
particular to Great Britain, Ireland, Germany, Saudi 
Arabia, Pakistan, Canada and the USA. Tea exports 
include green, black, oolong, and specialty teas both 
Organic and non–Organic. Approximately 80% of 
Sorwthe’s tea is sold directly to international buyers, with 
10% sold at the Mombasa tea auctions, and another 10% 
sold for domestic consumption in Rwanda.

Sustainability is a central pillar of Sorwathe’s enterprise, 
with 25% of its tea organically produced. It also works 
closely with local cooperatives and supports local 
schools and children in Education, Nutrition and Sports. 
A keen advocate of Corporate Social Responsibility, 
Sorwathe has offered numerous initiatives over the 
years to the Kinihira community. Amongst the CSR 
activities of the firm, Sorwathe has brought potable 
water, repaired and maintained roads, built schools, 
established a medical clinic with assistance from USAID, 
and, in partnership with Rotary International, started 
an adult literacy program for the local population that 
has taught more than 15,000 Rwandan adults how 
to read and write. Sorwathe was amongst the first 

factories in Rwanda to introduce environmentally 
friendly policies such as waste recycling and has been at 
the forefront of supporting workers’ rights. The factory 
employs sustainable agricultural practices, has two 
organic divisions, and is a participant in the Ethical Tea 
Partnership. The estate is Rainforest Alliance, UTZ and 
Fair Trade certified.

Sorwathe is committed to improving the lives of the 
people in the surrounding communities through support 
for education (school buildings and scholarships), 
nutrition program for pre–schoolers, computer lab 
for secondary school students, and sports. It has 
also partnered with UNICEF to bring early childhood 
development and day care programs to families in the 
surrounding communities.

Aim and activities financed
With consistent success in the export market, Sorwathe 
sought to expand operations in 2017. Limited operating 
facilities for green tea processing necessitated that 
Sorwathe’s existing tea processing facilities to be 
dedicated one day a week to allow for production of 
green tea. A bespoke green tea factory would have 
offered the company scope to export greater quantities 
across product markets. Through engagement with 
Government, Sorwathe learned of lower–cost finance 
options available via the Export Growth Facility (EGF).

The EGF is a flagship programme of the Government 
of Rwanda. It assists aspiring and existing exporters 
through improved access to finance and more 
affordable credit. In accessing subsidised loans under 
the EGF, applicants have two routes via the EGF 
Investment Catalyst Fund:

 f EGF On–lending facilitates export–orientated 
loans at attractive rates (typically 12% – 14%) via 
commercially–focused partner financial institutions. 
German development Bank KfW has dedicated €6 
million for on–lending and another €2.5 million 
for technical assistance to participating financial 
institutions and the Development Bank of Rwanda 
(BRD). Export–orientated businesses may also avail 
of access to skills training and capacity building in 
the future.

 f EGF Direct–lending provides an interest subsidy of 
6.5% on applicable markets rates (typically ranging 
from 16% – 20%) to successful applicants for loans 
directly from BRD

Sorwathe first approached BRD early in 2017 with 
regards to an EGF loan to build a bespoke green tea 

factory and procure machinery to operate the factory. 
After months of discussion with BRD, Sorwathe were 
encouraged to work with commercial Banks to access 
finance under the newly established and funded EGF 
On–lending. 

Sorwathe approached two Banks which had recently 
signed up to the On–lending scheme and began 
negotiating for the best possible rates. Agreement was 
reached with I&M Bank in a few weeks. In August 2017, 
Sorwathe signed a 72–month amortizing investment 
loan deal worth Frw 595 million at an annual interest 
rate of 12%. By September 2017, Sorwathe had received 
Frw 180 million to begin constructing a factory dedicated 
to green tea production. An additional Frw 330 million 
was disbursed to Sorwathe over the next six months for 
purchasing machinery and equipment to operationalise 
the new green tea factory. Some Frw 80 million remains 
for working capital under the loan agreement.

As of its official launch on 2 November 2018, the 
green tea facility is operating at 1/3 capacity, with 16 
additional employees. It has lined up new buyers for the 
beginning of 2019 and is sending green tea samples to 
prospective clients globally. In the meantime, Sorwathe 
is supporting farmers to plant 300ha to grow tea to 
meet demands across the black and green tea markets. 

	  

 d Sorwathe’s newly built bespoke green tea factory

With demand for Sorwathe’s green tea in international 
markets outstripping supply, it is expected that this new 
investment will significantly boost export revenues. It 
is estimated that by building and operating a bespoke 
green tea factory on a full–time basis, Sorwathe will 
employ up to 50 additional permanent/Temporary staff.

Achievements (Impact) 
As outlined, Sorwathe was already producing and 
exporting green tea before accessing finance under the 
EGF by dedicating its general tea production lines to 
green tea one day per week. Through this investment in 
a green tea factory, Sorwathe has been able to increase 
its tea production by roughly 14%. So far, no quantifiable 
increases in export of other tea have been recorded, but 
it is expected that this will be realised in the second half 
of 2019.

The factory currently operates at 30% of capacity and 
largely in ‘soft–launch’ operation to date. However, 
despite operations below capacity in its initial period, it 
has recruited 16 new employees of whom 10 are female. 

Newly procured machinery housed in Sorwathe’s green 
tea factory, already operating at 1/3 capacity, with its 
official launch planned for November 2018 and full 
capacity operation expected in mid–2019.
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 d Newly procured machinery housed in Sorwathe’s green tea factory, 
already operating at 1/3 capacity, with its official launch planned for 
November 2018 and full capacity operation expected in mid–2019.

 d Sorwathe’s range of Tea products. green tea from 
the new factory is shown far right

Sustainability
During a visit and interview, Sorwathe expressed interest in accessing technical assistance support on energy management 
in pursuit of their tea production going carbon neutral, which they believe will support them to export greater quantities of 
tea. It was also expressed that in the future, Sorwathe would consider a further EGF loan in pursuit of greater expansion of 
production, employment, and exports.

 d The hills and valleys of Sorwathe Tea plantations

	  

OVERVIEW OF OUR 2018 
CORPORATE SOCIAL INVESTMENT/
RESPONSIBILITY AND 
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Bank commits to voluntarily contribute to a better 
society and integrate corporate, social and environmental 
concerns in our business operations and in interaction 
with our stakeholders. The Bank’s approach to CSR is done 
through community – based development projects that are 
strategic in nature in that they communicate the areas of 
interest. 

The Bank gives support to local organizations, individuals 
and disadvantaged communities in the country (donations) 
or by sponsoring strategic events taking place within the 
country that potentially develop strategic partnerships. 
We believe that by getting involved in Corporate and 
Social activities, this presents an opportunity to propagate 
a clear communication of the Bank’s business model 
as	a	development	finance	institution.	Corporate	social	
investment/responsibility encompasses our responsibility 
as a Bank to ensure we: 

 f Deliver the right services and products to our 
customers (being customer centric); 

 f Manage ourselves responsibly and to the advantage of 
our employees and society; 

 f Contribute to sustainable development of the natural 
environment; 

 f Contribute towards the development and uplifting of 
disadvantaged people; 

Given the CSI trends, we continue to recognize these areas 
as an important business consideration. The Bank’s CSI 
Communication Strategy and programmes are expected to 
provide a return on investment (ROI) and also to contribute 
towards the Bank’s image in the marketplace objectives, 
as aligned to our mission and strategic objectives. The 
year ending 2018, saw BRD giving back over One Hundred 
and Thirty–Four Million (134,662,500 Frw) through a 
comprehensive number of activities including community 
development, strategic support of women, youth and 
advocacy groups, government social development 
programs, partnering with conferences and events as well 
as sponsoring emerging sports activities among others.

HOW WE IMPACTED  
OUR COMMUNITY

BRD adorns the unnoticed Mothers, who daily, 
singlehandedly support their disabled children 

In celebration of 2018 Mother’s Day in Rwanda, the 
Development Bank of Rwanda partnered with Events 
Horizon in organizing and holding a fundraising and 
appreciation event aimed at extending gratitude and 
recognition of the efforts as well as raising resources 
to support mothers who raise disabled children. These 
mothers are usually stigmatized and end up shying away 
from the communities that shun them which renders 
them vulnerable and missing out on opportunities that 
other mothers experience.

Through Village heads (Umudugudu), 20 mothers were 
identified and invited to the dinner event at the Kigali 
Marriott Hotel. One of the mothers, Diane Mukamulisa – 
a mother of four, had a horrifying testimony of how her 
husband abandoned her and their children because two 
of them, aged nine and five, were born with a disability. 
From then on, she experienced challenges on a daily 
routine that she ended up on the streets as a beggar in 
order to be able to provide minimum basic needs for her 
children like food and healthcare. 

The house they lived in was dilapidated and worse more 
at very close proximity to a public toilet – which posed 
a health threat to her and her children. Diane’s life was 
turned around when she was moved from that house to 
a new three–room house, whose six months’ rent was 
paid from money raised from the Mother’s Day event. 
The funds raised were also used to support the other 
19 mothers, through provision of mattresses, beds, and 
other home utilities.

I’m overjoyed because the life I was living in was 
extremely difficult. I used to wander aimlessly with 
my kids to beg. The house that we used to live in 
was very close to a toilet and it was not hygienic 
for me and my children. My life has since greatly 
improved since I was moved into this new house
Diane Mukamulisachanneled into 

Community 
Support

Frw134m
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Unity Club gives BRD the opportunity to forever 
change the lives of elderly genocide widows 
(Incike) 

Hundreds of Incike, the elderly widows who lost their 
families (husbands and children) during the 1994 Genocide 
against the Tutsi have been relocated to decent houses, 
ending a 23–year period of homelessness. 

The 1994 genocide against the Tutsi that claimed 
thousands of lives, left widows, widowers, orphans and a 
generally shattered economy with homeless and jobless 
victims living under the harshest of conditions.

Two years later after the genocide, spouses of current and 
former	members	of	the	Government,	joined	efforts	and	
founded the Unity Club – an NGO under the patronage 
of the First Lady of Rwanda, aimed at fostering unity and 
reconciliation among Rwandese; in addition to advocating 
for socio–economic wellbeing of disadvantaged groups 
with particular emphasis on orphans and widows.

The Unity Club initiated an advocacy project to build 
hostels	in	different	districts	of	Rwanda	that	would	
benefit	the	elderly	widows	and	widowers	–	some	of	
whom were left childless by the 1994 Genocide against 
the Tutsi. 

BRD through Unity Club has been able to impact over 
25 families by giving them a place to call home. The 
Bank’s	financial	contribution	was	used	to	construct	
some of the new hostels in Huye District, Southern 
Province,	to	accommodate	and	benefit	these	victims	
who were living in extreme poverty. 

The current country wide assessment revealed that 
there are 869 incike, as a result of the 1994 Genocide 
against the Tutsi. 109 incike, were found to be in great 
need of accommodation as soon as possible; 94 
females and 15 males. 77 of them have been sheltered 
in hostels from across the country and so far the 
partnership has left more than 160 elderly sheltered. 
The Unity Club is working on a target to shelter all 
the elderly incike by 2020 and BRD is proud to be 
associated with such a noble cause.

At the inauguration of the hostels, the First Lady also 
commended the widows for having overcome the pains 
of the past. “You have been brave as you managed to 
withstand physical and emotional pain. Your resilience 
has motivated us to support you,” she said, further 
explaining that although they have lost relatives, they 
still have the country, which is everyone’s family.

After relocating the elderly Incike to the hostel, the 
Genocide survivors’ fund of Rwanda (FARG) brings in 
everything that makes hostels a typical Rwandan home; 
food, clothing, a guard and a permanent social worker 
who takes care of the needs of every elderly. Cows and 
hens are also given to the elderly incike in their new 
homes to supplement their nutritional needs.

The Unity Club has been appreciated for taking the lead 
in	finding	a	sustainable	solution	for	the	widows	that	
ensures living decent lives. 

As far as construction and equipment of the current 
hostel is concerned, Unity Club partnered with the 
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD), Bank of Kigali 
(BK), Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB), National 
Agricultural Export Development Board (NAEB), Rwanda 
Utilities Regulatory Authority (RURA) and Ministry of 
Defense (MINADEF).

No more devastation to homes as  
BRD Staff contribute to tree  
planting in a violent–winds prone Sector

In line with Rwanda’s National strategy for 
transformation (NST1), the Development Bank of 
Rwanda carried out a tree planting initiative following 
the Bank’s financial contribution that enabled the 
purchase of over 5000 trees which were planted by BRD 
staff on 24 November 2018 as they joined hundreds 
of residents of Karangazi Sector of Nyagatare District, 
Eastern Province, during the community service 
(Umuganda). 

This was done to support the promotion and sustainable 
management of the environment and natural resources 
to transition Rwanda towards a Green Economy – a key 
priority under the economic transformation pillar in the 
National strategy for transformation.

Isaac Uwanzwenuwe, a resident of Rwenyemera cell 
in Karangazi Sector observed that planted trees have 
a great value to reducing wind pressure which has 
previously devastated a church in Karangazi sector 
taking lives of two people and enable residents to stay in 
a better environment breathing fresh air. 

Following the Umuganda community work, BRD’s 
delegation joined residents and local leaders of 
Rwenyemera for a discussion, as the Chief Human 
Capital and Administrative Services Officer Madam 
Odeth Mbabazi, who led the BRD delegation assured the 
residents that the initiative of planting trees in Nyagatare 
district is part of the Bank’s existing program launched 
last year to plant 6000 trees in needy regions. 

“The number will increase depending on identified areas 
to be covered. Planted trees are an addition to 2000 
trees planted last year. Under this program, we plan to 
visit areas where we planted trees to ensure they are 
growing and maintained properly. 

Among the Bank’s priorities, we will assess whether 
planted trees are impacting the community as expected 

and we assure to sustain this initiative,” she emphasized.

The Tree seedlings, were provided by Compagnie 
Agricole et Environment (CAE), a non–governmental 
organization developing tree nurseries, which BRD has 
given financial support for the past eight years. 

The selection of the three varieties of tree seedlings 
to be planted namely Grevillea robusta, Leucaena and 
Acacia, was largely based on the importance attached 
to them. “These trees will contribute to climate change 
resilience in Nyagatare district, which is faced with trees 
shortage, excess heat and violent winds. 

They are also highly adaptable to Nyagatare climate 
given their heat resistance, crop friendly and most of 
them can provide livestock fodder which will also trigger 
the reduction of the number of herders intending to 
illegally stray in Akagera National Park,” explained Elisa 
Tumwesigye, the Program Manager at CAE. All planted 
trees are anticipated to minimize wind pressures which 
have been devastating buildings in the area.

Trees planted 
last year

Trees to be 
planted

2000 6000
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Vulnerable families are given lasting  
hope of developing their lives

During the commemoration of the 24th Genocide against 
Tutsi,	the	staff	of	the	Development	Bank	of	Rwanda	(BRD)	
travelled to Ndora sector in Gisagara district to donate 
cows to survivors of the Genocide against the Tutsis. 

The	delegation	led	by	BRD’s	Chief	Finance	Officer	Vincent	
Ngirikiringo, donated 11 cows along with animal medicines.

Vincent Ngirikiringo

As a way to rebuild and renew our 
nation, we commit ourselves to support 
all Rwandans with more home–grown 
solutions such as Girinka

He	emphasized	that	those	affected	by	the	Genocide	
require support and comfort to give them hope of 
developing their lives.

“A cow is not just a sign of wealth but also a symbol 
of love and hope,” he pointed out. “We appreciate 
BRD’s support to the survivors, let’s remember, renew 
and reunite for future generations and for a better 
future,” Jean Paul Hanganimana, the Gisagara Vice–
Mayor	in	charge	of	Economic	Affairs	remarked	as	he	
represented the Central government at the event.

One	of	the	beneficiaries,	Francine	Musabyimana,	was	
overjoyed by the donation and said that the milk from 
her cow will not only improve her family’s nutrition, but 
will also be shared with neighbors. 

A cow is a prized asset in the country’s tradition as it 
provides milk, meat as well the by products like the 
milk and butter are sole to the market which in turn 
generates a sustainable small income for the family 
to take care of health care, education and other basic 
needs.

The BRD delegation later visited the district’s new 
genocide	memorial,	which	was	partly	financed	through	
a Frw 4 million donation from the Bank. The visit came 
just	ahead	of	the	memorial’s	official	inauguration,	
during which over 50,000 Genocide victims were 
reburied in dignity.

OTHER CSR ACTIVITIES
1. In early March 2018, Rwanda experienced heavy 

rains	that	resulted	in	floods,	landslides,	hailstorms,	
mudslides,	rainstorms,	windstorms,	flashfloods	and	
more natural disasters which led to 217 deaths, 241 
serious injuries, 8,642 hectares of crops destroyed, 60 
roads and 42 bridges damaged, and 11,571 houses 
destroyed leaving 11,571 people homeless. 
The Development Bank of Rwanda, through the 
Ministry	of	Disaster	Management	and	Refugee	Affairs	
(MIDIMAR),	contributed	financially	towards	supporting	
the 11,571 families. The Bank’s donation was purposely 
to help in buying highly needed school materials for 
school–children	that	were	affected,	and	help	further	
their education seamlessly. 

2. The Bank, in collaboration with Anglican Church of 
Rwanda contributed towards the construction of a 
multi–purpose building, that is meant to host 600 
people	within	different	groups	formed	by	the	church	
and mainly composed of Women and Youth. The 
groups gather often and discuss their lives, generate 
ideas around small income projects and more. These 
meetings	are	specifically	geared	towards	addressing	
the	different	issues	amongst	their	community	such	
as drug addiction, alcoholism, domestic violence and 
street children among others. This platform will go a 
long way in availing resources and opportunities to set 
up sustainable youth and women initiatives that impact 
young people of all walks of life to contribute together 
to the social–economic development of the Rwandan 
community.

3. BRD extended financial support to Rwanda Clot 
Awareness Network – a network formed by blood clot 
patients in Rwanda to raise public awareness against 
the thrombosis condition. The Bank’s contribution 
helped in organizing campaigns and sensitizing the 
public about this killer disease and how to prevent it. 
The	Bank	staff	also	undertook	a	public	lecture	on	the	
killer disease.

4. In the spirit of celebrating Rwanda’s Heroes day, the 
Bank	once	again	joined	efforts	with	Foundation for 
the youth future – an NGO that was set up by retired 
RDF soldiers with a purpose of mobilizing support for 
former RDF disabled war veterans and their families. 
The	Bank	offered	financial	support	to	purchase	
construction materials particularly, tiles and bags 
of cement which were used for building a modern 
communal kraal to safely accommodate all the cattle 
of the 92 families. 

2018 STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENTS

Among the Bank’s priorities is to increase strategic 
partnerships through participating in international 
and local events, conferences and exhibitions through 
sponsorships.	These	events	offer	an	opportunity	to	
the Bank to interact with potential investors and target 
audiences as well as a platform and business window to 
manufacturers of goods and services in Rwanda, hence 
targeting to bring new investments. The Bank registered 
participation in the following key events:

1. BRD	Staff	participated	in	the	Live2Lead conference – a 
leader’s development program by John Maxwell. The 
Staff	attended	the	leadership	training	by	a	certified	
John Maxwell coach under AB Leadership Solutions, 
which was aimed at building a high performing and 
self–driven team at BRD as well as to equip corporate 
leaders and business owners with new perspectives, 
practical tools and key takeaways to steer them to 
exceptional leadership traits and personal awareness.

2. As carried out every year, the Bank sponsored 
the 20th International Annual Trade Fair which 
is organized by the Private Sector Federation in 
partnership with the Ministry of Trade and Industry 
(MINICOM). The trade fair attracts over 1,000 
international	and	local	exhibitors,	offering	an	ideal	
platform and business window to manufacturers 
of goods and services hence targeting to bring new 
investments to the country and also support SMEs.

3. In collaboration with AgriProFocus – a network that 
promotes Agriculture as a Business by organizing 
events	that	bring	farmers	and	financiers	together,	
BRD contributed towards the Agri–finance & Market 
Linkages exhibition which took place on 30th – 
31st August 2018 – with an aim of addressing the 
information	gap	on	financial	services	by	offering	a	
market linkage opportunity.

4. BRD supported the Rwanda Association for the 
promotion of sports among workforce – a club 
created in 2017 in partnership with the Ministry of 
Public Service and Labour (MIFOTRA) and the Ministry 
of Sports and Culture, with an aim of promoting and 
developing a sports culture in Rwanda, particularly 
among the workers. The Bank’s contribution was 
to facilitate in the organization of inter–institution 
tournaments in several disciplines like soccer, 
volleyball and basketball. 
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5. In the aspect of plugging into and sponsoring strategic 
forums and events, BRD sponsored the International 
Conference	on	responsible	and	inclusive	finance	
and the Africa Green Revolution Forum (AGRF). 
These forums presented a chance to network with 
participants who included potential partners and also 
showcase the Bank’s investment and partnership 
opportunities.

6. In partnership with Ministry of Agriculture, the Bank 
sponsored the agricultural exhibition. This annual 
event aims at giving an opportunity to people in the 
agriculture sector to showcase their products and 
services to both Rwandans and the international.

7. BRD	&	Carnegie	Training:	Representatives	of	financial	
institutions who undertook trainings on international 
sales contract as well as on Environmental and Social 
Management System (E–SMS) ended and received 
certificates,	as	part	of	ongoing	initiatives	by	BRD	in	
partnership with Carnegie Consult to provide technical 
assistance	to	financial	institutions	on	efficient	use	
of Export Growth Financing (EGF) managed by the 
Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD). These trainings, 
funded by the German Development Bank (KfW), are 
organized with the aim of equipping participating 
partner Banks with knowledge on the outlines of 
the international legal systems that exist worldwide 
and to promote Export Growth. Participants were 
from	BPR	Atlas	Mara,	I&M	Bank	Plc,	Bank	of	Kigali	Plc,	
Cogebanque and Equity Bank Rwanda.

8. REF Launch in Nyanza and Nyaruguru Districts: In 
October 2018, Nyanza and Nyaruguru Districts were 
the 3rd and 4th locations respectively, in which BRD 
launched	renewable	energy	financing,	as	part	of	the	
REF Window 1. The Bank was represented by REF 
Project	Manager	Hector	Mutijima	&	Energy	Investment	
Officer	Mitali	Innocent,	who	were	joined	by	Nyagisozi	
sector leaders and Rwanda Energy Group Ltd/EDCL 
officials. 
At the launch, four partner companies (BBOXX 
Rwanda, Mobisol Rwanda, Ignite POWER – Rwanda 
&	One	Acre	Fund)	presented	solar	home	systems	
with	discounts	&	BRD	informed	residents	that	energy	
funds have been already availed to SACCO Ganaheza 
Nyagisozi.

9. REF Launch and Umuganda in Nyamagabe District: 
BRD	staff	joined	Nyamagabe	District	residents	in	
Mugano sector, for Umuganda community work 
where they helped to smooth out the ground on 
which new buildings of Nyarusazi primary school 
will be built. After the Umuganda, BRD launched the 
REF Window 1, as part of its programs to avail loans 

to	facilitate	citizens’	access	to	off–grid	solar	energy	
through	SACCOs	&	commercial	Banks,	in	partnership	
with the Rwanda Ministry of Infrastructure, Rwanda 
Energy Group Ltd, Mobisol Rwanda, BBOXX _Rwanda 
&	Ignite	POWER	–	Rwanda.	 
MININFRA’s State Minister in Charge of Energy, Water 
&	Sanitation	graced	the	event	and	joined	BRD	Energy	
Investment	Officer	Innocent	Mitali	&	the	solar	energy	
partner companies to present solar systems to be 
paid in installments through SACCOs.

10. BRD	&	SIDA	launch	Guarantee	Fund:	BRD	and	the	
Embassy of Sweden in Kigali launched a $20M 
Guarantee following an agreement between the 
Bank and the Swedish International Development 
Cooperation Agency (SIDA), for lending in the 
Renewable Energy sector.  
 
The BRD CEO explained that the Guarantee, which 
spans	over	8	years	will	facilitate	access	to	finance	for	
private	actors	involved	in	the	provision	of	affordable	
renewable energy solutions in Rwanda. $5 Million will 
be	for	direct	lending	from	BRD	to	qualified	borrowers	
while $15 Million will be made available for lending 
through	on–lending	financial	institutions	(	Banks,	
SACCOS...)	to	qualified	borrowers. 
 
Sweden’s Ambassador to Rwanda Jenny Ohlsson 
noted in her remarks that Sweden equally shares 
the risk (50%) of BRD’s or the on–lending institutions’ 
net	losses,	and	that	in	an	effort	to	encourage	female	
qualified	borrowers	to	apply,	the	equivalent	share	
goes up to 70%. 
 
Both the Ambassador and BRD’s CEO emphasized 
they are honored that the institutions they lead 
are partnering on this project, which will see the 
livelihoods of many Rwandan citizens changed.

PARTNERS
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Financing domestic 
production and exports
BRD’s has financed the exports sector with an aim of enhancing 
growth of domestic production and exports to generate foreign 
exchange reduce imports and improve the balance of payment. 
Manufacturing industries have been financed as well to produce 
high quality products so as to boost the domestic production and 
reduce imports.

we empower you

FUTURE. FOCUSED.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

The Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) has renewed 
confidence	this	year	presenting	improved	financial	results	
for 2018 against the backdrop of a very challenging picture 
in 2017.

This improvement was achieved on the back of tight 
reviews	and	effective	monitoring	of	the	quality	of	the	
loan book, accelerated recovery processes for the non 
performing	and	the	written	off	loan	book,	reduced	losses	
on	equity	investments	and	increased	efficiency	controls	of	
administrative costs. 

Key Performance Metrics
The focus of Management over they the year has been 
to	steadily	and	progressively	improve	profitability	and	
stem down losses. This has been realised is on account 
of both improved operational performance, loan quality 
and containment of administrative costs. Losses were 
reduced by 80% to Frw 3.3 billion (Frw 16.5 billion; 2017), 
whilst	recoveries	from	the	written	off	loan	book	closed	at	
Frw 1.5 billion (Frw 0.7 billion; 2017). The return on equity 
improved to – 5.6% ( – 35%: 2017) while return on assets 
improved to – 1.4% ( – 7%: 2017).

2017

2017

2018

2018

–7.0%

–35.0%

–1.4%

–5.6%

 d Return of assets

 d Return of equity

Interest Income
There has been modest growth in Interest income by 2% 
this year due to few loan investments in light of the focus 
on cleaning the loan book and steadying the performance 
of loan accounts. On the other hand, Interest expense 
increased by 5% over the same period largely due the 
depreciation of the Franc (local currency) and increasing 
LIBOR rates. On the balance of operations, Interest 
expense exceeded interest income by Frw 174 million and 
hence a reduction of 2% in net interest income thereby 
reducing net interest margin to 4% ( 6%: 2017). 

Loan Impairments
This was the biggest challenge of the Bank in 2017 
and there has been improvement in 2018 despite the 
readiness for IFRS 9. Net loan impairments reduced 
substantially by 73% closing at Frw 3.4 billion (Frw 12.6 
billion;	2017).	The	Bank’s	deliberate	effort	to	clean	up	the	
loan	book	paid–off	through	improved	loan	quality.	In	the	
year	under	review,	the	thrust	of	the	Bank’s	effort	was	to	
contain the quality of the loan book within acceptable 
levels while fast tracking recovery processes. 

Equity Investments
The	Bank	had	previously	provided	financing	through	equity	
investments to various companies reported as Investments 
in associates and Equity investments at fair value through 
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) which the Bank 
monitors through Board representation and Boards of 
Investee Companies. This ensures that the operations are 
run in a way that guarantees performance and delivery of 
the intended development impact.

However, as many of the latter are start–ups carrying 
higher	risks,	the	Bank	regularly	reviews	their	financial	
performance through impairment assessment for 
Associates and fair value reviews/remeasurements through 
OCI. Therefore, in the year under review total losses herein 
Frw 2.4 billion a reduction by 52% (Frw 4.9 billion;2017). 
Suffice	to	note	however	that	Investments	of	this	kind	
constitute a small portion (9%) the total Banks’s portfolio.

The foregoing notwithstanding, the Bank continues to 
work closely with investees to ensure that their respective 
operations	run	more	efficiently.	This	will	increase	the	
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2017

2018

216

236

 d Total assets growth (Frw billion)prospect	that	these	investees	deliver	the	target	financial	
returns and development impact.

Foreign Exchange Losses
Foreign currency exchange (FX) risk is an ongoing 
challenge, k emanating from the fact that the bulk of the 
investible funds are obtained as foreign currency debt 
mostly in United States dollars (USD), while lending is 
largely in local currency (Frw). Consequently, as the foreign 
currency appreciates, foreign exchange losses increase. 
Thus in 2018 these losses increased by 66% to Frw 2.8 
billion (Few 1.7 billion; 2017) driven by the USD liability net 
open position.

However, the Bank devised some strategies of mitigating 
the	potential	effects	of	this	risk	by	contracting	currency	
swap hedges with the Central Bank and lending in foreign 
currencies for qualifying customers. The Bank is also 
sourcing for cheaper investible funds with better interest 
margins and other alternative ways of hedging instruments 
going forward

Administrative Costs
Administrative costs including employee costs, 
depreciation/amortisation of assets, other operating 
expenses and provisions of receivables reduced by 32% to 
Frw 6.5 billion (Frw 9.7 billion: 2017). This was as result as a 
result of focusing on containing operating expenses within 
the set limits and making timely recoveries of the long 
outstanding receivables in the Bank’s book. 

Capital Investments
One of the main achievements in 2018 was the successful 
implementation of a new suite of industry standard 
Business Management Systems that include a core 
Banking system T24 provided by TEMENOS and an ERP 
system provided by ORACLE. In addition, the Bank has also 
implemented a loan origination system FOS to ensure full 
integration	and	high	efficiency	in	service	delivery	to	Bank	
customers on consistent basis. This will boost service 
reliability; fast response times is client turn–around and 
effective	monitoring	and	reporting.	

Assets Portifolio
Total assets increased by 9% closing at Frw 236 billion ( 
Frw 216 billion: 2017) with a modest growth in the loan 
book, increased value of properties mainly land due to 
revaluations done in the year and considerable increase 
liquidity by the close of the year.

Loans and Advances
Gross loans and advances grew by 7% to Frw 178 billion 
(Frw 166 billion: 2017) riding on increased disbursements 
made in the year. 

Provisions against open exposures increased by 69% to 
close at Frw 12.8 billion (Frw 7.6 billion: 2017). This was 
largely driven by the adoption a new International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS 9– Financial Instruments) 
effective	January	2018.	This	standard	introduced	
aggressive and more conservative approaches in in making 
of loan provisions.

Consequently, the NPL ratio increased to 19.3% (16.3%: 
2017). However, the Bank has instituted aggressive 
measures to improve the quality of its loan portfolio and 
recovery	of	NPL	and	written	off	loans	during	2019.	On	final	
balance, Net loans and advances grew by 1% closing at Frw 
158 billion (Frw 155 billion: 2017).

2017

2018

166

178

 d Gross loans and advances (Frw billion)

+7%

2017

2018

7.6

12.8

 d Provisions against open exposures 

+69%

2017

2018

16.3%

19.34%

 d NPL ratio for 2017 and 2018

The distribution of the Bank’s gross loan portfolio as at 
31	December	2018	among	different	economic	sectors	is	
illustrated as follows:

SP	&	
Infrastructure

Exports

Agriculture

Energy

Education

Housing

42% 35%

10%

4%

6%
3%

 d Gross Loan Portfolio distribution (%)

Borrowings
In partnership with various lenders like AFDB, BEDGL, 
borrowings increased by 5% to Frw 157 billion (Frw 148 
billion: 2017) on the back of lines of credit drawn down 
during the year. Borrowings one for by which the Bank 
funds loans and advances. As the quality and performance 
of our loan book improves in 2019 and beyond, we expect 
to have substantial increases in borrowings at cheaper 
rates	to	finance	the	growing	need	for	development	
projects and programmes as per the core Bank mandate.

Equity Injection 
In year under review, the Bank received new equity to a 
tune	of	Frw	31.8	billion.	This	significantly	enhanced	the	
Bank’s capital adequacy and thereby increased capacity to 
lend and mobilise new debt resources. Therefore debt–to–
equity ratio improved to 2.44 times (3.9 times:2017) aided 
by this new recapitalization. 

OUTLOOK

The Development Bank of Rwanda looks ahead with 
confidence	to	achieve	better	post	good	results	in	the	year	
ahead

We have progressively established a healthy loan book 
through enhanced loan origination procedures and 
credit appraisals processes to drive interest income, 
our main source. We are now well poised to exploit the 
opportunities in all of the sectors and hence a growth 
target of 24% in the loan book by end of 2019. 

Financial sustainability remains a key strategic imperative 
and we will continue to focus on improving the net 
interest margin, cost containment and balance sheet 
strengthening. This will be coupled with tight, foreign 
exchange and liquidity management.

We realised improvement in our sales performance in the 
first	quarter	of	2019	by	the	loans	booked,	which	confirms	
a positive outlook for the business year. Albeit there is –still 
need	for	more	efforts	in	recovery	strategies	to	ensure	the	
Non–performing loan ratio is reduced to acceptable levels 
and	higher	recoveries	on	written	off	book.	

Cost	control	and	operating	efficiency	are	key	to	gross	profit	
margin stability and continued growth and long–term 
profitability.	We	are	confident	in	our	ability	to	become	
even	more	cost–effective	and	achieving	significantly	better	
performance over the coming year.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

DIRECTORS AND STATUTORY INFORMATION

Directors
The directors that served during the period and to the date of this report are shown below:

Mr. Francis Mugisha, Chairman
Mr. Eric Rwigamba, Non–Executive Director
Mrs. Agnes Kanyangeyo, Non–Executive Director
Mr. Cyrille Hategekimana, Non–Executive Director
Mr. Johan Debarm, Non–Executive Director
Mrs. Antonina Rutembesa Kayitesi, Non–Executive Director
Mr. Athanase Rutabingwa, Non–Executive Director
Mr. Patrick Mwesige, Non–Executive Director
Mr. Eric Kwizera Gasana, Non–Executive Director

Company Secretary
Ms. Loyce K. Bamwine 
Development Bank of Rwanda Limited
KN 3 Ave, Boulevard de la Revolution
P. O Box 1341 Kigali, Rwanda

Auditors
Ernst	&	Young	Rwanda	Limited,	Certified	Public	Accountants
M–Peace Plaza – 6th Floor, Executive Wing
P. O. Box 3638 Kigali – Rwanda

Registered	office	&	Principal	place	of	business
Development Bank of Rwanda Building
KN 3 Ave, Boulevard de la Revolution
P. O Box 1341 Kigali, Rwanda.

Lawyers
MRB Attorneys Ltd  P. O. Box 682 Kigali, Rw 

Kigali Allied Advocates (KAA) Ltd  P. O. Box 675 Kigali, Rw 

Barezi Marie Aimée  P. O. Box 5035 Kigali, Rw 

Bimenyimana Eric  P. O. Box 4067 Kigali, Rw 

Kayihura Muganga Didas  P. O. Box 6368 Kigali, Rw 

Kazeneza Theophile  P. O. Box 1635 Kigali, Rw 

Mafaranga Anastas  P. O. Box 2845 Kigali, Rw 

Rwigema Vincent  P. O. Box 2653 Kigali, Rw 

DIRECTORS’  REPORT

The	directors	submit	their	report	together	with	the	audited	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2018,	which	disclose	the	state	
of	affairs	of	Development	Bank	of	Rwanda	(“BRD”	or	“the	Bank”).

Incorporation
Development Bank of Rwanda Limited (BRD) is a Public Limited Liability Company created by the law on August 5, 1967. However, pursuant 
to Law No. 14/2011 of 30/05/2011, BRD ceased to be governed by an Act of Parliament and changed into a Public Company limited by shares 
in	accordance	with	the	previous	Law	No.	7/2009	relating	to	companies.	BRD	is	a	development	finance	institution	dedicated	to	becoming	“the	
financier	of	Rwanda’s	development”.

BRD’s	vision	is	“To	be	an	innovative	and	sustainable	provider	of	development	finance	for	socio–economic	impact”.	For	more	than	50	years	the	
bank	has	been	at	the	forefront	of	economic	development	in	Rwanda	through	investment	financing	in	different	sectors	of	the	economy.	In	its	
triple role as “Financier, Advisor and Partner”, Development Bank of Rwanda (BRD) continues to fund development in the country through direct 
investments.

Principal activity
The	principal	activity	of	the	Bank	is	development	finance	lending	through	direct	and	indirect	equity	holdings,	or	other	stocks	and	granting	of	short,	
medium– and long–term loans.

Results
The	results	for	the	year	are	set	out	on	page	8	of	the	financial	statements.

Dividend
The directors do not recommend the payment of dividends for the year (2017: Nil).

Directorate
The Directors who served during the year are set out on page 80.

Auditors
Ernst	&	Young	Rwanda	Limited	have	been	appointed	as	Auditors	of	the	bank	commencing	2016	in	accordance	with	Regulation	No.	04/2009.	In	
accordance with the auditor rotation regulations issued by the National Bank of Rwanda, the term of the bank’s current auditor has ended.

By order of the Board

............................................................................

Chairman

Date: 01 April, 2019
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’  RESPONSIBILITIES

The	Bank’s	Directors	are	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	financial	statements,	comprising	the	statement	of	financial	
position	at	31	December	2018,	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	income,	statement	of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	
of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements,	which	include	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	
other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Regulation No: 03/2016 of 24/06/2016 
issued by the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR), Law No. 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 relating to companies and Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 
Governing	Banks	in	Rwanda	and	for	such	internal	control	as	the	Directors	determine	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	of	financial	
statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

The Directors’ responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of	these	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error;	selecting	and	applying	appropriate	
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. They are also responsible for safe guarding the 
assets of the company.

The	Directors	accept	responsibility	for	the	financial	statements	set	out	on	pages	9	to	98,	which	have	been	prepared	using	appropriate	accounting	
policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Regulation No: 03/2016 of 24/06/2016 issued by the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR), Law No: 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 
relating	to	companies	and	Law	No:	47/2017	of	23/9/2017	governing	Banks	in	Rwanda.	The	Directors	are	of	the	opinion	that	the	financial	
statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	the	financial	affairs	and	the	profit	and	cash	flow	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2018.

The Directors have made an assessment of the bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe the business will not 
be a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this statement.

The	Auditor	is	responsible	for	reporting	on	whether	the	annual	financial	statements	are	fairly	presented	in	accordance	with	the	International	
Financial Reporting Standards and the Regulation No: 03/2016 of 24/06/2016 issued by the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR), Law No: 17/2018 of 
13/04/2018 relating to companies and Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Governing Banks in Rwanda.

Approval	of	the	financial	statements
The	financial	statements	which	appear	on	pages	85	to	89	were	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	signed	on	its	behalf	by:

......................................................................................... .........................................................................................

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Date: 01 April, 2019

TO THE MEMBERS OF DEVELOPMENT BANK OF RWANDA PLC
REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Opinion 
We	 have	 audited	 the	 accompanying	 financial	 statements	 of	
Development Bank of Rwanda (“the Bank”) as set out on pages 
9	 to	 98.	 These	 financial	 statements	 comprise	 the	 statement	
of	 financial	 position	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2018,	 the	 statement	
of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity 
and	 the	statement	of	 cash	flows	 for	 the	year	 then	ended,	and	a	
summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	
notes.

In	 our	 opinion,	 the	 financial	 statements	 presents	 fairly	 in	 all	
material	 respects,	 of	 the	 financial	 position	 of	 the	 Bank	 as	 at	 31	
December	2018	and	of	 its	 financial	performance	and	cash	flows	
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, the requirements of the Law No: 17/2018 
of 13/04/2018 relating to companies, Regulation No: 03/2016 of 
24/06/2016 issued by the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) and Law 
No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Governing Banks in Rwanda.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Bank in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional	Accountants	 (IESBA	Code),	 and	we	have	 fulfilled	our	
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. 
We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the Directors’ Report, as required by Law 
No: 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 relating to companies and Law No: 
47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Governing Banks in Rwanda which we 
obtained prior to the date of this report, and the Annual Report, 
which is expected to be made available to us after that date. Other 
information	 does	 not	 include	 the	 financial	 statements	 and	 our	
auditor’s report thereon.

Our	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	does	not	cover	the	other	
information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In	 connection	 with	 our	 audit	 of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 our	
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with	 the	 financial	 statements	 or	 our	 knowledge	 obtained	 in	 the	
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information 
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate 
the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Directors
Directors	 are	 responsible	 for	 the	 preparation	 of	 financial	
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and with the 
requirements of Law No. 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 relating to 
companies, Law No: 47/2017 of 23/9/2017 Governing Banks in 
Rwanda, and for such internal control as management determines 
is	 necessary	 to	 enable	 the	 preparation	 of	 financial	 statements	
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In	 preparing	 the	 financial	 statements,	 Directors	 are	 responsible	
for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing 
the	Company’s	financial	reporting	process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the	 financial	 statements	 as	 a	 whole	 are	 free	 from	 material	
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate,	 they	 could	 reasonably	 be	 expected	 to	 influence	 the	
economic	decisions	of	users	taken	on	the	basis	of	these	financial	
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:–

 f Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 whether	 due	 to	 fraud	
or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that	 is	 sufficient	 and	 appropriate	 to	 provide	 a	
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 f  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	
of the Bank’s internal control.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements

 f • Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
directors. 

 f  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that	 may	 cast	 significant	 doubt	 on	 the	 Bank’s	 ability	
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures	 in	 the	 financial	 statements	 or,	 if	 such	
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 f  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content	 of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures,	 and	 whether	 the	 financial	 statements	
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 f 	Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	
the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 entities	 or	 business	
activities within the group to express an opinion on 
the	 financial	 statements.	We	 are	 responsible	 for	 the	
direction, supervision and performance of the Bank 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

 f  We communicate with the directors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit	 and	 significant	 audit	 findings,	 including	 any	
significant	 deficiencies	 in	 internal	 control	 that	 we	
identify during our audit. 

 f We	also	confirm	that	we	have	complied	with	relevant	
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

Report on other Legal Requirements
Law No. Law No. 17/2018 of 13/04/2018 relating to 
companies requires that in carrying out our audit we 
consider and report to you on the following matters. We 
confirm	that:

i. There are no circumstances that may create a threat 
to our independence as auditor of the Company;

ii.  We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

iii.  In our opinion proper books of account have been 
kept by the Company, so far as appears from our 
examination of those books; and

iv.  We have communicated to the Company’s Board of 
Directors, through a separate management letter, 
internal	control	matters	identified	in	the	course	of	our	
audit including our recommendations in relation to 
those matters.

Allan Gichuhi
For Ernst & Young Rwanda Limited, Kigali
01 April, 2019

Report of the independent auditor – Continued STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The	notes	set	out	on	pages	89	to	151	form	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.

  Note 2018 2017

  Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Interest income 4 21,136,026 20,735,845

Interest expense 5 (11,673,787) (11,099,902)

Net interest income 9,462,239 9,635,943

Fee and commission income 6 (a) 322,160 385,050

Fee and commission expense 6 (b) (351,141) (442,758)

Net fee and commission expense (28,981) (57,708)

Net trading income 9,433,258 9,578,235

Net foreign exchange losses 7 (2,816,598) (1,695,914)

Other operating income 8 1,203,656 970,462

Net operating income 7,820,316 8,852,783

Net impairment charge on loans and advances 9 (3,425,355) (12,556,843)

Loss	on	derivative	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	 11 (149,608) (352,898)

  (3,574,963) (12,909,741)

Operating income /(loss) 4,245,353 (4,056,958)

Share	of	(loss)/profit	of	investment	in	associates 10 (i) (210,942) 11,224

Impairment –Investments in Associates 10 (ii) (758,673) (2,739,657)

Employee	benefits	expense 12 (i) (3,976,349) (3,843,346)

Depreciation and amortization 22 (663,315) (561,898)

Other operating expenses 12 (ii) (1,901,640) (2,388,764)

Decline in fair value of investment properties 12 (iii) – (750,000)

Impairment of other assets 12 (iv) – (2,143,398)

Loss for the year (3,265,566) (16,472,797)

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that may never be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Fair Value Loss on Equity investments at fair value through OCI 17 (b) (1,387,143) –

Fair Value gain/(Loss) on available for sale equity investments 17 (b) – (2,213,857)

Fair Value gain/(Loss) on Redeemable preference shares 17 (c)           –  (855,328)

(1,387,143) (3,069,185)

Items	that	may	be	subsequently	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss

Revaluation gain on Property, plant and equipment 22 4,669,491             –

  4,669,491 –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 16,782 (19,541,982)
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The	financial	statements	which	appear	on	pages	85	to	89	were	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	signed	on	its	behalf	by:

......................................................................................... .........................................................................................

Chairman Chief Executive Officer
Date: 01 April, 2019 Date: 01 April, 2019

The	notes	set	out	on	pages	90	to	152	form	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

  Note 2018 2017

    Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Assets      

Cash and balances with the National Bank of Rwanda 15 (a) 4,505,365 1,406,464

Amounts due from other banks 15 (b) 29,866,486 20,103,489

Loans and advances 16 157,671,998 155,374,026

Investment in associates 17 (a) 8,589,782 8,960,624

Equity investments at fair value through OCI 17 (b) 14,671,362 15,270,159

Derivative Financial Instruments 18 1,536,315 1,214,611

Other assets 19 5,068,483 2,213,627

Investment Properties 20 21,015 1,037,015

Intangible assets 21 864,803 792,530

Property and equipment 22 13,741,073 9,742,645

Total Assets   236,536,682 216,115,190

Liabilities  

Dividends payable   11,017 11,017

Other payables 23 8,101,429 11,526,668

Borrowings 24 155,557,822 148,549,278

Special funds 25 6,690,087 17,676,459

Grants 26 2,519,458 517,037

Total Liabilities   172,879,813 178,280,459

Equity  

Share capital 27 (a) 39,100,308 7,258,230

Share premium 27 (b) 11,665,569 11,665,569

Other reserves 28 22,334,606 19,052,258

Retained earnings   (9,443,614) (141,326)

Total Equity   63,656,869 37,834,731

Total Equity And Liabilities   236,536,682 216,115,190
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Note 2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities
Profit/(loss)	before	income	tax (3,265,566) (16,472,797)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property and equipment 22 500,198 442,992

Amortisation of intangible assets 21 163,117 118,906

Adjustments	and	write	off	on	intangible	assets 21 24,475              –

Adjustments	and	write	off	on	property	and	equipment 22 177,663 (1,054)

Gain	on	disposal	of	fixed	assets 8 (7,911) (448)

Gain on disposal of repossessed assets 8 (294,450)           –

Share	of	profit	/in	investments	in	associates 210,942 (11,224)

Impairment – Investments in Associates 10 758,673 2,739,657

Net Fair Value Loss – on Derivative Instrument 11 149,608 352,898

Net foreign exchange losses 7 2,816,598 1,695,914

Decline in fair value of investment properties 12 (iii) – 750,000

Impairment of investment properties and other assets 12 (iv) – 2,143,398

Interest accrued on borrowings 4,052,088 3,641,349

Cash flows before changes in operating accounts 5,285,435 (4,600,409)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans and advances 16 (2,297,973) (3,433,998)

Other assets 19 (2,854,856) 9,481,047

Other payables 23 (3,425,232) (5,363,397)

Net	payment	on	Derivative	financial	instruments (321,705) (317,029)

Net cash generated from operating activities (3,614,330) (4,233,786)

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities
Purchase of property and equipment 22 (20,797) (236,282)

Purchase of intangible assets 21 (340,885) (605,380)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 85,788 7,023

Purchase of equity investments 17 (b) (500,000) (5,308)

Purchase of Investment in Associates 17 (a) (598,773) –

Proceeds from sale of equity investments 17 (b) 35,250 –

Disposal of investment property 1,310,450 –

Net cash flows from investing activities (28,967) (839,947)

Note 2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities
Drawdown of borrowings 32,696,112 27,617,595

Repayment of borrowings (28,904,490) (17,465,509)

Drawdown of special funds 1,166,929 42,241

Repayment in special funds (139,276) (401,551)

Increase in grants 26 2,002,079 –

Share buy back – (73,805)

Additional Capital (Cash) 9,257,592 –

Net cash flows from financing activities 16,078,946 9,718,971

Net (Decrease)/Increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,435,648 4,645,238

Net	Foreign	exchange	difference 426,252 (195,562)

Cash and Cash equivalents at the start of the year 15 21,509,953 17,060,277

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 34,371,854 21,509,953

Operating	cash	flows	from	interests	and	dividends
Interest paid 11,237,571 8,668,522

Interest received 13,885,921 11,902,182

Dividends received 98,850 240,008

Statement	of	Cash	flows	–	Continued



90          A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

D E V E L O P M E N T  B A N K  O F  R W A N D A w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           91

w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           91

Notes	to	the	financial	statements	–	Continued

1. Reporting Entity
Development Bank of Rwanda (the “ Bank”) is a Public 
Limited Liability Company created by the law of August 
5,	1967	with	its	head	office	in	Kigali,	Rwanda.	The	Bank	is	
primarily	a	development	finance	institution	dedicated	to	
becoming	“the	financier	of	Rwanda’s	development”.

The	Bank’s	principal	office	address	is:

Development Bank of Rwanda Limited KN3 Ave, Kigali
P.O. Box 1341
Kigali – Rwanda.

2. Basis of Preparation 

a) Basis of accounting
The	Bank’s	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards	Board	(IASB).	The	financial	statements	have	
been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
except equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive	income,	derivative	financial	instruments,	
investment properties, land and buildings that have been 
measured	at	fair	value..	The	financial	statements	have	been	
presented	in	Rwandan	Francs	(Frw)	rounded	off	to	the	
nearest thousand (Frw ‘000).

b) Going concern
The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the 
Bank’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern	and	is	satisfied	
that the Bank has the resources to continue in business 
for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the management 
is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast 
significant	doubt	upon	the	Bank’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	
going	concern.	Therefore,	the	financial	statements	have	
been prepared on the going concern basis.

c) Use of estimates and judgements
The	preparation	of	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	
IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and	assumptions	that	affect	the	application	of	accounting	
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 
of	the	financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of	
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

The estimates and assumptions are based on the 
Directors’ best knowledge of current events, actions, 
historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgments 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may	differ	from	these	estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an on–going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period which the estimate is revised 
if	the	revision	affects	only	that	period	or	in	the	period	of	
the	revision	and	future	periods	if	the	revision	affects	both	
current and future periods. In particular, information about 
significant	areas	of	estimation	and	critical	judgments	in	
applying	accounting	policies	that	have	the	most	significant	
effect	on	the	amounts	recognised	in	the	financial	
statements are described in Note 30.

The	Bank	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	that	affect	the	
reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial	year.	Estimates	and	judgments	are	continually	
evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Bank regularly reviews its assets and makes judgments 
in determining whether an impairment loss should be 
recognized in respect of observable data that may impact 
on	future	estimated	cash	flows.	The	methodology	and	
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and 
timing	of	future	cash	flows	are	reviewed	regularly	to	reduce	
any	differences	between	loss	estimates	and	actual	loss	
experience.

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The	specific	counter	party	component	of	the	total	
allowances for impairment applies to claims evaluated 
individually for impairment and is based upon 
management’s best estimate of the present value of the 
cash	flows	that	are	expected	to	be	received.	In	estimating	
these	cash	flows,	management	makes	judgments	about	
counter	party’s	financial	situation.	Each	impaired	asset	is	
assessed on its merits, and the workout unit estimates 
of	cash	flows	considered	recoverable	are	independently	
reviewed by the Management Committee.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Collectively assessed impairment allowances cover 
credit losses inherent in portfolios of claims with similar 
economic characteristics when there is objective evidence 
to suggest that they contain impaired claims, but the 
individual	impaired	items	cannot	yet	be	identified.	In	
assessing the need for collective loan loss allowances, 
management considers factors such as credit quality, 
portfolio size, concentrations, and economic factors. In 
order to estimate the required allowance, assumptions 
are	made	to	define	the	way	inherent	losses	are	modelled	
and to determine the required input parameters, based 
on historical experience and current economic conditions. 
The accuracy of the allowances depends on how well the 
estimated	future	cash	flows	for	specific	counter	party	
allowances and the model assumptions and parameters 
used in determining collective allowances.

Determining fair values
The	determination	of	fair	value	for	financial	assets	and	
liabilities for which there is no observable market price 
requires	the	use	of	valuation	techniques.	For	financial	
instruments that trade infrequently and have little price 
transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires 
varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, 
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing 
assumptions	and	other	risks	affecting	the	specific	
instrument. The principal accounting policies applied in 
the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	set	out	
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all 
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Revaluation of Land and Buildings
The Bank carries its Land and Buildings at fair value, with 
changes in fair value being recognised in OCI. The land and 
buildings were valued using direct comparison method 
and replacement cost method. The Bank engaged an 
independent valuation specialist to assess fair values as at 
31 December 2018 for the Land and Buildings.

3.	Significant	Accounting	Policies

(a)  Current versus non–current classification
The Bank presents assets and liabilities in the notes based 
on	current/non–current	classification.	An	asset	is	current	
when it is expected:

 f to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in 
the normal operating cycle

 f to be realised within twelve months after the reporting 
period or

 f Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being 
exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period

All	other	assets	are	classified	as	non–current.

A liability is current when:

 f It is expected to be settled in the normal operating 
cycle

 f It is due to be settled within twelve months after the 
reporting period Or

 f There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period

 f The	Bank	classifies	all	other	liabilities	as	non–current.

b) Recognition of income and expense

i)  The effective interest rate method
Under both IFRS 9 and IAS 39, interest income is 
recorded	using	the	effective	interest	rate	(EIR)	method	
for	all	financial	instruments	measured	at	amortised	cost,	
financial	instruments	designated	at	FVPL.	Interest	income	
on	interest	bearing	financial	assets	measured	at	FVOCI	
under	IFRS	9,	similarly	to	interest	bearing	financial	assets	
classified	as	available–for–sale	or	held	to	maturity	under	
IAS 39 are also recorded by using the EIR method. The 
EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash	receipts	through	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset.

The	effective	interest	method	is	a	method	of	calculating	
the	amortised	cost	of	a	financial	asset	or	a	financial	liability	
and of allocating the interest income or interest expense 
over	the	relevant	period.	The	effective	interest	rate	is	the	
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or	receipts	through	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the 
net	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset	or	financial	
liability.	When	calculating	the	effective	interest	rate,	the	
Bank	estimates	cash	flows	considering	all	contractual	
terms	of	the	financial	instrument	(for	example,	prepayment	
options) but does not consider future credit losses. The 
calculation includes all fees and points paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of 
the	effective	interest	rate,	transaction	costs	and	all	other	
premiums or discounts.
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Notes to the financial statements – ContinuedNotes to the financial statements – Continued

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the asset) is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of 
the EIR. The Bank recognises interest income using a rate 
of return that represents the best estimate of a constant 
rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, it 
recognises	the	effect	of	potentially	different	interest	rates	
charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the 
product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest 
and charges).

If	expectations	regarding	the	cash	flows	on	the	financial	
asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk. The 
adjustment is booked as a positive or negative adjustment 
to the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of 
financial	position	with	an	increase	or	reduction	in	interest	
income. The adjustment is subsequently amortised 
through Interest and similar income in the income 
statement.

ii)  Interest and similar income
The Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to 
the	gross	carrying	amount	of	financial	assets	other	than	
credit–impaired assets.

When	a	financial	asset	becomes	credit–impaired	and	
is, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Bank calculates 
interest	income	by	applying	the	effective	interest	rate	to	
the	net	amortised	cost	of	the	financial	asset.	If	the	financial	
assets cures and is no longer credit–impaired, the Bank 
reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

For purchased or originated credit–impaired (POCI) 
financial	assets,	the	Bank	calculates	interest	income	by	
calculating the credit–adjusted EIR and applying that rate 
to the amortised cost of the asset. The credit–adjusted EIR 
is the interest rate that, at original recognition, discounts 
the	estimated	future	cash	flows	(including	credit	losses)	to	
the amortised cost of the POCI assets.

iii)  Fees and Commission
Fees and commission income and expense that are 
integral	to	the	effective	interest	rate	on	a	financial	asset	or	
financial	liability	are	included	in	the	measurement	of	the	
effective	interest	rate.

Other fees and commission income are recognised as the 
related services are performed.

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to 
transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the 
services are received.

iv)  Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive 
income is established. Usually, this is the ex–dividend date 
for quoted equity securities.

v)  Other income
Other income comprises of gains and income related to 
non–trading assets and liabilities, and includes all realised 
and unrealized fair value changes.

c)  Property and equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost or fair 
value, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Costs include expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality 
of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only	when	it	is	probable	that	future	economic	benefits	
associated	with	the	item	will	flow	to	the	Bank	and	the	cost	
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income statement during 
the	financial	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.

Property and equipment is de–recognised upon disposal 
or	when	no	future	economic	benefits	are	expected	to	arise	
from the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses 
arising on disposal of an item of property and equipment 
are determined by comparing the net proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of the item and is 
included	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	when	the	asset	is	
derecognised.

Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based 
on valuations by external independent valuers, less 
subsequent depreciation for buildings. Valuations are 
performed	with	sufficient	regularity	to	ensure	that	the	fair	
value	of	a	revalued	asset	does	not	differ	materially	from	its	
carrying amount.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive 
income and credited to the asset revaluation reserve in 
equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation 
deficit	of	the	same	asset	previously	recognised	in	profit	or	
loss,	the	increase	is	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	

A	revaluation	deficit	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	
profit	or	loss,	except	to	the	extent	that	it	offsets	an	
existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset 
revaluation reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of 
the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating 
to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained 
earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight–line basis, at 
annual	rates	estimated	to	write	off	the	cost	or	valuation	
of the assets over their estimated useful lives. The 
residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at 
each	financial	year	end	and	adjusted	prospectively,	if	
appropriate.

Management and directors review the residual value and 
useful life of an asset at the year end and any change 
considered to be appropriate in accounting estimate 
is recorded through the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Management assesses at each reporting date 
whether there is any indication that any item of property 
and equipment is impaired. If any such indication exists, 
Management estimates the recoverable amount of the 
relevant assets. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Work in progress is 
stated at cost and not depreciated. Transfer from work 
in progress is done when then the asset is ready for use. 
Depreciation on work in progress commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use. Depreciation 
is	calculated	to	write	off	the	cost	of	the	property	and	
equipment on a straight–line basis over the expected 
useful lives of the assets concerned. The rates for 
depreciation used are as follows:

d) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on 
initial recognition at cost. Acquired computer software 
licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred 
to	acquire	and	bring	to	use	the	specific	software.	Following	
initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Intangible	assets	with	finite	lives	are	amortised	over	
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a 
finite	useful	life	are	reviewed	at	least	at	the	end	of	each	
reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or 
the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits	embodied	in	the	asset	are	considered	to	modify	
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and 
are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The 
amortisation	expense	on	intangible	assets	with	finite	
lives	is	recognised	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	in	the	
expense category that is consistent with the function of the 
intangible assets.

These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives 
(five	years).

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the 
design	and	testing	of	identifiable	and	unique	software	
products controlled by the Bank, are recognised as 
intangible assets, when the following criteria have been 
met:

 f It is technically feasible to complete the software 
product so that it will be available for use;

 f Management intends to complete the software 
product and use it;

 f There is an ability to use the software product;

 f It can be demonstrated how the software product will 
generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;

 f Adequate	technical,	financial	and	other	resources	
to complete the development and to use or sell the 
software product are available; and

 f The expenditure attributable to the software product 
during its development can be reliably measured,

Motor 
Vehicles

25%
Fixture, Fittings  
&	Equipment	

25%
Computer 
Equipment

50%
Buildings
5%

3.	 Significant	Accounting	Policies
b) Recognition of income and expense
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Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of 
the software product include the software development 
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant 
overheads.

Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria 
are recognised as an expense as incurred.

Development costs previously recognised as expense are 
not recognised as asset in subsequent period. Computer 
software development costs recognised as assets are 
amortised over their estimated useful lives, not exceeding 
five	years.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually, 
either individually or at the cash–generating unit level. 
The	assessment	of	indefinite	life	is	reviewed	annually	to	
determine	whether	the	indefinite	life	continues	to	be	
supportable.	If	not,	the	change	in	useful	life	from	indefinite	
to	finite	is	made	on	a	prospective	basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at 
the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future 
economic	benefits	are	expected	from	its	use	or	disposal.	
Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset 
(calculated	as	the	difference	between	the	net	disposal	
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included 
in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss.

d) Capital work–in progress
Assets in the course of construction (capital work–in–
progress) are not depreciated. Upon completion of project 
the accumulated cost is transferred to an appropriate 
asset category where it is depreciated according to policy.

e) Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is 
(or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The 
arrangement	is,	or	contains,	a	lease	if	fulfilment	of	the	
arrangement	is	dependent	on	the	use	of	a	specific	asset	
(or assets) and the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset (or assets), even if that asset is (or those assets are) 
not	explicitly	specified	in	an	arrangement.

Bank is the lessee:

 f Operating leases

Leases	in	which	a	significant	portion	of	the	risks	and	
rewards of ownership are retained by another party, 
the	lessor,	are	classified	as	operating	leases.	Payments,	
including pre–payments, made under operating leases (net 
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
profit	or	loss	on	a	straight–line	basis	over	the	period	of	the	
lease. The total payments made under operating leases 
are charged to ‘other operating expenses’ on a straight–
line basis over the period of the lease. When an operating 
lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, 
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of 
penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
termination takes place.

 f Finance Leases

Leases of assets where the Bank has substantially all risks 
and	rewards	of	ownership	are	classified	as	finance	leases.	
Finance leases are capitalised at lease’s commencement, 
at lower of fair value of leased property and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment 
is	allocated	between	the	liability	and	finance	charges	
so	as	to	achieve	a	constant	rate	on	the	finance	balance	
outstanding.	The	interest	element	of	the	finance	cost	
is	charged	to	profit	or	loss	over	the	lease	period	so	as	
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The 
investment	properties	acquired	under	finance	leases	are	
measured subsequently at their fair value.

Bank is the lessor:
Leases in which the Bank does not transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 
classified	as	operating	leases.	When	assets	are	held	subject	
to	a	finance	lease,	the	present	value	of	the	lease	payments	
is	recognised	as	a	receivable.	The	difference	between	the	
gross receivable and the present value of the receivable 
is	recognised	as	unearned	finance	income.	Rental	income	
arising is accounted for on a straight–line basis over the 
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of 
profit	or	loss	due	to	its	operating	nature.	Initial	direct	costs	
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease 
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the 
period in which they are earned. The leases entered into 
by	the	Bank	are	primarily	finance	leases.

f) Financial Instruments

A.  Financial instruments–initial recognition

i)  Date of recognition
Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans 
and advances to customers are initially recognised on the 
trade date, i.e., the date that the Bank becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes 
regular	way	trades:	purchases	or	sales	of	financial	assets	
that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
generally established by regulation or convention in the 
market place. Loans and advances to customers are 
recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ 
accounts. The Bank recognises balances due to customers 
when funds are transferred to the Bank.

ii)  Initial measurement of financial instruments
The	classification	of	financial	instruments	at	initial	
recognition depends on their contractual terms and 
the business model for managing the instruments. 
Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair 
value	except	in	the	case	of	financial	assets	and	financial	
liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added 
to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables are 
measured at the transaction price. When the fair value of 
financial	instruments	at	initial	recognition	differs	from	the	
transaction	price,	the	Bank	accounts	for	the	Day	1	profit	or	
loss, as described below.

iii)  Day 1 profit or loss
When	the	transaction	price	of	the	instrument	differs	from	
the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a 
valuation technique using only inputs observable in market 
transactions,	the	Bank	recognises	the	difference	between	
the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. 
In those cases, where fair value is based on models 
for which some of the inputs are not observable, the 
difference	between	the	transaction	price	and	the	fair	value	
is	deferred	and	is	only	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	when	
the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is 
derecognised.

iv) Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities
From	1	January	2018,	the	Bank	classifies	all	of	its	financial	
assets based on the business model for managing the 
assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at 
either:

 f Amortised cost

 f Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income, 
(FVOCI)

 f Fair	Value	through	Profit	or	Loss	(FVPL)

The	Bank	classifies	and	measures	its	derivative	and	trading	
portfolio at FVPL

Before	1	January	2018,	the	Bank	classified	its	financial	
assets as loans and receivables (amortised cost), FVPL, 
available– for–sale or held–to–maturity (amortised cost).

Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and 
financial	guarantees,	are	measured	at	amortised	cost	or	at	
FVPL when they are derivative instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

B.  Financial Assets and Liabilities

i)  Due from Banks, Loans and advances to customers, 
Other assets, at amortised cost

Before 1 January 2018, Due from Bank, Loans and 
advances to customers and other assets, included non–
derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	
payments that were not quoted in an active market, other 
than those:

 f That the Bank intended to sell immediately or in the 
near term

 f That the Bank, upon initial recognition, designated as 
at FVPL or as available–for–sale

 f For which the Bank may not recover substantially all 
of its initial investment, other than because of credit 
deterioration, which were designated as available–for–
sale.

Due from Banks, Loans and advances to customers, Other 
assets at amortised cost

From 1 January 2018, the Bank only measures Due from 
Banks, Loans and advances to customers and other assets 
at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are 
met:

 f The	financial	asset	is	held	within	a	business	model	
with	the	objective	to	hold	financial	assets	in	order	to	
collect	contractual	cash	flows
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 f The	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	give	
rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. The details of these 
conditions are outlined below.

a) Business model assessment
The Bank determines its business model at the level that 
best	reflects	how	it	manages	groups	of	financial	assets	to	
achieve its business objective.

The Bank’s business model is not assessed on an 
instrument–by–instrument basis, but at a higher level of 
aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors 
such as:

 f How the performance of the business model and 
the	financial	assets	held	within	that	business	model	
are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key 
management personnel

 f The	risks	that	affect	the	performance	of	the	business	
model	(and	the	financial	assets	held	within	that	
business model) and, in particular, the way those risks 
are managed

 f How managers of the business are compensated (for 
example, whether the compensation is based on the 
fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual 
cash	flows	collected)

 f The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are 
also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably 
expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress 
case’	scenarios	into	account.	If	cash	flows	after	initial	
recognition	are	realised	in	a	way	that	is	different	from	the	
Bank’s original expectations, the Bank does not change the 
classification	of	the	remaining	financial	assets	held	in	that	
business model, but incorporates such information when 
assessing	newly	originated	or	newly	purchased	financial	
assets going forward.

bi) The SPPI test
As	a	second	step	of	its	classification	process	the	Bank	
assesses	the	contractual	terms	of	financial	to	identify	
whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’	for	the	purpose	of	this	test	is	defined	as	the	fair	
value	of	the	financial	asset	at	initial	recognition	and	may	
change	over	the	life	of	the	financial	asset	(for	example,	if	
there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the 
premium/discount).

The	most	significant	elements	of	interest	within	a	lending	
arrangement are typically the consideration for the 
time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI 
assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers 
relevant	factors	such	as	the	currency	in	which	the	financial	
asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest 
rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more 
than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the 
contractual	cash	flows	that	are	unrelated	to	a	basic	lending	
arrangement	do	not	give	rise	to	contractual	cash	flows	
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
amount	outstanding.	In	such	cases,	the	financial	asset	is	
required to be measured at FVPL.

ii)  Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss

A	derivative	is	a	financial	instrument	or	other	contract	with	
all three of the following characteristics:

 f Its value changes in response to the change in a 
specified	interest	rate,	financial	instrument	price,	
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of 
prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other 
variable, provided that,

 f in	the	case	of	a	non–financial	variable,	it	is	not	specific	
to a party to the contract (i.e., the ‘underlying’).

 f It requires no initial net investment or an initial net 
investment that is smaller than would be required for 
other types of contracts expected to have a similar 
response to changes in market factors.

 f It is settled at a future date.

The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various 
counter parties. These include cross–currency swaps. 
Derivatives	through	profit	or	loss	are	carried	in	the	
statement	of	financial	position	at	fair	value	with	net	
changes	in	fair	value	recognised	in	the	statement	of	profit	
or loss.

iii) Debt instruments at FVOCI (Policy applicable from 1 
January 2018)

The Bank applies the new category under IFRS 9 of debt 
instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following 
conditions are met:

 f The instrument is held within a business model, the 
objective of which is achieved by both collecting 
contractual	cash	flows	and	selling	financial	assets

 f The	contractual	terms	of	the	financial	asset	meet	the	
SPPI test

These instruments largely comprise assets that had 
previously	been	classified	as	financial	investments	available	
for sale under IAS 39.

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at 
fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in 
fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign 
exchange	gains	and	losses	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	
in	the	same	manner	as	for	financial	assets	measured	at	
amortised cost. Where the Bank holds more than one 
investment in the same security, they are deemed to be 
disposed	of	on	a	first–in	first–out	basis.	On	derecognition,	
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are 
reclassified	from	OCI	to	profit	or	loss.

iv)  Equity instruments at FVOCI (Policy applicable from 1 
January 2018)

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects 
to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments 
as equity instruments at FVOCI when they meet the 
definition	of	definition	of	Equity	under	IAS	32	Financial	
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. 
Such	classification	is	determined	on	an	instrument–by	
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never 
recycled	to	profit.	Dividends	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	
as other operating income when the right of the payment 
has	been	established,	except	when	the	Bank	benefits	
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of 
the instrument, in which case, such gains are recorded 
in OCI. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an 
impairment assessment.

v) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their 
issue proceeds (fair value of consideration received) net 
of transaction costs incurred. After initial measurement, 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on issue funds, and costs that are an 
integral	part	of	the	EIR.	A	compound	financial	instrument	
which contains both a liability and an equity component is 
separated at the issue date. Borrowings

vi) Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn 
loan commitments

The	Bank	issues	financial	guarantees,	letters	of	credit	and	
loan commitments.

Financial	guarantees	are	initially	recognised	in	the	financial	
statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the 
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the 
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation recognised in the income statement, and – 
under IAS 39 – the best estimate of expenditure required 
to	settle	any	financial	obligation	arising	as	a	result	of	the	
guarantee, or – under IFRS 9 – an ECL provision

The premium received is recognised in the income 
statement in Net fees and commission income on a 
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

viii)  Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn 
loan commitments

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are 
commitments under which, over the duration of the 
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with 
pre–specified	terms	to	the	customer.	Similar	to	financial	
guarantee contracts, under IAS 39, a provision was made 
if they were an onerous contract but, from 1 January 2018, 
these contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements.

The	nominal	contractual	value	of	financial	guarantees,	
letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where 
the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not 
recorded	on	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.
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viii)  Available–for–sale financial investments (Policy 
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Available–for–sale assets are non–derivatives that are 
either	designated	in	this	category	or	not	classified	in	any	
other	categories.	Equity	investments	are	classified	as	
available for sale. Where there is no active market for these 
investments, cost less impairment is deemed the most 
reasonable basis of measurement. When an investment 
is derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is 
re–classified	to	profit	or	loss.

ix)  Held–to–maturity investments (Policy applicable before 
1 January 2018)

Held–to–maturity	investments	are	non–derivative	financial	
assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	and	fixed	
maturities that the directors have the positive intention 
and ability to hold to maturity, other than:

 f those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates 
as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss;

 f those that the Bank designates as available–for–sale; 
and

 f those	that	meet	the	definition	of	loans	and	
receivables.

Held–to–maturity investments are initially recognised at fair 
value including direct and incremental transaction costs 
and measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the 
effective	interest	method.

During	the	year,	the	Bank	did	not	hold	any	financial	assets	
under this class.

C.		 Reclassification	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities

From 1 January 2018, the Bank does not reclassify its 
financial	assets	subsequent	to	their	initial	recognition,	
apart from the exceptional circumstances in which the 
Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line.

Financial	liabilities	are	never	reclassified.	The	Bank	did	not	
reclassify	any	of	its	financial	assets	or	liabilities	in	2017.

D.		 Derecognition	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities

i)  Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms 
and conditions

The	Bank	derecognises	a	financial	asset,	such	as	a	loan	
to a customer, when the terms and conditions have 
been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it 
becomes	a	new	loan,	with	the	difference	recognised	
as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an 
impairment loss has not already been recorded. The 
newly	recognised	loans	are	classified	as	Stage	1	for	ECL	
measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to 
be POCI.
When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan 
to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers the 
following factors:

 f Change in currency of the loan

 f Introduction of an equity feature

 f Change in counterparty

 f If	the	modification	is	such	that	the	instrument	would	
no longer meet the SPPI criterion

If	the	modification	does	not	result	in	cash	flows	that	
are	substantially	different,	the	modification	does	not	
result in derecognition. Based on the change in cash 
flows	discounted	at	the	original	EIR,	the	Bank	records	a	
modification	gain	or	loss,	to	the	extent	that	an	impairment	
loss has not already been recorded.

ii)  Derecognition other than for substantial modification 
a)  Financial assets
A	financial	asset	(or,	where	applicable,	a	part	of	a	
financial	asset	or	part	of	a	group	of	similar	financial	
assets) is derecognised when the rights to receive 
cash	flows	from	the	financial	asset	have	expired.	The	
Bank	also	derecognises	the	financial	asset	if	it	has	both	
transferred	the	financial	asset	and	the	transfer	qualifies	for	
derecognition.

The	Bank	has	transferred	the	financial	asset	if,	and	only	if,	
either:

 f The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to 
receive	cash	flows	from	the	financial	asset	or

 f It	retains	the	rights	to	the	cash	flows,	but	has	assumed	
an	obligation	to	pay	the	received	cash	flows	in	full	
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–
through’ arrangement

Pass–through arrangements are transactions whereby 
the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash 
flows	of	a	financial	asset	(the	‘original	asset’),	but	assumes	
a	contractual	obligation	to	pay	those	cash	flows	to	one	
or more entities (the ‘eventual recipients’), when all of the 
following three conditions are met:

 f The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the 
eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent 
amounts

from the original asset, excluding short–term advances 
with the right to full recovery of the amount lent plus 
accrued interest at market rates

 f The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other 
than as security to the eventual recipients

 f The	Bank	has	to	remit	any	cash	flows	it	collects	on	
behalf of the eventual recipients without material 
delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest 
such	cash	flows,	except	for	investments	in	cash	or	
cash equivalents including interest earned, during the 
period between the collection date and the date of 
required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A	transfer	only	qualifies	for	derecognition	if	either:

 f The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset Or

 f The Bank has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, 
the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset in its 
entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise 
that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional 
restrictions on the transfer.

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained 
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised 
only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement, in 
which case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured	on	a	basis	that	reflects	the	rights	and	obligations	
that the Bank has retained. Continuing involvement that 
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of 
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the 
Bank could be required to pay.

b) Financial liabilities
A	financial	liability	is	derecognised	when	the	obligation	
under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
Where	an	existing	financial	liability	is	replaced	by	another	
from	the	same	lender	on	substantially	different	terms,	
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified,	such	an	exchange	or	modification	is	treated	as	a	
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a	new	liability.	The	difference	between	the	carrying	value	of	
the	original	financial	liability	and	the	consideration	paid	is	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

E.		 Impairment	of	financial	assets	(Policy	applicable	
from 1 January 2018)

i) Overview of the ECL principles
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the 
Bank’s loan loss impairment method by replacing IAS 
39’s incurred loss approach with a forward–looking ECL 
approach. From 1 January 2018, the Bank has been 
recording the allowance for expected credit losses for all 
loans	and	other	debt	financial	assets	not	held	at	FVPL,	
together	with	loan	commitments	and	financial	guarantee	
contracts,	in	this	section	all	referred	to	as	‘financial	
instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to 
impairment under IFRS 9. (See Note 30 B.ii)

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected 
to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected 
credit	loss	or	LTECL),	unless	there	has	been	no	significant	
increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the 
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss).

The 12 months’ expected credit loss is the portion of 
LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default 
events	on	a	financial	instrument	that	are	possible	within	
the 12 months after the reporting date.

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an 
individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the 
nature	of	the	underlying	portfolio	of	financial	instruments.

The Bank has established a policy to perform an 
assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of 
whether	a	financial	instrument’s	credit	risk	has	increased	
significantly	since	initial	recognition,	by	considering	the	
change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining 
life	of	the	financial	instrument.
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Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into 
Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described below:

In Note . (See Note 30 B.ii)

For	financial	assets	for	which	the	Bank	has	no	reasonable	
expectations of recovering either the entire outstanding 
amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying 
amount	of	the	financial	asset	is	reduced.	This	is	considered	
a	(partial)	derecognition	of	the	financial	asset.

ii)  The calculation of ECLs
The Bank calculates ECLs based on a three scenarios to 
measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at an 
approximation	to	the	EIR.	A	cash	shortfall	is	the	difference	
between	the	cash	flows	that	are	due	to	an	entity	in	
accordance	with	the	contract	and	the	cash	flows	that	the	
entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below 
and the key elements are, as follows:

(See Note 30 B.ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Policy applicable 
before 1 January 2018)

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is 
objective	evidence	that	financial	assets	not	carried	at	fair	
value	through	profit	or	loss	are	impaired.	Financial	assets	
are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that 
a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the future 
cash	flows	on	the	asset	that	can	be	estimated	reliably.

The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a 
specific	asset	and	collective	level.	All	individually	significant	
financial	assets	are	assessed	for	specific	impairment.	All	
significant	assets	found	not	to	be	specifically	impaired	are	
then collectively assessed for any impairment that has 
been	incurred	but	not	yet	identified.	Assets	that	are	not	
individually	significant	are	then	collectively	assessed	for	
impairment	by	grouping	together	financial	assets	(carried	
at amortised cost) with similar risk characteristics.

Objective	evidence	that	financial	assets	(including	equity	
securities) are impaired can include:

 f significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	obligor;

 f a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in 
interest or principal repayments;

 f the Bank granting to the borrower, for economic 
or	legal	reasons	relating	to	the	borrowers	financial	
difficulty,	a	concession	that	the	lender	would	not	
otherwise consider;

 f it becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
Bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganization;

 f the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial	asset	because	of	financial	difficulties;	or

 f observable data indicating that there is a measurable 
decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	from	a	
group	of	financial	assets	since	the	initial	recognition	
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be 
identified	with	the	individual	financial	assets	in	the	
group, including:

o  adverse changes in the payment status of 
borrowers in the group; or

o  National or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on the assets in the 
group.

The	Bank	first	assesses	whether	objective	evidence	of	
impairment	exists	individually	for	financial	assets	that	are	
individually	significant,	and	individually	or	collectively	for	
financial	assets	that	are	not	individually	significant.	If	the	
Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment 
exists	for	an	individually	assessed	financial	asset,	whether	
significant	or	not,	it	includes	the	asset	in	a	group	of	
financial	assets	with	similar	credit	risk	characteristics	and	
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not 
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The	amount	of	the	loss	is	measured	as	the	difference	
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value	of	estimated	future	cash	flows	(excluding	future	
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at 
the	financial	instrument’s	original	effective	interest	rate.	
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognised	in	the	profit	and	loss	account.	If	a	loan	or	held–
to–maturity asset has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective	interest	rate	determined	under	the	contract.	As	a	
practical expedient, the Bank may measure impairment on 
the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable 
market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated 
future	cash	flows	of	a	collateralised	financial	asset	reflects	
the	cash	flows	that	may	result	from	foreclosure	less	costs	
for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not 
foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, 
financial	assets	are	grouped	on	the	basis	of	similar	credit	
risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Bank’s grading 
process that considers asset type, industry, geographical 
location, collateral type, past–due status and other 
relevant factors). Those characteristics are relevant to the 
estimation	of	future	cash	flows	for	groups	of	such	assets	
by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts 
due according to the contractual terms of the assets being 
evaluated.

Future	cash	flows	in	a	group	of	financial	assets	that	are	
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on 
the	basis	of	the	contractual	cash	flows	of	the	assets	
and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk 
characteristics similar to those in the Bank. Historical loss 
experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable 
data	to	reflect	the	effects	of	current	conditions	that	did	not	
affect	the	period	on	which	the	historical	loss	experience	
is	based	and	to	remove	the	effects	of	conditions	in	the	
historical period that do not exist currently.

Estimates	of	changes	in	future	cash	flows	for	groups	of	
assets	should	reflect	and	be	directionally	consistent	with	
changes in related observable data from period to period 
(e.g. changes in unemployment rates, property prices, 
payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in 
the probability of losses in the Bank and their magnitude). 
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating 
future	cash	flows	are	reviewed	regularly	by	the	Bank	to	
reduce	any	differences	between	loss	estimates	and	actual	
loss experience.

When	a	loan	is	uncollectible,	it	is	written	off	against	
the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans 
are	written	off	after	all	the	necessary	procedures	have	
been completed and the amount of the loss has been 
determined. Impairment charges relating to loans and 
advances	to	customers	are	classified	in	loan	impairment	
charges whilst impairment charges relating to investment 
securities	are	classified	in	‘Net	gains/	(losses)	on	investment	
securities’. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written	off	decrease	the	amount	of	the	provision	for	loan	
impairment in the statement of comprehensive income.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised 
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of the 
reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment 
assessment	or	individually	significant	and	whose	terms	
have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be 
past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent 
years, the renegotiated terms apply in determining 
whether the asset is considered to be past due.

iii)  Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI
The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do 
not	reduce	the	carrying	amount	of	these	financial	assets	
in	the	statement	of	financial	position,	which	remains	at	
fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that 
would arise if the assets were measured at amortised 
cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment 
amount,	with	a	corresponding	charge	to	profit	or	loss.	The	
accumulated	loss	recognised	in	OCI	is	recycled	to	the	profit	
and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

iv)  Purchased or originated credit impaired financial 
assets (POCI)

For	POCI	financial	assets,	the	Bank	only	recognises	the	
cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in the 
loss allowance.

Forward looking information

Collateral valuation

Write–offs: The Bank’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 
remains the same as it was under IAS 39. Financial assets 
are	written	off	either	partially	or	in	their	entirety	only	when	
the Bank has stopped pursuing the recovery. 

If	the	amount	to	be	written	off	is	greater	than	the	
accumulated	loss	allowance,	the	difference	is	first	treated	
as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against 
the gross carrying amount. 

Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss 
expense.
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h)  Fiduciary assets

The	Bank	commonly	acts	as	trustees	and	in	other	fiduciary	
capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on 
behalf	of	individuals,	trusts,	retirement	benefit	plans	and	
other institutions. These assets and income arising thereon 
are	excluded	from	these	financial	statements,	as	they	are	
not assets of the Bank.

i)		 Offsetting

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	only	offset	and	the	net	
amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position 
where	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	set	off	the	
recognised amounts and the Bank intends to either settle 
on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis when 
permitted by the accounting standard or for gains and 
losses arising from a group of similar transactions.

j Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the 
Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be	estimated	reliably,	and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	
economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future	cash	flows	at	a	pre–tax	rate	that	reflects	current	
market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where	appropriate,	the	risks	specific	to	the	liability.

Where the Bank expects a provision to be reimbursed, for 
example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement 
is recognised as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain.

k)		 Employee	benefits

(i) Short term benefits
Short	term	benefits	consist	of	salaries,	bonuses	and	any	
non–monetary	benefits	such	as	medical	aid	contributions	
and	transport	allowance.	Short–term	employee	benefit	
obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and 
are expensed as the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to 
be paid under short–term cash bonus if the Bank has a 

present obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee and the obligation can 
be estimated reliably.

(ii)  Retirement obligations
The Bank and all its employees also contribute to a 
statutory	defined	contribution	scheme,	the	Rwanda	Social	
Security	Board	(RSSB)	which	is	a	defined	contribution	
scheme and contributions are determined by local statued 
and are currently limited to 5% of the employees gross 
salary. The companies contributions are charged to the 
statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	other	comprehensive	
income in the period to which they relate.

A	defined	benefit	plan	is	a	pension	plan	that	is	not	a	
defined	contribution	plan.	Typically	defined	benefit	plans	
define	an	amount	of	pension	benefit	that	an	employee	will	
receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more 
factors, such as age, years of service and compensation.

The Bank’s contributions to the scheme are charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year in 
which they are made. Costs relating to early retirement are 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the 
year in which they are incurred.

(iii)  Other entitlements
The estimated monetary liability for employees’ accrued 
annual leave entitlement at the reporting date is 
recognised as an expense accrual.

l)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits 
held at call with Banks, other short term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or 
less, including: cash and non–restricted balances with the 
National Bank of Rwanda, Treasury and other eligible bills, 
and amounts due from other Banks.

m)  Investment Properties

Investment properties comprise land and buildings and 
parts of buildings held to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. They are carried at fair value, determined 
annually by external independent valuers or management 
determines the value of the investment property based on 
relevant assumptions in the market.

Fair value is based on active market prices as adjusted, if 
necessary,	for	any	difference	in	the	nature,	condition	or	
location	of	the	specific	asset.

Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. 
Changes in their carrying amount between the reporting 
dates	are	recorded,	net	of	deferred	tax,	through	the	profit	
or loss for the year.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they 
have been disposed of or when they are permanently 
withdrawn	from	use	and	no	future	economic	benefits	is	
expected from the disposal.

On	disposal	of	an	investment	property,	the	difference	
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount	is	charged	or	credited	to	the	profit	or	loss	for	the	
year.

n)  Grants

Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
all attaching conditions will be complied with.

Receipt of a grant does not of itself provide conclusive 
evidence that the conditions attaching to the grant have 
been	or	will	be	fulfilled.	Grants	received	are	treated	as	
unexpended grants payable and credited to the statement 
of comprehensive income when all conditions attaching to 
the grants are met.

When the grant relates to an expense item, (revenue 
grant) it is recognised as income over periods necessary to 
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is 
intended to compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, (capital grant) it is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the 
relevant asset.

o)  Special Funds

Special funds are granted by various institutions to fund 
various schemes The funds received are recognised as 
liabilities	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.	The	specific	
details are highlighted in Note 25.

p)  Share Capital

Ordinary	shares	are	classified	as	‘share	capital’	in	equity.	
Any premium received over and above the par value of the 
shares	is	classified	as	‘share	premium’	in	equity.

q)  Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised a liability 
to pay a dividend when the distribution is authorised 
and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the 
Bank and this is when it is authorised and approved by 
the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognised 
directly in equity.

r)  Taxation

No provision is made for taxation as the Bank is exempt 
from income tax.

s)  Contingent Liabilities

To	meet	the	financial	needs	of	customers,	the	Bank	enters	
into various irrevocable commitments and contingent 
liabilities.	These	consist	of	financial	guarantees,	letters	of	
credit and other commitments to lend. Letters of credit 
acceptances	and	guarantees	are	accounted	for	as	Off	
Balance Sheet items and described as contingent liabilities. 

Estimation	of	the	outcome	and	financial	effect	of	
contingent liabilities is made by management based on 
the	information	available	up	to	the	date	the	financial	
statements are approved for issue by the directors. 
Any expected loss is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

 f Off	Balance	Sheet	Items

31 Dec. 2018 31 Dec. 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Acceptances and letters 
of credit issued

32,783,934 42,677,706
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t)  Investment in Associates

Associates are all entities over which the company 
has	significant	influence	but	not	control,	generally	
accompanying shareholding of between 20% and 50% 
of	the	voting	right.	Significant	influence	is	the	power	to	
participate	in	the	financial	and	operating	policy	decisions	
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 
those policies. Investment in associate are accounted using 
equity method of accounting. 

Under the equity method, the investment is initially 
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased	to	recognise	investors	share	of	profit	or	loss	of	
the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but the 
significant	influence	is	retained,	only	a	proportionate	share	
of amounts previously recognised on other comprehensive 
income	is	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	where	appropriate.

The	company’s	share	of	post–acquisition	profit	or	loss	is	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss,	and	share	of	post–acquisition	
movement in other comprehensive income is recognised 
in other comprehensive income with the corresponding 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the company’s share of losses in associates equals 
or exceeds its interest in associate including any other 
unsecured receivables, the company does not recognise 
further losses unless it has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or net payments on behalf of the associates.

The company determines at each reporting period date 
whether there is any objective evidence that investment 
in associate is impaired. If this is the case, the company 
calculates	the	amount	of	impairment	as	the	difference	
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its 
carrying amount.

u)  New and amended standards  
and interpretations

The following standards and amendments have been 
applied	by	the	Bank	for	the	first	time	for	the	financial	year	
beginning 1 January 2018:

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2018

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 for annual periods on or after 1 
January 2018. The Bank has not restated comparative 
information	for	2017	for	financial	instruments	in	the	scope	
of IFRS 9. 

Therefore, the comparative information for 2017 is 
reported under IAS 39 and is not comparable to the 
information	presented	for	2018.	Differences	arising	from	
the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised directly in 
retained earnings as of 1 January 2018

Key requirements:

The following standards and amendments have been 
applied	by	the	Bank	for	the	first	time	for	the	financial	year	
beginning 1 January 2018:

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2018

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 for annual periods on or after 1 
January 2018. The Bank has not restated comparative 
information	for	2017	for	financial	instruments	in	the	scope	
of IFRS 9. Therefore, the comparative information for 2017 
is reported under IAS 39 and is not comparable to the 
information	presented	for	2018.	Differences	arising	from	
the adoption of IFRS 9 have been recognised directly in 
retained earnings as of 1 January 2018

Key requirements:

Changes to classification and measurement

To	determine	their	classification	and	measurement	
category,	IFRS	9	requires	all	financial	assets,	except	equity	
instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a 
combination of the entity’s business model for managing 
the	assets	and	the	instruments’	contractual	cash	flow	
characteristics.

The	IAS	39	measurement	categories	of	financial	assets	(fair	
value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVPL),	available	for	sale	(AFS),	
held–to–maturity and amortised cost) have been replaced 
by:

 f Debt instruments at amortised cost

 f Debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI), with gains or losses 
recycled	to	profit	or	loss	on	derecognition

 f Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no recycling of gains 
or	losses	o	profit	or	loss	on	derecognition

 f Financial assets FVPL

The	accounting	for	financial	liabilities	remains	largely	the	
same as it was under IAS 39, except for the treatment 
of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk 
relating to liabilities designated at FVPL. Such movements 
are	presented	in	OCI	with	no	subsequent	reclassification	to	
the income statement.

Classification and measurement of financial assets

Except for certain trade receivables, an entity initially 
measures	a	financial	asset	at	its	fair	value	plus,	in	the	case	
of	a	financial	asset	not	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	
transaction costs. Debt instruments are subsequently 
measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL),	
amortised cost, or fair value through other comprehensive 
income	(FVOCI),	on	the	basis	of	their	contractual	cash	flows	
and the business model under which the debt instruments 
are held. 

There	is	a	fair	value	option	(FVO)	that	allows	financial	assets	
on initial recognition to be designated as FVTPL if that 
eliminates	or	significantly	reduces	an	accounting	mismatch.

Equity instruments are generally measured at FVTPL. 
However, entities have an irrevocable option on an 
instrument– by–instrument basis to present changes 
in the fair value of non–trading instruments in other 
comprehensive income (OCI) without subsequent 
reclassification	to	profit	or	loss.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

For	financial	liabilities	designated	as	FVTPL	using	the	FVO,	
the	amount	of	change	in	the	fair	value	of	such	financial	
liabilities that is attributable to changes in credit risk must 
be presented in OCI. 

The remainder of the change in fair value is presented in 
profit	or	loss,	unless	presentation	in	OCI	of	the	fair	value	
change in respect of the liability’s credit risk would create 
or	enlarge	an	accounting	mismatch	in	profit	or	loss.

All other IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and	Measurement	classification	and	measurement	
requirements	for	financial	liabilities	have	been	carried	
forward into IFRS 9, including the embedded derivative 
separation rules and the criteria for using the FVO.

Impairment
The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the 
Bank’s accounting for loan loss impairments by replacing 
IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward–looking 
expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the 
Bank to record an allowance for ECLs for all loans and 
other	debt	financial	assets	not	held	at	FVPL,	together	with	
loan	commitments	and	financial	guarantee	contracts.	
The allowance is based on the ECLs associated with the 
probability of default in the next twelve months unless 
there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	since	
origination.	If	the	financial	asset	meets	the	definition	
of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI), the 
allowance is based on the change in the ECLs over the life 
of the asset.

The ECL model applies to debt instruments accounted for 
at amortised cost or at FVOCI, most loan commitments, 
financial	guarantee	contracts,	and	contract	assets	under	
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and lease 
receivables under IAS 17 Leases or IFRS 16 Leases.

Entities are generally required to recognise 12–month 
ECL on initial recognition (or when the commitment or 
guarantee was entered into) and thereafter as long as 
there	is	no	significant	deterioration	in	credit	risk.

However,	if	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	
risk on an individual or collective basis, then entities are 
required to recognise lifetime ECL. For trade receivables, a 
simplified	approach	may	be	applied	whereby	the	lifetime	
ECL are always recognised.

IFRS 7R

To	reflect	the	differences	between	IFRS	9	and	IAS	39,	
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was updated 
and the Bank has adopted it, together with IFRS 9, for 
the year beginning 1 January 2018. Changes include 
transition disclosures, detailed qualitative and quantitative 
information about the ECL calculations such as the 
assumptions and inputs used.

Hedge accounting
Hedge	effectiveness	testing	is	prospective,	without	the	
80% to 125% bright line test in IAS 39, and, depending 
on the hedge complexity, will often be qualitative. A risk 
component	of	a	financial	or	non–financial	instrument	may	
be designated as the hedged item if the risk component is 
separately	identifiable	and	reliably	measurable.
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The time value of an option, any forward element of a 
forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread 
can be excluded from the hedging instrument designation 
and can be accounted for as costs of hedging. More 
designations of groups of items as the hedged item are 
possible, including layer designations and some net 
positions.

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of 
the adoption of IFRS 9 by the Bank on the statement of 
financial	position	including	the	effect	of	replacing	IAS	39	
calculations on incurred credit loss with IFRS 9 ECLs.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The measurement category and the carrying amount of 
financial	assets	and	liabilities	in	accordance	with	IAS	39	and	
IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 are compared as follows:

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Category Carrying 
Amount

Category Carrying 
Amount

Financial Assets Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Balances with National 
Bank of Rwanda

Loans and Receivables 1,406,464 Amortised cost 1,406,464

Balances and placements 
with other Banks

Loans and Receivables 20,103,489 Amortised cost 20,103,489

Loans and advances to 
customers

Loans and Receivables 155,374,026 Amortised cost 149,888,005

Equity investments Available for sale 15,270,159 Equity investments Fair Value Through 
Other Comprehensive Income

15,270,159

Derivatives Fair	Value	Through	Profit	
and Loss

1,214,611 Fair	Value	Through	Profit	and	Loss 1,214,611

Other receivables Loans and Receivables 2,213,627 Amortised cost 2,213,627

There	were	no	changes	to	the	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	liabilities.

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening loan loss provision allowances under IAS 39 and provisions for loan 
commitments	and	financial	guarantee	contracts	in	accordance	with	IAS	37	Provisions	Contingent	Liabilities	and	Contingent	Assets	
to the ECL allowances under IFRS 9.

a) Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9
The	following	table	reconciles	the	carrying	amounts	of	financial	assets,	from	their	previous	measurement	category	in	accord-
ance with IAS 39 to their new measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018:

IAS 39  
31 December 

2017 Reclassifications Remeasurements
IFRS 9 

1 January 2018

Amortised cost Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Balances with National Bank of Rwanda 
Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9 1,406,464 – – 1,406,464

Balances and placements with other banks 
Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9 20,103,489 – – 20,103,489

Loans and advances to customers 
Opening balance under IAS 39 155,374,026

Remeasurement: ECL allowance – – (5,486,021)

Closing balance under IFRS 9 149,888,005

Other receivables 
Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9 2,213,627 – – 2,213,627

  179,097,606 – (5,486,021) 173,611,585

Fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL) Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000
IFRS 9 

Frw’ 000

Derivative	financial	instruments
Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9 1,214,611           –               – 1,214,611

  1,214,611           –              – 1,214,611

Equity investments
Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9 15,270,159            –             – 15,270,159

  15,270,159           –             – 15,270,159
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Impairment under IAS 39/
IAS 37 at 31 December 2017

Re–measurement ECL under IFRS 9 at  
1 January 2018

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Impairment Allowance for
Loans and receivables per 
IAS	39/financial	assets	at	
amortised cost under IFRS 9 7,554,459 5,486,021 13,040,480

Designation of equity instruments at FVTOCI

The Bank has elected to irrevocably designate equity 
instruments,	previously	classified	as	“Available	for	sale”	in	
a portfolio of equity investments at FVTOCI as permitted 
under IFRS 9. The changes in fair value of such equity 
investments	will	no	longer	be	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	
when they are disposed of.

There	are	no	financial	assets	and	liabilities	that	have	
been	reclassified	from	the	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	
category to the to the amortised cost category as part of 
the transition to IFRS 9.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2018. 

Key requirements

IFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue requirements in IFRS 
(IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 
13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements 
for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfers 
of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 Revenue – Barter 
Transactions Involving Advertising Services) and applies to 
all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless 
the contracts are in the scope of other standards, such as 
IAS 17 (or IFRS 16 Leases, once applied). Its requirements 
also provide a model for the recognition and measurement 
of	gains	and	losses	on	disposal	of	certain	non–financial	
assets, including property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets.

The standard outlines the principles an entity must apply 
to measure and recognise revenue. The core principle is 
that an entity will recognise revenue at an amount that 
reflects	the	consideration	to	which	the	entity	expects	to	be	
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a 
customer.

The	principles	in	IFRS	15	will	be	applied	using	a	five–step	
model:

1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determine the transaction price;

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract;

5. Recognise	revenue	when	(or	as)	the	entity	satisfies	a	
performance obligation.

The standard requires entities to exercise judgement, 
taking into consideration all of the relevant facts and 
circumstances when applying each step of the model to 
contracts with their customers.

The	standard	also	specifies	how	to	account	for	the	
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs 
directly	related	to	fulfilling	a	contract.

Application guidance is provided in IFRS 15 to assist 
entities in applying its requirements to certain common 
arrangements, including licences of intellectual property, 
warranties, rights of return, principal–versus–agent 
considerations, options for additional goods or services 
and breakage.

Clarifications to IFRS 15

In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 15 to 
address several implementation issues discussed by the 
Joint Transition Resource Group for Revenue Recognition.

The amendments:
 f Clarify when a promised good or service is distinct 

within the context of the contract;

 f Clarify how to apply the principal versus agent 
application guidance, including the unit of account for 
the assessment, how to apply the control principle in 
service transactions and reframe the indicators;

 f Clarify	when	an	entity’s	activities	significantly	affect	the	
intellectual property (IP) to which the customer has 
rights, which is a factor in determining whether the 
entity recognises revenue for licences over time or at a 
point in time;

 f Clarify the scope of the exception for sales–based and 
usage–based royalties related to licences of IP (the 
royalty constraint) when there are other promised 
goods or services in the contract;

 f Add two practical expedients to the transition 
requirements of IFRS 15 for: (a) completed contracts 
under the full retrospective transition approach; and 
(b)	contract	modifications	at	transition.

The	amendments	have	an	effective	date	of	1	January	
2018,	which	is	the	effective	date	of	IFRS	15.	Entities	are	
required to apply these amendments retrospectively. The 
amendments are intended to clarify the requirements in 
IFRS 15, not to change the standard.

Transition
Entities can choose to apply the standard using either a 
full	retrospective	approach	or	a	modified	retrospective	
approach, with some limited relief provided under either 
approach. Early application is permitted and must be 
disclosed.

Impact
The Bank has applied this standard as at the reporting date 
and	has	no	significant	impact.

IFRS 16 Leases

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2019.

Key requirements

The scope of IFRS 16 includes leases of all assets, with 
certain	exceptions.	A	lease	is	defined	as	a	contract,	or	
part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset 
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. IFRS 16 requires lessees to account 
for all leases under a single on–balance sheet model in a 
similar	way	to	finance	leases	under	IAS	17.	The	standard	
includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases 
of ’low–value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short–
term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months 
or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee 
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., 
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to 

use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the 
right–of–use asset). Lessees will be required to separately 
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and 
the depreciation expense on the right–of–use asset.

Lessees will be required to remeasure the lease liability 
upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in 
the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting 
from a change in an index or rate used to determine 
those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the 
amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right–of–use asset.

Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged from today’s 
accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify 
all	leases	using	the	same	classification	principle	as	in	IAS	17	
and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and 
finance	leases.

Transition
A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a 
full	retrospective	or	a	modified	retrospective	approach.	
The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. 
Early application is permitted, but not before an entity 
applies IFRS 15.

Impact
Due to the fact that the Bank does not have leases hence 
no impact is expected on the Bank.

Transition
IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency  
Transactions and Advance Consideration

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2018.

Key requirements

The	interpretation	clarifies	that	in	determining	the	
spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the 
derecognition of a non–monetary asset or non–monetary 
liability relating to advance consideration, the date of 
the transaction is the date on which an entity initially 
recognizes the nonmonetary asset or non–monetary 
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there 
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the 
entity must determine a date of the transactions for each 
payment or receipt of advance consideration.
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Entities may apply the amendments on a fully retrospective 
basis. Alternatively, an entity may apply the interpretation 
prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its 
scope that are initially recognized on or after:

 f The beginning of the reporting period in which the 
entity	first	applies	the	interpretation;	Or

 f The beginning of a prior reporting period presented 
as	comparative	information	in	the	financial	statements	
of	the	reporting	period	in	which	the	entity	first	applies	
the interpretation. Early application of interpretation is 
permitted and must be disclosed.

First–time adopters of IFRS are also permitted to apply the 
interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and 
income initially recognized on or after the date of transition 
to IFRS.

Impact
The Bank has applied this standard as at the reporting date 
and	has	no	significant	impact.

Definition	of	a	Business	–	Amendments	to	IFRS	3

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2020.

Key requirements

The	IASB	issued	amendments	to	the	definition	of	a	
business in IFRS 3 Business Combinations to help entities 
determine whether an acquired set of activities and 
assets is a business or not. They clarify the minimum 
requirements for a business, remove the assessment of 
whether market participants are capable of replacing any 
missing elements, add guidance to help entities assess 
whether an acquired process is substantive, narrow the 
definitions	of	a	business	and	of	outputs,	and	introduce	
an optional fair value concentration test. New illustrative 
examples were provided along with the amendments.

Minimum requirements to be a business
The amendments clarify that to be considered a business, 
an integrated set of activities and assets must include, 
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that 
together	significantly	contribute	to	the	ability	to	create	
output. They also clarify that a business can exist without 
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create 
outputs. That is, the inputs and processes applied to those 
inputs must have ‘the ability to contribute to the creation of 
outputs’ rather than ‘the ability to create outputs’.

Market participants’ ability to replace missing elements
Prior to the amendments, IFRS 3 stated that a business 
need not include all of the inputs or processes that 
the seller used in operating that business, ’if market 
participants are capable of acquiring the business and 
continuing to produce outputs, for example, by integrating 
the business with their own inputs and processes’. The 
reference to such integration is now deleted from IFRS 
3 and the assessment must be based on what has been 
acquired in its current state and condition.

Assessing whether an acquired process is substantive
The amendments specify that if a set of activities and 
assets does not have outputs at the acquisition date, an 
acquired process must be considered substantive only if: 
(a) it is critical to the ability to develop or convert acquired 
inputs into outputs; and (b) the inputs acquired include 
both an organised workforce with the necessary skills, 
knowledge, or experience to perform that process, and 
other inputs that the organised workforce could develop 
or convert into outputs. In contrast, if a set of activities and 
assets has outputs at that date, an acquired process must 
be considered substantive if: (a) it is critical to the ability 
to continue producing outputs and the acquired inputs 
include an organised workforce with the necessary skills, 
knowledge, or experience to perform that process; or (b) it 
significantly	contributes	to	the	ability	to	continue	producing	
outputs and either is considered unique or scarce, or 
cannot	be	replaced	without	significant	cost,	effort	or	delay	
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Narrowed definition of outputs
The	amendments	narrowed	the	definition	of	outputs	
to focus on goods or services provided to customers, 
investment income (such as dividends or interest) or other 
income	from	ordinary	activities.	The	definition	of	a	business	
in Appendix A of IFRS 3 was amended accordingly.

Definition	of	a	Business	–	Amendments	to	IFRS	3

Optional concentration test
The amendments introduced an optional fair value 
concentration	test	to	permit	a	simplified	assessment	of	
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a 
business. Entities may elect to apply the concentration 
test on a transaction– by–transaction basis. The test is 
met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets 
acquired	is	concentrated	in	a	single	identifiable	asset	or	
group	of	similar	identifiable	assets.	If	the	test	is	met,	the	set	

of activities and assets is determined not to be a business 
and no further assessment is needed. If the test is not 
met, or if an entity elects not to apply the test, a detailed 
assessment must be performed applying the normal 
requirements in IFRS 3.

Transition
The amendments must be applied to transactions that 
are either business combinations or asset acquisitions for 
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 
the	first	annual	reporting	period	beginning	on	or	after	1	
January 2020. Consequently, entities do not have to revisit 
such transactions that occurred in prior periods. Earlier 
application is permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact
The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes 
effective.	

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation – 
Amendments to IFRS 9 

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2019.

Key requirements

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured 
at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash 
flows	are	‘solely	payments	of	principal	and	interest	on	the	
principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the 
instrument is held within the appropriate business model 
for	that	classification.	The	amendments	to	IFRS	9	clarify	
that	a	financial	asset	passes	the	SPPI	criterion	regardless	
of the event or circumstance that causes the early 
termination of the contract and irrespective of which party 
pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early 
termination of the contract.

The	basis	for	conclusions	to	the	amendments	clarified	that	
the early termination can result from a contractual term 
or from an event outside the control of the parties to the 
contract, such as a change in law or regulation leading to 
the early termination of the contract.

Transition
The amendments must be applied retrospectively; earlier 
application	is	permitted.	The	amendment	provides	specific	
transition provisions if it is only applied in 2019 rather than 
in 2018 with the rest of IFRS 9.

Impact
The Bank has applied this standard as at the reporting date 
and	has	no	significant	impact.

Definition	of	Material	–	Amendments	to	IAS	1	and	IAS	8

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2020.

Key requirements

In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to 
align	the	definition	of	‘material’	across	the	standards	and	to	
clarify	certain	aspects	of	the	definition.	

The	new	definition	states	that,	’Information	is	material	if	
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be 
expected	to	influence	decisions	that	the	primary	users	of	
general	purpose	financial	statements	make	on	the	basis	
of	those	financial	statements,	which	provide	financial	
information	about	a	specific	reporting	entity.’

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the 
nature or magnitude of information, or both. An entity will 
need to assess whether the information, either individually 
or in combination with other information, is material in the 
context	of	the	financial	statements.

Obscuring information
The amendments explain that information is obscured 
if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar 
effect	as	omitting	or	misstating	the	information.	Material	
information may, for instance, be obscured if information 
regarding a material item, transaction or other event 
is	scattered	throughout	the	financial	statements,	or	
disclosed using a language that is vague or unclear. 
Material information can also be obscured if dissimilar 
items, transactions or other events are inappropriately 
aggregated, or conversely, if similar items are 
inappropriately disaggregated.
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New threshold
The	amendments	replaced	the	threshold	‘could	influence’,	
which	suggests	that	any	potential	influence	of	users	must	
be considered, with ‘could reasonably be expected to 
influence’	in	the	definition	of	‘material’.	In	the	amended	
definition,	therefore,	it	is	clarified	that	the	materiality	
assessment will need to take into account only reasonably 
expected	influence	on	economic	decisions	of	primary	
users.

Primary	users	of	the	financial	statements
The	current	definition	refers	to	‘users’	but	does	not	specify	
their characteristics, which can be interpreted to imply 
that an entity is required to consider all possible users of 
the	financial	statements	when	deciding	what	information	
to disclose. Consequently, the IASB decided to refer to 
primary	users	in	the	new	definition	to	help	respond	to	
concerns that the term ‘users’ may be interpreted too 
widely.

Other amendments
The	definition	of	material	in	the	Conceptual	Framework	
and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Making Materiality 
Judgements were amended to align with the revised 
definition	of	material	in	IAS	1	and	IAS	8.

Transition
The amendments must be applied prospectively. Early 
application is permitted and must be disclosed.

Impact
The Bank intends to apply the standard when it becomes 
effective.

Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40)

Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2018.

Key requirements

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer 
property, including property under construction or 
development into, or out of investment property. The 
amendments state that a change in use occurs when 
the	property	meets,	or	ceases	to	meet,	the	definition	of	
investment property and there is evidence of the change 
in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the 
use of a property does not provide evidence of a change 
in use.

Transition
Entities should apply the amendments prospectively to 
changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the 
annual	reporting	period	in	which	the	entity	first	applies	the	
amendments. 

An	entity	should	reassess	the	classification	of	property	
held at that date and, if applicable, reclassify property to 
reflect	the	conditions	that	exist	at	that	date.	Retrospective	
application in accordance with IAS 8 is only permitted 
if that is possible without the use of hindsight. Early 
application of the amendments is permitted and must be 
disclosed.

Impact
The Bank has applied this standard as at the reporting 
date	and	has	no	significant	impact	because	there	was	no	
transfer in and out of investment property.

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Loans and advances 20,211,709 20,029,820

Placements with Banks 924,317 706,025

21,136,026 20,735,845

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Interest expense on borrowings 11,673,787 11,099,902

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Forex commission income 522 2,924

Translation gains 27,684 204,723

Translation losses (2,844,804) (1,903,561)

Net foreign exchange losses (2,816,598) (1,695,914)

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Credit related fees and commissions 322,160 385,050

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Commission on borrowings and other charges (351,141) (442,758)

Net fee and commission income (28,981) (57,708)

4.  Interest Income

5.  Interest expense

7.  Net Foreign exchange losses

6.  Fee and Commissions income

Interest	expense	is	accrued	and	paid	on	different	medium	and	long	term	lines	of	credit	secured	by	the	Bank	from	its	various	
lending partners.

(a)  Fees and commissions income

(b)  Fees and commissions expense

Forex commissions are earned from international transfers made on behalf of the Bank’s customers. Translation gains and losses 
are accounted for when balances of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are converted into the reporting 
currency (Frw) using rates at the reporting date.
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2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Advisory and Management fees 116,239 107,770 

Write back of liabilities 442,402 489,977 

Dividends  98,850 240,008

Rent income  78,656 70,242 

Gains	on	sale	of	fixed	assets  7,911 448 

Gain on sale of Investment properties (a)  294,450 – 

Grant Income   47,997 56,901

Other income (b)    117,151 5,116

1,203,656 970,462

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Provision in the year (3,829,970) (4,775,736)

Amounts	written	off  (1,181,630) (8,537,972)

Recoveries on amounts previously provided for – 62,875

Recoveries	on	amounts	previously	written	off 1,586,245 693,990

(3,425,355) (12,556,843)

2018 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Balances with National Bank of Rwanda

Balances and placements with other Banks

Loans and advances to customers 1,025,497 1,618,200 10,134,849 12,778,546

Equity investments

Other receivables

Loan Commitments

Letters of credit

Total Impairment Loss 1,025,497 1,618,200 10,134,849 12,778,546

8.  Other Operating income

9.  Net Impairment charge on loans and advances

a) During the year, repossessed properties from Josephine Uwamwezi and Luthon Hotel were sold and there was a gain 
realized on the properties of Frw 44,450,000 and Frw 250,000,000 respectively.

b) Other Income during the year 2018 mainly relates to consultancy fees paid for Rugarama Park which was erroneously 
expensed in 2014, and has now been reversed to Other assets and will be recovered from Rugarama Park.

Credit Loss Expense

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Business Development Fund (130,518) 14,407

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company (12,559) (3,183)

Eastern Province Investment Company (67,865)

Share of profit/(loss) of in associate (210,942) 11,224

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Great Lakes Cement (675,870) –

Kinazi Cassava Plant – (2,739,657)

Kinazi Cassava Plant – Tasco (82,803)

Impairment Loss on investment in associate (758,673) (2,739,657)

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Fair value (loss) /gains from currency swaps (Note 18) (149,608) (352,898)

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Salaries and wages 3,254,757 3,252,939

Retirement	benefit	costs 157,631 122,787

Other	staff	costs  563,961 467,620

3,976,349 3,843,346

10.	(i)	 Share	of	profit/(loss)	in	Associate

10 (ii) Impairment Loss on investment in associate

11.  Net Fair Value Gain/ (Loss) on Derivative Instruments

12.	(i)	 Employee	benefits	expense

The fair valuation of the investments in associates determined on the “net asset basis” was carried out and the gains or losses 
reported	represent	differences	between	the	opening	and	closing	investments’	values.	This	applied	to	all	the	investments
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2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Travel and accommodation 84,841 249,781

Training Fees 98,594 242,992

Consultancy fees 183,407 293,569

IT expenses 451,440 361,089

Advertising and publicity 45,097 229,581

Repairs and maintenance 111,968 155,197

Land and District Taxes 49,712 66,804

Communication 77,481 98,418

Legal fees 98,283 97,643

Subscription to professional bodies 85,349 89,629

Security Fees 68,410 63,783

Directors expenses 110,542 68,675

Office	stationery	and	utilities 23,637 53,252

Staff	welfare 32,270 28,006

Audit fees 59,793 48,382

Insurance 14,808 14,116

Cleaning Expenses 34,317 29,636

Reception expenses 23,989 17,491

Donation and grants 43,027 180,720

Write	off	of	property	and	equipment	(a)	 202,138 –

Other administrative expenses 2,537 –

1,901,640 2,388,764

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Decline in fair value of investment properties – 750,000

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Impairment of other assets – 2,143,398

12. (ii) Other operating expense

12. (iii)  Decline in fair value of investment property

12. (iv)  Impairment of other assets

(a)		 Write–off	of	Property	and	equipment	is	as	a	result	of	the	fixed	assets	tagging	exercise	carried	out	by	a	consultant	during	the	
year	to	reconcile	the	balance	between	the	fixed	asset	register	and	the	books	of	account.

There has been no decline in the fair value of the investment properties during the year.

A review of the other assets was carried out during the year. This revealed that no allowance needed to be recognized against 
reported assets/receivables of the Bank and hence no impairment was made during the year. 

13. Taxation

The Development Bank of Rwanda is exempt from Income Tax as per the Income Tax Law, Article 39 Paragraph 7 on exemption 
from corporate income tax.

14. Transfer to SME Guarantee Fund

In	accordance	with	a	2010	directive	from	the	Government	of	Rwanda,	the	Bank	transfers	30%	of	its	profit	to	the	SME	
Guarantee Fund that is managed by an associate, Business Development Fund Limited(BDF) and the Technical Assistance 
Fund that is managed by the Bank. The allocation is split equally between these two funds.
The amounts allocated to the Technical Assistance Fund are utilized by the Bank to support small and micro enterprises 
(SMEs) capacity building. The amounts allocated to the SME Guarantee Fund is payable to BDF Limited, which uses it to 
provide	financial	guarantees	to	SMEs	to	support	lending	to	that	sector.

15. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Treasury Bills – 150,000

Balances with the National Bank of Rwanda 4,505,365 1,256,464

4,505,365 1,406,464

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Operating accounts with other Banks 29,866,486 20,103,489

29,866,486 20,103,489

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Cash and balances with National Bank of Rwanda (Note 15 (a)) 4,505,365 1,406,464

Amounts due from other Banks (Note 15 (b)) 29,866,486 20,103,489

34,371,851 21,509,953

(a)  Cash and Bank balances with National Bank of Rwanda

Balances	with	National	Bank	of	Rwanda	are	classified	as	current	assets	and	are	non–interest	earning.

Cash reserve requirement

Development Bank of Rwanda is not required to maintain the minimum cash reserve as it is not a deposit taking Bank.

(a)  Amounts due from other Banks

(b)		 Statement	of	cash	flows

For	the	purposes	of	the	statement	of	cash	flows,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	balances	with	less	than	90	days’	maturity	
from the date of acquisition including cash and balances with Banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills.
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16.  Loans and Advances
2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Equipment loans 171,713,307 157,607,686

Overdrafts 532,821 194,953

Mortgages 5,372,401 5,609,471 

Other short term loans  4,235 2,799,739

Gross loans 177,622,764 166,211,849

Suspended interest (7,185,047)  (3,283,364)

Impairment provision on loans and advances:
– Individually assessed (12,778,546) (5,520,017)

– Collectively assessed – (2,034,442)

157,659,171  155,374,026

Broken down as follows:
Current 4,835,514 13,724,284

Non–Current 152,823,657 141,649,742

157,659,171 155,374,026

Expected Credit Loss

Frw’ 000

At start of the year 7,554,459

IFRS 9 adjustment (Through Retained earnings) 5,486,021 

Provision for loan impairment (Note 9) 3,829,970

Provisions	for	off–	balance	sheet	exposures	(Note	23)	 (12,827)

Provisions	written	off	against	written	off	loans	in	the	year (4,091,904)

At end of the year 12,765,719

Specific	allowance	
for impairment

Collective 
allowance for 

impairment

Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

At start of the year 1,455,628 1,385,971 2,841,599

Recoveries on amounts previously provided for (62,875) – (62,875) 

Provision for loan impairment 4,127,264 648,471 4,775,735

Loan impairment charge for the year 4,064,389 648,471 4,712,860

At end of the year 5,520,017 2,034,442 7,554,459

Movements in provisions for impairment of loans and advances are as follows:

(a) Year ended 31 December 2018

(b) Year ended 31 December 2017

17 Equity investments

The	Bank	has	advanced	financing	in	the	form	of	equity	in	exceptional	cases	where	the	project	is	assessed	to	have	a	significant	
impact on the community and its development but where the equity participation is necessary for improving the capital structure 
of the company or where the sponsors are unable to raise additional equity to enable the borrower to operate on a commercially 
sound	footing.	Usually	these	are	companies,	which	have	substantial	development	impact	but	whose	cash	flows	cannot	support	
continuous repayments for long term loans. These are reported as investments in associates, Equity investments at fair value 
through OCI and redeemable convertible preference shares as per the Bank’s accounting policies.

The equity investment in unquoted entities is recorded at cost on initial recognition and subsequently on net asset basis less 
impairment since there is no active market for these investments. In the absence of the most reliable basis of determining fair 
value, net asset less impairment is deemed the most reasonable basis of measurement. The entity will continue to hold onto the 
equity investment and will dispose when appropriate opportunity arises to dispose at a gain.

(a) Investments in associates
2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Business Development Fund 5,971,995 6,102,513

Rwanda Enterprise Investment Company – 12,559

Eastern Province Investment Company 2,617,787 2,210,652

Great Lakes Cement Company – 634,900

8,589,782 8,960,624

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Share of net assets at 1 January 8,960,624 11,689,057 

Additional investment 598,773 – 

Fair Value Adjustments – Note 10 (ii) (758,673) (2,739,657) 

Share	of	profit/(loss)	–	Note	10	(i) (210,942) 11,224 

Share of other comprehensive income /(loss) – –

Share of net assets at 31 December 8,589,782 8,960,624

Associate companies Nature of business Percentage 
shareholding

 2018

Percentage 
shareholding 

2017

Business Development Fund Guarantee Fund 45% 45%

Rwanda Enterprise Investment 
Company 

Investment advisory 38% 38%

Eastern Province Investment Company Hotel 25% 25%

Great Lakes Cement Company Cement production 24% 24% 

Kinazi Cassava Plant Cassava Processing 44% 44%

The following table provides a movement schedule in balances of investments in associates:

The additional investments during the year relate to Eastern Province Investment Company of Frw 475m, Great Lakes Cement 
Company of Frw 40.97m.

The following table provides the nature of business and percentage shareholding of the Bank in each of the associates across 
the years:
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At fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income Available for sale

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Magerwa Limited 524,606 518,489 

Multi–Sector Investment Group Limited 420,345 612,509 

Minimex Limited 95,978 143,567

Kigali City Park Limited 722,625 757, 875

Rwanda Investment Group Limited 755,475 783,652

Edge Hostels Limited 546,691 546,691 

Prime Economic Zones Company Limited 1,820,735 1,593,209 

 Bank of Kigali Limited 1,118,505 1,207,020

Rwanda Stock Exchange 12,061 16,912 

New Forest Company Rwanda Limited 1,260,844 2,192,546 

Rwanda	Farmers	Coffee	Company	Limited	 189,882 156,597 

Rugarama Park Estate Limited 1,903,595 1,580,000 

Crystal Telecom Limited 1,431,901 1,783,122 

Horizon Sopyrwa Limited 1,168,446 1,178,297 

Ziniya Project 424,673 424,673 

Kivu Marina Bay Limited 2,275,000 1,775,000 

14,671,362 15,270,159

At fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income Available for sale

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

At start of the year 15,270,159 17,478,705

Additions 500,000 5,311

Transfer from receivables 323,596  –

Disposal (35,250)  –

Unrealised Fair Value Loss (1,387,143) (2,213,857)

At end of the year 14,671,362 15,270,159

Listed 2,550,406 2,990,142

Unlisted 12,120,956 12,280,017

14,671,362 15,270,159

(b) Equity investments at fair value through OCI

The equity investments are less than 20% of shareholding. Only Bank of Kigali and Crystal Telecom Limited are listed. The equity 
investments are measured at Fair value and in some instances the cost approximates the fair value. Dividends received have 
been recognized in other operating incomes as Dividends.

The following table provides a movement schedule in balances of Equity investments at fair value through OCI:

The transfers in the year ended 31 December 2018 relate to Rugarama Park Estate Limited (Frw 323,596,000: a conversion/
reclassification	from	receivables	to	equity).	Additions	relate	to	Kivu	Marina	Bay	Limited	amounting	to	Frw	500,000,000	while	
the disposal relates to a part sell of Kigali City Park. As at 31 December 2017, there was an additional cash investment of Frw 
5,311,000 made in ZINIYA Project.

(c) Fair Value estimation

IFRS	13	specifies	a	hierarchy	of	valuation	techniques	based	on	whether	the	inputs	to	those	valuation	techniques	are	observable	
or	unobservable.	Observable	inputs	reflect	market	data	obtained	from	independent	sources;	unobservable	inputs	reflect	the	
Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

 f Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. Types 
of	financial	assets	include:	actively	traded	government	and	other	agency	securities,	listed	derivative	instruments	and	listed	
equities.	Types	of	financial	liabilities	include	listed	derivative	instruments;

 f Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. Types of 
financial	assets	include:	corporate	and	other	government	bonds	and	loans,	and	over–the–counter	(OTC)	derivatives.	Types	of	
financial	liabilities	include	over–the–counter	(OTC)	derivatives;

 f Level	3	–	Fair	value	is	determined	using	Valuation	models	using	significant	non–	market	observable	inputs.	Types	of	financial	
assets include: highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in illiquid markets. 
Types	of	financial	liabilities	include	highly	structured	OTC	derivatives	with	unobservable	parameters.

The	following	table	presents	the	Company’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	that	are	measured	at	fair	value:

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4

Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Investments in Associates (Note 17 (a)) – – 8,589,782 8,589,782 

Equity investments at fair value through OCI 
(Note 17 (b)) 

2,550,406 – 12,120,956 14,671,362

Redeemable preference shares (Note 17 (c)) – – – – 

Derivative instruments (Note 18) – 1,536,315 – 1,536,315

Total 2,550,406 1,536,315 20,710,738 24,797,459

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4

Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Investments in Associates (Note 17 (a)) – – 8,960,624 8,960,624 

Equity investments at fair value through OCI 
(Note 17 (b)) 

2,990,142 – 12,280,017 15,270,159 

Redeemable preference shares (Note 17 (c))  – –  – – 

Derivative instruments (Note 18) – 1,214,611 – 1,214,611

Total 2,990,142 1,214,611 21,240,641 25,445,394

As at 31 December 2018:

As at 31 December 2017:
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Currency Swap Outstanding 
USD principal 

receipts

Outstanding 
FRW principal 

payments

Fair Value of 
Asset

Fair Value of 
Liability

Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Contract of 22.12.2015 4,713,586 4,020,921 692,665 –

Contract of 15.02.2016 4,713,586 4,095,327 618,259 –

Contract of 08.12.2016 3,744,533 3,519,142  225,391 – 

Total 13,171,705 11,635,390 1,536,315 –

Currency Swap Outstanding 
USD principal 

receipts

Outstanding 
FRW principal 

payments

Fair Value of 
Asset

Fair Value of 
Liability

Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000   Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Contract of 22.12.2015 5,432,124 4,790,733 608,048 –

Contract of 15.02.2016 5,432,124 4,879,385 518,685 –

Contract of 08.12.2016 4,013,735 3,884,484 87,878 – 

Total 14,877,983 13,554,602 1,214,611 –

As at 31 December 2018:

As at 31 December 2017:

18. Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivatives	are	financial	instruments	that	derive	their	value	in	response	to	changes	in	interest	rates,	financial	instrument	prices,	
commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, credit risk and indices.

The	Bank	entered	into	an	eight–year	swap	transaction	with	the	National	Bank	of	Rwanda	that	took	effect	on	22	December	2015.	
In the SWAP transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with Frw 5,589,188,700. 
The Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$7,500,000 investment and will pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of Rwanda 
on the Swapped local currency amount.

On 15 February 2016, the Bank entered into a second eight–year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In this 
SWAP transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 7,500,000 which was swapped with Frw 5,692,615,380. The 
Bank will receive interest of 2% on the US$ 7,500,000 investments and will pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of Rwanda on 
the Swapped local currency amount.

On 8 December 2016, the Bank entered into a third ten–year swap transaction with the National Bank of Rwanda. In the swap 
transaction, the Bank paid to National Bank of Rwanda US$ 5,000,000 which was swapped with Frw 4,088,931,055. The Bank 
will receive interest of 2% on the US$5,000,000 investment and will pay interest of 8% to the National Bank of Rwanda on the 
Swapped local currency amount.

In	line	with	IAS	39,	financial	instruments	(Swap)	are	carried	at	fair	value.	As	at	31	December	2018,	the	fair	value	of	the	derivative	
financial	instrument	(swap)	was	a	net	asset	of	Frw	1,536,315,237	(2017:	net	asset	of	Frw	1,214,610,637).	The	Bank’s	exposure	
under derivative instruments is monitored as part of the overall management of its market risk.

The outstanding principal receipts and payments for the existing swap contracts and derivative asset or liability are as follows:

The	following	table	provides	a	reconciliation	of	the	change	in	the	value	of	the	net	derivative	financial	instrument	between	01	
January and 31 December:

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 1 January 1,214,611 897,581 

Receipts during the year under swaps contracts (2,579,457) (2,321,639) 

Payments during the year under swaps contracts 3,050,769 2,991,567 

Fair Value gain /(loss) under swaps contracts (149,608) (352,898)

Balance of Net Derivative Asset/(Liability) as at 31 December 1,536,315 1,214,611

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Other receivables 256,244 668,395

Receivable from the sale of Luthon Hotel 500,000 –

Amounts due from MINECOFIN – Africa Smart Investments* 600,000 –

Receivable from East African Exchange (EAX)** 2,000,000 –

Interest receivable on Redeemable Preference Shares 626,682 626,682

Due from the Government of Rwanda and other taxes 146,495 145,567

Amounts advanced to Kinazi Cassava Plant Limited – 27,526

Amounts due from BRD Development Fund Ltd 725,284 306,616

Prepayments 886,700 865,346 

Rwanda Agri–Business Industries assets 1,024,051 1,024,051

Amounts due from Banque Populaire Du Rwanda Limited – 488,365 

Amounts due from BRD Insurance Brokerage Ltd 20,608 20,608

Amounts due from Education 192,339 176,002 

Amounts due from Rugarama Park Estates  62,694 139,774 

7,041,098 4,488,933

The movement in the impairment 
At 1 January 2,275,306 295,026 

Allowance during the year – 2,143,398 

Recoveries during the year*** (302,691) (163,118)

1,972,615 2,275,306

The Balances are broken down as follows: 
Current 2,156,775 2,073,853

Non–Current 2,911,708 139,774

5,068,483 2,213,627

19. Other Assets

*	 Amounts	due	from	Minecofin	–	Africa	Smart	Investments	(ASI)*:	Minecofin	had	provided	a	letter	of	comfort	to	cover	the	loan	granted	to	ASI.	By	the	latter	defaulting,	
Minecofin	took	over	the	loan	commitments.	Those	commitments	were	reclassified	from	loans	to	receivables	and	the	reported	balance	is	the	outstanding	final	instalment.

** MINECOFIN provided a grant of Frw 2 billion (Note 26) to be advanced to EAX as a revolving working capital. The Bank through working with EAX, Its loan client, was tasked 
with recovering and re–advancing this revolving working capital from/to EAX.

*** The Bank decided to provide for the long outstanding receivables on the Exotic cows project undertook in conjunction with MINAGRI and the farmers. This led to reversing 
the provisions that were made against the receivables. The Balances are stated net of any assessed and recognized impairment provision.
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2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

At Start of year 1,037,015 1,787,015

Additions – –

Disposals (1,016,000) –

Less: decline in value – (750,000)

21,015 1,037,015

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Software Software works 
in progress Total Software Software works 

in progress Total

Cost
At 1 January 568,498 686,400 1,254,898 568,498 81,020 649,518

Additions 30,329 310,556 340,885 – 605,380 605,380

Write	off	* (198,650) – (198,650) – – –

Transfer to Software 800,372 (800,372) – – – –

Transfer from Work in Progress 
to IT equipment – (81,020) (81,020) – – –

At 31 December 1,200,549 115,564 1,316,113 568,498 686,400 1,254,898

Amortization

At 1 January (462,368) – (462,368) (343,461) – (343,461)

Charge for 2017 (163,117) – (163,117) (118,907) – (118,907)

Write	off 174,175 – 174,175 – –

– (451,310) – (451,310) (462,368) – (462,368)

Net Book Value at 31 December 749,239 115,564 864,803 106,130 686,400 792,530

20. Investment properties

21. Intangible assets

The disposals during the year relate to properties repossessed from Josephine Uwamwezi and Luthon Hotel. Proceeds from 
sales of both properties amounted to Frw 1,310,450. The valuation of the investment property was based on adjusted sales 
comparison approach. The directors have determined these inputs based on the size and condition of the investment property.

The reported values for investment properties are all level 3 in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. There were no level 1 or 
level 2 assets.

Intangible assets relate to computer software. The additions during the year relate to the expenditure made for the acquisition of 
the new core Banking system and its peripherals.

The transfer from Work In Progress relate to T24 software which was capitalized during the year while transfer to equipment 
relate to Laptops that were wrongly booked under Work in Progress.

22. Property and Equipment

Land and 
buildings IT equipment Motor 

vehicles
Furniture	&	

fittings
Works in 
progress Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cost / valuation
As at 1 January 2018 9,058,891 760,336 244,467 1,167,215 542,553 11,773,462

Additions – 20,797 – – – 20,797

Disposal (77,877) – –  – – (77,877)

Revaluation 4,669,491 – – – – 4,669,491

Adjustments 539,665 – – (539,665) – –

Transfer from Software Work in 
Progress 81,020 – 81,020

Transfer from Work in Progress 
to Other assets* (17,142) (17,142)

Transfer from Work in Progress 21,762 (21,762) –

Write	off (283,297) (24,364) (62,550) – (370,211)

Removal of depreciation on 
Revalued Asset (1,047,605) (1,047,605)

As at 31 December 2018 13,142,565 600,618 220,103 565,000 503,649 15,031,935

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2018  (924,393) (479,540) (178,590) (448,294) – (2,030,817)

Charge for the year (247,619) (185,828) (30,924) (35,827) – (500,198)

Write	off – 144,031 5,338 43,179 – 192,548

Removal of depreciation on 
Revalued Asset 1,047,605 – – – – 1,047,605

As at 31 December 2018 (124,407) (521,337) (204,176) (440,942) – (1,290,862)

Net Book Value as at  
31 December 2018 13,018,158 79,281 15,927 124,058 503,649 13,741,073

Work in Progress relates to technical design for construction of a new building.

Adjustment	relates	to	reconciliation	done	during	the	year	to	reconcile	fixed	assets	register	to	the	general	ledger.

*This relates to assets purchased for the BRD Education Financing department in 2014.

Year ended 31 December 2018:
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Land and 
buildings IT equipment Motor 

vehicles
Furniture	&	

fittings
Works in 
progress Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Cost / valuation
As at 1 January 2017 8,953,915 618,020 244,467 1,129,708 598,700 11,544,810

Additions  6,439 142,666 – 45,000 48,615 242,720

Disposal  (6,225) (350) – – – (6,575)

Adjustments (7,493) (7,493)

Transfer from Work in Progress 104,762 – – – (104,762) –

As at 31 December 2017 9,058,891 760,336 244,467 1,167,215 542,553 11,773,462

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2018  (668,083) (396,361) (134,377) (389,224) – (1,588,045)

Charge for the year (256,310) (83,179) (44,213) (59,290) – (442,992)

Disposal – – – 220 – 220

Adjustments – – – – – –

As at 31 December 2018 (924,393) (479,540) (178,590) (448,294) – (2,030,817)

Net Book Value as at  
31 December 2018 8,134,498 280,796 65,877 718,921 542,553 9,742,645

Fair value measurement Date of valuation Total Significant	unobservable	inputs	(Level	3)

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Land and buildings 2018 13,142,565 13,142,565

Land and Buildings were revalued in 2017 and 2018 respectively based on the estimated market value. The revaluation was 
carried	out	by	certified	valuers.	Revaluation	was	based	on	open	market	value.	In	arriving	at	the	valuation	figures	the	following	
principles have been assumed and applied:

Year Ended 31 December 2017:

Revaluation	was	based	on	open	market	value.	In	arriving	at	the	valuation	figures	the	following	principles	have	been	assumed	and	
applied:

 f A willing buyer and willing seller both of whom are fully informed about the property and not acting out of compulsion;

 f That to the date of valuation, a reasonable period of time would be allowed to properly market the property taking into 
account	the	nature	of	the	property,	the	state	of	the	market	and	allowing	sufficient	time	for	the	agreement	price,	terms	and	
completion of the sale;

 f That the state of the market, levels of values and other circumstances were on any earlier assumed date of exchange of 
contracts, the same as on the date of valuation;

 f That no account would be taken of any bid by a purchaser with special interest.

The fair value of the property has been determined on a market value basis in accordance with the methods and standards of 
cost estimation and analysis as set by the Institute of Rwanda Property Valuers (IRPV) and the International Valuation Standards 
Council. The valuations were performed by Eng. Mbayiha Thierry and Muhire Jean Claude, accredited independent valuers with 
a	recognized	and	relevant	professional	qualification	with	recent	experience	in	the	category	of	the	investment	property	being	
valued.

23. Other payables

24. Borrowings

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Advances from customers 1,359,685 222,008 

Payments in transit 1,054,784 1,337,622 

Statutory deductions payable 145,620 40,425 

Other taxes payable 22,873 85,975 

Amounts due to local creditors 49,037 49,037 

Accrued expenses 152,407 1,081,976 

Other payables 1,499,374 2,241,065

Provisions	for	off–balance	sheet	exposures 12,827 

Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) 2,061,492 2,011,043 

Amounts due to BRD Development Fund Ltd 1,707,125 3,020,396 

Amounts due to Banque Populaire Du Rwanda 36,205 1,437,121

8,101,429 11,526,668

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Afrexim Bank 14,313,106 15,428,648 

Shelter Afrique 8,463,022 9,471,664 

East African Development Bank 16,511,994 19,740,271 

European Investment Bank 4,958,162 5,819,118 

African Development Bank (AFDB) 22,033,773 4,770,047 

Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning– Tea growing 1,050,000 1,050,000 

BADEA 14,640,694 15,182,484 

BDEGL 9,980,762 6,447,267 

GASHORA GIRL 264,210 237,781 

 Bank of Kigali – 3,208,863 

Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau (KFW) 3,683,540 1,902,632

Eastern and Southern African Trade and Development Bank (TDB) 3,068,162 3,802,487

Kenya Commercial Bank 8,835,025 – 

Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) 47,755,372 61,488,015

155,557,822 148,549,278

Broken down as follows:
Current 38,372,008 20,768,462

Non – Current 117,185,814 127,780,816

155,557,822 148,549,278

The Bank has not given any security for the borrowings and has not defaulted on any of them.



128          A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

D E V E L O P M E N T  B A N K  O F  R W A N D A w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           129128          A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8

D E V E L O P M E N T  B A N K  O F  R W A N D A w w w . b r d . r w

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 8           129

Notes to the financial statements – ContinuedNotes to the financial statements – Continued

Lender Purpose Terms Maturity Date Currency

Afrexim Bank Financing acceptable sub–
borrowers engaged in trade and 
related activities in Rwanda

USD 10m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.05% 31 November 2021 USD

USD 10m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.05% 31 October 2024 USD

Shelter Afrique Line	of	credit	to	finance	
construction of housing units in 
Rwanda

USD 7.6m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR plus a margin of 6.2%; 31 December 2022 USD

USD 10m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR plus a margin of 5.5%. 30 June 2025 USD

East African Development 
Bank

Line	of	credit	facility	to	finance	
eligible projects

USD 5m for 8 years , at an interest 
rate of Aggregate of the six– month 
LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.2%;

01 June 2021 USD

USD 10M for 8 years at an interest 
rate of 7.255%; 01 December 2023 USD

USD 15M for 8 years at an interest 
rate of 6.755% 25 March 2024 USD

European Investment 
Bank

Line	of	credit	facility	to	finance	up	
to 50% of eligible projects

USD 9.3m at – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 1.36% 28 February 2023 USD

African Development 
Bank (AFDB)

Line	of	credit	facility	to	finance	
eligible projects primarily, SMEs

USD 8m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 4.67% 01 February 2023 USD

USD 20m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 4.67% 01 August 2027 USD

BADEA To	finance	SMEs	and	MFIs USD 15m – Aggregate of the six–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 5.0%; 1 May 2026 USD

USD 3.5m – 2% 10 July 2029 USD

BDEGL To	finance	SMEs	and	MFIs USD 5m at 7.0% 31 December 2022 USD

USD 5m at 7.0% 01 November 2027 USD

USD 5m at 5.0% 01 November 2023 USD

Rwanda Social Security 
Board (RSSB)

Term	deposits	to	finance	eligible	
projects

FRW	58,840m	–	at	an	effective	
interest rate of 10.47% 1 July 2032 Frw

Ministry of Finance and 
Economic Planning– Tea 
growing

Financing	five	tea	growing	projects FRW 1,500m – At 0% 31 December 2024 Frw

Gashora Girls Initiative Financing of higher  
education for Rwandan girls USD 240,000 at 8% 11 October 2027 USD

Kreditanstalt Fur 
Wiederaufbau (KFW)

Promoting growth and export 
oriented small and medium 
enterprises (SMEs) in Rwanda

FRW 3,650,400,000 at 3.076% 2027–2028 Frw

Eastern and Southern 
African Trade and 
Development Bank (TDB)

Line	of	credit	facility	to	finance	
eligible projects

USD 5m – Aggregate of the three–
month LIBOR, plus a margin of 6.5% 30 June 2023 USD

Kenya Commercial Bank
To enable Rwanda Development 
Bank	to	finance	Bugesera	Airport	
project.

USD 10m – Aggregate of the one–
year LIBOR, plus a margin of 3% April and June 2019 USD

24.1		 Changes	in	liabilities	arising	from	financing	activities

25. Special funds

1 January 
2018 Additions Repayments 

Foreign 
Exchange 

movement

Accrued 
interest Other** 1 December 

2018 

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Borrowings 148,549,278 32,696,112 (28,904,490) 1,543,136 11,673,787 (10,000,000) 155,557,822 

Special funds 17,676,459 1,166,929 (139,276) 17 19,743 (12,033,785) 6,690,087 

Grants 517,037 2,002,079 – 342 – – 2,519,458

166,742,774 35,865,120 (29,043,766) 1,543,495 11,693,530 (22,033,785) 164,767,367

**Others on borrowings and Special funds relate to borrowings and special funds converted by RSSB into Share capital.

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Government of Rwanda public fund – 8,854,993 

Microfinance	Funds	–	Belgium	Cooperation 1.371.483 1,371,483 

Business plan competition fund/PSF 123,776 121,300 

KFW line of credit Investment fund 666,958 666,958 

Rural Investment Facility 492,934 499,167 

Education promotion fund – 1,500,000 

FIFAPI ROPARWA fund 892,581 892,581 

MINAGRI–PDCRE fund – 1,477,220 

MINAGRI Fertilizer fund – 201,571 

MINAGRI–Belgium cooperation fund 262,084 262,084 

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund 418 402

SME technical assistance fund 414,015 431,886 

Other special funds 1,212,852 327,794 

FONERWA 788,200 788,200 

KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau 270,409 270,409 

BDEGL II CAPACITY BUILDING GRANT 30,154 10,411 

World Bank Technical Assistance Fund 164,223 –

6,690,087 17,676,459

The above balances are all non – current.
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Fund Details

Government of Rwanda 
Public fund

Granted by the government through the Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning to facilitate 
financing	of	export,	microfinance	and	mortgage	related	projects

Microfinance	Funds	–	
Belgium Cooperation

Granted	by	Belgium	Cooperation	for	technical	assistance	and	capacity	building	of	microfinance	
institutions

Business plan competition 
fund/PSF

Fund from Private Sector Federation for technical assistance to startup projects

KFW line of credit 
Investment fund

Fund	from	KFW	used	to	promote	training,	technical	assistance,	financing.	Forms	part	of	the	guarantee	
to SMEs

Rural Investment Facility Granted	by	the	government	through	the	Poverty	Reduction	Strategy	Grant	to	finance	agro	related	
industries and other related projects

Education promotion fund Granted by the government through the Ministry of Education on the implementation of the Education 
Promotion Fund

FIFAPI ROPARWA fund Granted by ROPARWA ( Le Reseau des Organisations Paysannes du Rwanda) for strengthening the 
capacity of farmers’ organizations

MINAGRI–PDCRE fund Fund through the government of Rwanda from the International Fund for Agricultural Development yto 
maximize and diversify the revenues of the poorer growers of cash crops, thus promoting commercial 
transformation	activities	and	financially	viable	market

MINAGRI Fertilizer fund Fund from the government via the Ministry of Agriculture and Animal ResourcesFinance purchase of 
fertilizer by farmers in Rwanda

MINAGRI–Belgium 
cooperation fund

Fund	from	Belgium	cooperation	via	the	Ministry	of	Agriculture	and	Animal	Resources	for	financing	
microfinance	sector

MINAGRI/KWAMP Fund Kirehe Community Based Watershed Management Project (KWAMP) is a fund from the Ministry of 
Agriculture and Animal Resources for building watersheds in Kirehe District, using funds from the 
International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)

FONERWA Fund	Financing	to	finance	private	sector	projects	in	Clean	Technology	environmental	sustainability,	&	
Climate Resilient and green investments

KFW/Kreditanstalt Fur 
Wiederaufbau

Fund for promoting growth and export oriented small and Medium Enterprises in Rwanda

BDEGL II Capacity Building 
Grant

Fund granted along with a line of credit to cater for the Bank’s capacity building programme

World Bank Technical 
Assistance Fund

Fund to assist BRD in Scaling up Renewable Energy Program under the Strategic Climate Fund

Other Special Funds Other special Funds relate to Fund FAD I, FED I, BEI II, BPC II of Frw 56m (2017 : Frw 56m) and Export 
Growth Funds from MINECOFIN of Frw 1,156,517m (2017 : Frw 271,690m)

Fund Details

The Belgium 
Co–operation 
Microfinance

The	Belgium	cooperation	grant	is	used	for	technical	assistance	and	capacity	building	to	microfinance	institutions	or	
for	the	Bank’s	operating	expenses	related	to	microfinance	support

UNDP Grant The	UNDP	Grant	is	a	refinancing	facility	for	capacity	building	of	MFIs	under	the	Building	Inclusive	Financial	Sector	in	
Rwanda

FAPA Grant The	purpose	of	this	grant	is	to	finance	certain	expenditures	required	for	provision	of	technical	assistance	for	capacity	
building	that	will	contribute	to	strengthening	BRD’s	capacity	and	enabling	it	to	contribute	more	efficiently	and	
effectively	to	the	economic	development	of	Rwanda

PASP Grant The PASP grant, Post–harvest and Agribusiness support project, primary objective is to increase smallholder and 
rural labourer incomes (including women, youth and vulnerable groups) from CIP crops and dairy businesses by 
supporting aggregation of production for markets, transformation, and value–addition to enable smallholders to 
capture a higher share of the value. The project’s primary focus is the facilitation of inclusive business activities that 
can thrive on increased agricultural production from CIP crops and dairy development

Price Grant The purpose of this grant is to raise smallholder farmer’s incomes through greater sustainable by increasing the 
volume	and	quality	of	crop	production,	improve	marketing	and	more	effective	famer	organisations

RAB Grant In partnership with the PASP project, this grant was provided for the climate resilient processing plant project

MINECOFIN – EAX MINECOFIN provided a grant of Frw 2 billion to be advanced to EAX as a revolving working capital. The Bank through 
working with EAX, Its loan client, was tasked with recovering (Note 19) and re–advancing this revolving working capital 
from/to EAX

27. Share Capital and Share Premium
Number of 

shares
Par value Total

Frw’ 000    

As at 1 January 2017 7,276,421 1,000 7,276,421

Share Buy Back 18,191 – (18,191)

As at 31 December 2017 7,258,230 1,000 7,258,230

As at 1 January 2018 7,258,230 1,000 7,258,230 

Issued shares 31,842,078 1,000 31,842,078 

Prorata issue of bought back shares 550,701 1,000 550,701

As at 31 December 2018 39,100,309 1,000 39,100,309

26. Grants
2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Belgium	Co–	operation	microfinance	 209,875 209,875 

UNDP grant for MFIs 107,545 107,545 

Fapa Grant 8,820 8,478 

PASP Grant 116,773 116,773 

PRICE Grant 24,240 24,240 

RAB Grant 50,126 50,126

Minecofin	–	For	East	African	Exchange	(EAX) 2,002,079

2,519,458 517,037
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Share Premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

Authorized share capital:

On September 19, 2016 an extra ordinary meeting of the shareholders of the Bank approved for capital of the Bank from Frw 
7.8billion to Frw 57.8 billion. This increase has been approved by the General Assembly of the Shareholders and the majority 
shareholders have indicated their respective commitments and when that is planned to be paid up. The two main shareholders, 
Government of Rwanda (GoR) and Rwanda Social Security Board (RSSB) injected additional share capital during the year ended 
31 December 2018. GoR injected Frw 4,257,592,150 while RSSB injected Frw 15 billion during the period out of which Frw 5 
billion was in form of cash and Frw 10 billion was converted from borrowings owed to RSSB by the Bank. Additionally, special 
funds worth Frw 12billion were converted to Share capital from Government of Rwanda.

Shares	bought	back	from	DEG,	FMO,	I&M	and	Bank	of	Tokyo	in	the	year	2016	and	2017	totaling	to	550,701	shares	(par	value	of	
Frw 1,000 each) were issued prorata to all shareholders during the year with a reduction in retained earnings. The authorized 
share capital registered with Rwanda development Board is 57,808,931 shares at Frw 1,000 each. All shareholders have the same 
voting rights during annual and general meetings which is equal to the number of paid up shares held by the member.

(b) Share Premium

The share premium arose on the purchase of shares by one of the minority shareholders and, Government of Rwanda debt 
to CSR from the export promotion fund, Rwanda Social Security Board Debt outstanding by BRD and on the share swap with 
Magerwa.

28. Other reserves
2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Revaluation reserves 10,911,747 6,242,256 

Legal reserves 1,088,127 1,088,127 

Ordinary reserves 232,561 232,561 

Fair value reserve (1,408,151) (21,008) 

Supplementary capital reserve 11,510,322 11,510,322

22,334,606 19,052,258

Movements in other reserves are shown on the statement of changes in equity. The revaluation surplus represents the surplus 
on the revaluation of buildings and freehold land and is non– distributable. In accordance with Article 9 of law No 15/91 of April 
1991	related	to	modification	of	law	of	August	5,	1967	creating	BRD,	legal	reserves	are	mandatory	and	computed	by	deducting	5%	
of	net	profit	after	off–setting	of	previous	losses	until	reserves	amount	to	10%	of	share	capital.	The	reserve	is	not	distributable.	No	
new reserves have been transferred during the year 2017 and year 2018 as the legal reserves are above the 10% of the share 
capital as at 31 December 2017 and as at 31 December 2018.

Ordinary reserves are voluntary reserves made by the Bank’s shareholders. The percentage of transfer to be made is determined 
by the board of directors. Fair value reserves represent fair value gains on Equity investments at fair value through OCI and are 
not distributable.

Supplementary capital reserve relates to a Government of Rwanda subordinated debt that was converted into equity following a 
Government of Rwanda decision in 2010. The reserve is not distributable.

29. Financial Risk Management 

(A) Introduction and overview
The	Bank	has	exposure	to	the	following	risks	as	a	result	of	its	operations	and	from	its	use	of	financial	instruments:

 f Credit risk;

 f Liquidity risk; and

 f Market risk

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk and the Bank’s management of capital.

Risk management framework
The Bank’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank’s risk management 
framework. The board has established the Risk Committee, Credit Risk Committee and the Risk Management Division which are 
responsible	for	developing	and	monitoring	the	risk	management	policies	in	their	specified	areas.	The	Board	Risk	Committee	has	
both executive and non– executive members and reports regularly to the Board of Directors on their activities.

The Bank’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to	reflect	changes	in	market	conditions,	products	and	services	offered.	The	Bank	through	its	procedures	aims	to	develop	a	
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with changes 
in	market	variables,	expected	cash	flows	and	the	passage	of	time.	The	assessment	of	credit	risk	of	a	portfolio	of	assets	entails	
further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between 
counterparties.

The Bank’s Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and procedures, 
and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Board Audit 
Committee is assisted in these functions by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Bank also seeks to raise its interest margins by obtaining above–average margins, net of allowances, through lending to 
commercial	and	retail	borrowers	with	a	good	credit	standing.	The	Bank	also	enters	into	financial	guarantee	contracts	which	are	
commitments	in	the	form	of	letters	of	credit	that	it	discloses	as	off	balance	sheet	items.

30. Financial Risk Management

(B) Credit Risk
Credit	risk	is	the	risk	of	suffering	financial	loss,	should	any	of	the	Bank’s	customers,	clients	or	market	counterparties	fail	to	
fulfil	their	contractual	obligations	to	the	Bank.	Credit	risk	arises	mainly	from	commercial	and	loans	and	advances	and	loan	
commitments	arising	from	such	lending	activities,	but	can	also	arise	from	credit	enhancement	provided,	such	as	financial	
guarantees, letters of credit and acceptances.

The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities and other exposures arising from its 
trading activities (‘trading exposures’), including settlement balances with market counterparties..
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Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit 
risk. The credit risk management and control are centralized in a credit risk management team, which reports to the Board of 
Directors	through	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	head	of	each	business	unit	regularly.

Impairment assessment (Policy applicable from 1 January 2018)

i. Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances (Including commitments and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies with changes 
in	market	variables,	expected	cash	flows	and	the	passage	of	time.	The	assessment	of	credit	risk	of	a	portfolio	of	assets	entails	
further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between 
counterparties.

Regulatory rating Internal Rating Grade description

I I Performing

II II Watch

III III Substandard

IV IV Doubtful

V V Loss

The Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is 
similar to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer to note 30 (B) (ii) for 
more details.

Credit risk grading
The	Bank	uses	the	National	Bank	of	Rwanda	(BNR)	credit	risk	gradings	to	reflect	its	assessment	of	the	probability	of	default	of	
individual counterparties. The facilities are rated as either performing, watch, substandard, doubtful or loss, based on the number 
of	days	overdue.	The	classification	criteria	are	as	follows:

Performing
These	are	credit	facilities	which	are	up	to	date	in	payments.	Where	there	are	no	fixed	payments,	these	are	facilities	that	are	
operating within their approval limits and are unexpired.

Watch
These	are	credit	facilities	where	principal	or	interest	is	due	and	unpaid	for	30	days	to	89	days,	or	for	facilities	with	no	fixed	
payments, the approval limit has been exceeded by 30 days to 89 days, or the credit line has expired for more than 30 days to 89 
days.

Substandard
 Bank’s exposure.

These	are	loan	balances	due	for	90	days	but	less	than	180	days.	They	are	also	those	credit	facilities	that	display	well–	defined	
credit	weaknesses	that	jeopardize	the	liquidation	of	the	debt	such	as	inadequate	cash	flow	to	service	the	debt,	undercapitalized	
or	insufficient	working	capital,	absence	of	adequate	financial	information	or	security	documentation	and	irregular	payment	of	
principal or interest.

Doubtful
These are loan balances that are more than 180 days but less than 365 days overdue. They are also those credit facilities which, 
in addition to the weaknesses existing in substandard credits, have deteriorated to the extent that full repayment is unlikely or 
that	realizable	security	values	will	be	insufficient	to	cover	the	Loss

These are loans that are more than 365 days overdue. These are also those credit facilities that are considered uncollectable or 
which	may	have	some	recovery	value,	but	it	is	not	considered	practicable	nor	desirable	to	defer	write	off.	They	are	also	accounts	
classified	as	“Doubtful”	with	little	or	no	improvement	over	the	period	it	has	been	classified	as	such.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk grade. Once a facility is 
classified	as	substandard,	the	probability	of	default	reaches	100%.

ii. Expected credit loss measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three–stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as summarised 
below:

 f A	financial	instrument	that	is	not	credit–impaired	on	initial	recognition	is	classified	in	‘Stage	1’	and	has	its	credit	risk	
continuously monitored by the Bank;

 f If	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	(‘SICR’)	since	initial	recognition	is	identified,	the	financial	instrument	is	moved	to	‘Stage	2’	
but is not yet deemed to be credit–impaired. Please refer to note 30 (B) (ii) (a) for a description of how the Bank determines 
when	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	has	occurred;

 f If	the	financial	instrument	is	credit–impaired,	the	financial	instrument	is	then	moved	to	‘Stage	3’.	Please	refer	to	note	30	(B)	(ii)	
(b)	for	a	description	of	how	the	Bank	defines	credit–impaired	and	default;

 f Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit 
losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL 
measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 30 (B) (ii) (c) for a description of inputs, 
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL;

 f A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward–looking information. Note 
30 (B) (ii) (d) includes an explanation of how the Bank has incorporated this in its ECL models;

 f Purchased	or	originated	credit–impaired	financial	assets	are	those	financial	assets	that	are	credit–impaired	on	initial	
recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3);

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated credit–
impaired	financial	assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

(Initial recognition) (Significant	increase	in	credit	risk	since	
initial recognition)

Credit–impaired assets

12–month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard are discussed below:

(a) Significant Increase in Credit risk (SICR)
The Bank continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of 
instruments	is	subject	to	12mECL	or	LTECL,	the	Bank	assesses	whether	there	has	been	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	since	
initial	recognition.	The	Bank	considers	a	financial	instrument	to	have	experienced	a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	when	one	or	
more of the following quantitative or qualitative criteria have been met:
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For the Bank loan assets, if the borrower meets one or 
more of the following criteria:

 f In short–term forbearance

 f Significant	adverse	changes	in	business,	financial	
and/or economic conditions in which the borrower 
operates;

 f Actual	or	expected	significant	adverse	change	in	
operating results of the borrower;

 f Significant	change	in	collateral	value	(secured	facilities	
only) which is expected to increase risk of default;

 f Early	signs	of	cashflow/liquidity	problems	such	as	
delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans.

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward–looking 
information (refer to note 30 (B) (ii) (d) for further 
information) and is performed on a quarterly basis at each 
contract level for all loan instruments held by the Bank. The 
criteria used to identify SICR are monitored and reviewed 
periodically for appropriateness by management.

Backstop
A	backstop	is	applied,	and	the	financial	instrument	
considered	to	have	experienced	a	significant	increase	in	
credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days past due 
on its contractual payments.

The Bank has not used the low credit risk exemption 
for	any	financial	instruments	in	the	period	ended	31	
December 2018.

(b) Definition of Default and credit impaired assets
The	Bank	defines	a	financial	instrument	as	in	default,	which	
is	fully	aligned	with	the	definition	of	credit–impaired,	when	
it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Qualitative criteria:

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which 
indicates	the	borrower	is	in	significant	financial	difficulty.	
These are instances where:

 f The borrower is in long–term forbearance;

 f The borrower is deceased;

 f The borrower is insolvent;

 f The	borrower	is	in	breach	of	financial	covenant(s);

 f Concessions have been made by the lender relating to 
the	borrower’s	financial	difficulty;

 f It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter 
Bankruptcy.

The	criteria	above	have	been	applied	to	all	financial	
instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with 
the	definition	of	default	used	for	internal	credit	risk	
management	purposes.	The	default	definition	has	been	
applied consistently to model the Probability of Default 
(PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default 
(LGD) throughout the Bank’s expected loss calculations.

(c) Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and 
estimation techniques
The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 
12–month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether 
a	significant	increase	in	credit	risk	has	occurred	since	
initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be 
credit– impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted 
product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at 
Default	(EAD),	and	Loss	Given	Default	(LGD),	defined	as	
follows:

 f The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower 
defaulting	on	its	financial	obligation	(as	per	“Definition	
of default and credit–impaired” above), either over 
the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining 
lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation;

 f EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be 
owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months 
(12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime 
EAD);

 f Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s 
expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted 
exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type 
and seniority of claim and availability of collateral 
or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a 
percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of 
default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12–month or 
lifetime basis, where 12–month LGD is the percentage 
of loss expected to be made if the default occurs 
in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the 
percentage of loss expected to be made if the default 
occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the 
loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD 
for each future month and for each individual exposure or 
collective segment. 

These three components are multiplied together and 
adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure 
has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This 
effectively	calculates	an	ECL	for	each	future	month,	
which is then discounted back to the reporting date and 
summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation 
is	the	original	effective	interest	rate	or	an	approximation	
thereof.

The	Lifetime	PD	is	developed	by	applying	a	maturity	profile	
to	the	current	12M	PD.	The	maturity	profile	looks	at	how	
defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial 
recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The 
maturity	profile	is	based	on	historical	observed	data	and	is	
assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio 
and credit grade band. This is supported by historical 
analysis.

The 12–month and lifetime EADs are determined based on 
the	expected	payment	profile:

 f For amortising products and bullet repayment 
loans, this is based on the contractual repayments 
owed by the borrower over a 12month or lifetime 
basis. This will also be adjusted for any expected 
overpayments made by a borrower. Early repayment/
refinance	assumptions	are	also	incorporated	into	the	
calculation. 
 
The 12–month and lifetime LGDs are determined 
based on the factors which impact the recoveries 
made post default. These vary by product type:

 f For secured products, this is primarily based on 
collateral type and projected collateral values, 
historical discounts to market/book values due to 
forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs 
observed;

 f The	Loss	Given	Write	off	(LGW)	has	been	assumed	to	
be 100% for the unsecured portfolio.

To consider macroeconomic factors, a downside LGD was 
estimated. This is the LGD that would occur in case there 
was an economic downturn. This is because during a 
downturn,	recovery	cash	flows	will	most	likely	be	less	than	
would be the case under normal circumstances.

For this model, the formula used to estimate the downside 
LGD is the US Federal Reserve Formula. That is: Downside 
LGD= (0.92 x LGD) + 0.08

The Bank will continue to capture data on the recovery 
cash	flows	experienced	during	economic	downturns	and	
compare	this	to	the	recovery	cash	flows	received	during	
normal economic periods. This will enable a more accurate 
estimate of the downside LGD.

(d) Forward–looking information incorporated in the ECL 
models
The preferred approach to determine macroeconomic 
assumptions is to develop regression models that develop 
correlations between various macroeconomic indicators 
and the PDs, LGDs and EADs. In case a Bank cannot come 
up with a credible economic model, then IFRS 9 allows the 
Bank to apply management judgment.

The	Bank	estimates	the	effect	macroeconomic	factors	
would have on the Bank’s loan portfolio as follows:

 f PD – A macroeconomic overlay was applied to the PD 
determined for each Point in Time thus adjusting it 
to	reflect	forward	looking	information.	The	size	of	the	
overlay	was	influenced	by	the	economic	scenario.	For	
the	applied	ECL	model,	3	different	economic	scenarios	
were applied. These economic scenarios are:

i. Base scenario – This incorporates aggressive 
assumptions that are expected to result in the 
most ideal probability of default outcome;

ii. Optimistic scenario – This is incorporating 
prudent assumptions that are expected to result 
in a lower probability of default outcome;

iii. Pessimistic scenario – This is incorporating basic 
assumptions that are expected to result in a 
higher probability of default outcome.

 f LGD – A downside LGD estimate was estimated by 
applying the Fed formula as shown in section 30 
(B) (ii) (c) Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, 
assumptions and estimation techniques;

 f EAD – the EAD used in the model does not take into 
account any forward looking information in respect of 
prepayment	and	refinancing	rates	but	rather	assumes	
a contractual rundown of the facilities. This is due 
to the characteristics of the Bank’s loan assets that 
provide less and limited data to reasonably estimate 
those rates;

 f ECL – Three economic scenarios were run and a 
probability weighted ECL was then determined by 
applying weights to each of these scenarios. The 
weights	reflected	management’s	view	of	the	likelihood	
of each of the 3 economic scenarios occurring.
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Other forward–looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact of any 
regulatory, legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material impact and 
therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on a 
quarterly basis.

Sensitivity Analysis
The	most	significant	assumptions	affecting	the	ECL	allowance	are	as	follows:

i. Collateral haircuts, and

ii. Time to realisation of collaterals

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2018 that would result from reasonably possible changes in these 
parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Bank’s economic variable assumptions (for example, the impact on ECL 
of increasing the estimated recovery period by 1 year mainly on commercial and residential properties in each of the base, 
optimistic and pessimistic scenarios):

Time to realisation: The directors have assumed a time to realisation of two years for commercial and residential properties. If the 
time to realisation is increased to three years, the estimated credit loss would increase by Frw 2,950 million.

Collateral haircuts: The directors have assumed collateral haircuts of 50% for commercial and 30% for residential properties. If 
the haircuts are increased by 1,000 basis points, the expected credit loss would increase by Frw 4,465 million.

iii. Credit Risk Exposure
(a) Maximum exposure to credit risk – Financial assets subject to ECL
Credit	risk	is	the	risk	that	a	counterparty	will	not	meet	its	obligations	under	a	financial	instrument	or	customer	contract,	leading	
to	a	financial	loss.	The	Bank	is	exposed	to	credit	risk	from	its	operating	activities	(primarily	loans	and	advances)	and	from	its	
financing	activities,	including	deposits	with	Banks	and	financial	institutions,	foreign	exchange	transactions	and	other	financial	
instruments.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses.

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	at	the	reporting	date	is	the	carrying	value	of	each	class	of	financial	assets	as	disclosed	
below.

The	following	table	contain	an	analysis	of	the	credit	risk	exposure	of	financial	instruments	for	which	an	ECL	allowance	is	
recognised.	The	gross	carrying	amount	of	financial	assets	below	represents	the	Bank’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	on	these	
assets.

2018 2017

ECL Staging

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Normal 68,233,049 1,145,519 – 69,378,568 100,988,466 

Watch 51,982,291 16,215,251 215,489 68,413,031 34,439,945 

Default 1,949,973 33,791 37,847,401 39,831,165 30,783,438 

Gross 122,165,313 17,394,561 38,062,890 177,622,764 166,211,849

Less:

ECL allowance (1,012,670) (1,618,200) (10,134,849) (12,765,719) (7,554,459)

Interests in suspense – – (7,185,047) (7,185,047) (3,283,364)

Carrying amount 121,152,643 15,776,361 20,742,994 157,671,998 155,374,026

The	Bank	closely	monitors	collateral	held	for	financial	assets	considered	to	be	credit–impaired,	as	it	becomes	more	likely	that	the	
Bank will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit– impaired and related 
collateral held to mitigate potential losses as at 31 December 2018 are shown below:

Gross amount ECL Allowance Interests in 
suspense

Carrying 
Amount

Discounted 
Fair Value of 

collaterals

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Stage 1 122,165,313 (1,012,670) – 121,152,643 132,479,589 

Stage 2 17,394,561 (1,618,200) – 15,776,361 16,752,765 

Stage 3  38,062,890 (10,134,849) (7,185,047) 20,742,994 23,548,366 

177,622,764 (12,765,719) (7,185,047) 157,671,998 172,780,720

(b) Maximum exposure to credit risk – Financial assets not subject to ECL
The	maximum	credit	risk	exposure	from	financial	assets	not	subject	to	ECL	impairment	(i.e.	at	FVTPL	and	FVTOCI)	are	as	follows:

2018 2017

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000    

Equity investments at FVTOCI 14,671,362 15,270,159

Derivative	financial	instruments 1,536,315 1,214,611

16,207,677 16,484,770

(c) Collateral and other credit enhancements
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to 
mitigate credit risk. The Bank seeks to use collateral, where 
possible,	to	mitigate	its	risks	on	financials	assets.	The	
most common of these is accepting collateral for granted 
loans and advances. The Bank has internal policies on the 
acceptability	of	specific	classes	of	collateral	or	credit	risk	
mitigation.

The Bank prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained 
as part of the loan origination process. The fair value 
is general assessed at inceptions and is reviewed 
periodically. To the extent possible, the Bank uses active 
market	data	for	valuing	financial	assets.	However,	some	
collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to 
margining requirements, is valued daily. Collateral, unless 
repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s statement 
of	financial	position.	However,	the	fair	value	of	collateral	
affects	the	calculation	of	ECLs.

The principal collateral types for loans and advances are:

 f Mortgages over residential and commercial 
properties;

 f Charges over business assets such as premises, 
inventory and accounts receivable;

 f Commitments and letters of undertaking from the 
Government of Rwanda and other corporations; and

 f Local and foreign credit guarantees

Longer–term	finance	and	lending	to	corporate	entities	are	
generally secured.

The Bank’s accounting policy for collateral assigned to it 
through its lending arrangements under IFRS 9 is the same 
is	it	was	under	IAS	39	and	there	has	been	no	significant	
change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the 
Bank since the prior period.
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iv. Loss Allowance
The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by 
a variety of factors, as described below:

 f Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due 
to	financial	instruments	experiencing	significant	
increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming 
credit–impaired in the period, and the consequent 
“step up” (or “step down”) between 12–month and 
Lifetime ECL;

 f Additional	allowances	for	new	financial	instruments	
recognised during the period, as well as releases for 
financial	instruments	de–recognised	in	the	period;

 f Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in 
PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from regular 
refreshing of inputs to models;

 f Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes 
made to models and assumptions;

 f Financial assets derecognised during the period and 
write–offs	of	allowances	related	to	assets	that	were	
written	off	during	the	period.

v. Write – off Policy
The	Bank	writes	off	financial	assets,	in	whole	or	in	part,	
when	it	has	exhausted	all	practical	recovery	efforts	and	has	
concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery include:

 f ceasing enforcement activity; and
 f where the Bank’s recovery method is foreclosing on 

collateral and the value of the collateral is such that 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in 
full.

The	Bank	may	write–off	financial	assets	that	are	still	subject	
to enforcement activity and subsequently seek to recover 
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been 
partially	written	off	due	to	no	reasonable	expectation	of	full	
recovery.

vi.  Restructuring of financial assets
The Bank sometimes restructures terms of loans provided 
to customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for 
distressed loans, with a view to maximising recovery. 
Such restructuring activities include extended payment 
term arrangements and payment holidays. Restructuring 
policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria 
which, in the judgement of management, indicate that 
payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept 
under continuous review.

The risk of default of such assets after restructuring is 
assessed at the reporting date and compared with the 
risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when 
the restructuring is not substantial and so does not result 
in derecognition of the original asset. The Bank monitors 
the subsequent performance of restructured assets. The 
Bank	may	determine	that	the	credit	risk	has	significantly	
improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved 
from Stage 3 or Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12–
month ECL).

vii. Concentration of credit risk
The Bank’s concentrations of risk are managed by priority 
sectors which are Agriculture, Export, Energy, Education, 
Housing and Infrastructure . The Bank intervenes in key 
sectors of the economy and its loan portfolio as at 31 
December	was	distributed	among	different	economic	
sectors as follows:

2018 (Frw’000) % 2017 (Frw’000) % 

Agriculture 17,887,020 10% 12,222,691 7% 

Export 61,392,249 35% 65,335,068 39%

Energy 6,978,204 4% 7,400,580 4% 

Education 10,298,086 6% 11,674,398 7% 

Housing 5,711,939 3% 6,155,499 4% 

SP	&	Infrastructure	 75,355,266 42% 63,423,613 38%

Gross loans 177,622,764 100% 166,211,849 100%

(C) Liquidity Risk
The Bank is set up a Development Bank and mainly objective is to obtain funds to lend to priority sectors in the economy. 
Liquidity	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	that	the	Bank	will	encounter	difficulty	in	meeting	obligations	associated	with	financial	liabilities	
that	are	settled	by	delivering	cash	or	another	financial	asset.	Liquidity	risk	arises	because	of	the	possibility	that	the	Bank	might	be	
unable	to	meet	its	payment	obligations	when	they	fall	due	as	a	result	of	mismatches	in	the	timing	of	the	cash	flows	under	both	
normal and stress circumstances. Such scenarios could occur when funding needed for illiquid asset positions is not available 
to	the	Bank	on	acceptable	terms.	To	limit	this	risk,	management	has	arranged	for	diversified	funding	sources	mainly	from	
Development Financial Institutions and adopted a policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future cash 
flows	and	liquidity	daily.

The Bank has developed internal control processes and contingency plans for managing liquidity risk. This incorporates an 
assessment	of	expected	cash	flows	and	the	availability	of	high–grade	collateral	which	could	be	used	to	secure	additional	funding	
if required.

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, the liquidity position is assessed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to 
stress	factors	relating	to	both	the	market	in	general	and	specifically	to	the	Bank.	Net	liquid	assets	consist	of	cash,	short–term	
Bank deposits and liquid debt securities available for immediate sale, less deposit for Banks and other issued securities and 
borrowings due to mature within the next month.

Matured Up to 6 
Months

6 – 12 
Months

1 – 3 Years 3 – 5 Years 5 – 7 Years Over 7 Years Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial Assets
Balances with Banks 34,371,851 – – – – – – 34,371,851 

Loans and advances 2,808,307 5,684,589 5,712,206 27,752,041 31,730,545 39,533,089 211,812,150 325,032,927 

Equity investments – – – – – – 23,261,144 23,261,144 

Other assets receivable
– 2,027,393 3,041,090  – –  – – 5,068,483

Total undiscounted 
financial assets (A) 37,180,158 7,711,982 8,753,296 27,752,041 31,730,545 39,533,089 235,073,294 387,734,405

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings – 8,633,560 6,664,983 34,309,944 34,109,693 25,730,069 91,524,622 200,972,871 

Special funds – – – – –  – 6,690,087 6,690,087 

Other payables – 3,235,441 4,853,161  – – – – 8,088,602

Total undiscounted 
financial Liabilities (B) – 11,869,001 11,518,144 34,309,944 34,109,693 25,730,069 98,214,709 215,751,560

Net Liquidity Surplus/
(Gap) (A–B)

37,180,158 (4,157,019) (2,764,848) (6,557,903) (2,379,148) 13,803,020 136,858,585 171,982,845

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

 d The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018:
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Matured Up to 6 
Months

6 – 12 
Months

1 – 3 Years 3 – 5 Years 5 – 7 Years Over 7 Years Total

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial Assets

Cash and Balances with 
BNR

1,256,464 150,000 – – – – – 1,406,464

Amount due from other 
Banks 6,362,212 13,741,277 – – – – – 20,103,489 

Loans and advances 10,198,077 5,602,203 5,629,420 27,349,837 31,270,681 38,960,144 181,680,247 300,690,609 

Equity investments – – – – – – 39,469,392 39,469,392 

Other assets receivable
417,662 306,835 1,489,130 – – – – 2,213,627

Total undiscounted 
financial assets (A) 18,234,415 19,800,315 7,118,550 27,349,837 31,270,681 38,960,144 221,149,639 363,883,581

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings – 8,557,525 6,606,285 34,007,781 33,809,294 25,503,468 90,718,577 199,202,930 

Special funds – – – – – – 28,793,089 28,793,089

Other payables 6,468,560 1,735,067 3,323,041 – – – – 11,526,668

Total undiscounted 
financial Liabilities (B) 6,468,560 10,292,592 9,929,326 34,007,781 33,809,294 25,503,468 119,511,666 239,522,687 

Net Liquidity Surplus/
(Gap) (A–B) 11,765,855 9,507,723 (2,810,776) (6,657,944) (2,538,613) 13,456,676 101,637,973 124,360,894

 d The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the undiscounted cash flows of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017:

(D) Market Risk 
Market	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	because	of	changes	in	market	
prices Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, which include currency exchange rates and interest rates other price 
risk,	such	as	equity	price	risk	,	will	affect	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument.	Market	risk	arises	from	open	
positions	in	interest	rates	and	foreign	currencies,	both	of	which	are	exposed	to	general	and	specific	market	movements	and	
changes in the level of volatility. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable limits, while optimizing the return on risk. Overall responsibility for managing market risk rests with the Assets and 
Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Treasury department is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies 
(subject to review and approval by ALCO) and for the day to day implementation of those policies.

i. Interest rate risk
Interest	rate	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	because	of	changes	in	
market	interest	rates.	The	Bank	manages	its	interest	rate	risk	by	having	a	balanced	portfolio	of	fixed	and	variable	rate	loans	and	
borrowings.

Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of such changes in the event of upward or downward shift in interest rate 
structure.	Interest	rate	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	value	or	future	cash	flows	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	because	of	
changes	in	market	interest	rates.	The	Bank	manages	its	interest	rate	risk	by	having	a	balanced	portfolio	of	fixed	and	variable	rate	
loans	and	borrowings.	The	following	tables	on	the	next	pages	summarize	the	Bank’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	at	carrying	
amounts, categorized by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates as at 31 December:

Carrying 
Amount

Up to 6 
Months

6 – 12 
Months

1 – 3 Years 3 – 5 Years 5 – 7 Years Over 7 Years Non–interest 
bearing/
others*

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial Assets
Cash and Balances 
with BNR 4,505,365 – – – – – – 4,505,365

Amount due from 
other Banks* 29,866,486 – – – – – – 29,866,486 

Loans and advances 157,671,998 4,785,862 567,610 6,747,755 14,917,936 29,187,227 97,730,433 3,735,176 

Investment in Equity 
and Associates 23,261,144 – – – – – – 23,261,144 

Other assets 5,068,483 – – – – – – 5,068,483 

Total Financial 
Assets 220,373,476 4,785,862 567,610 6,747,755 14,917,936 29,187,227 97,730,432 66,436,654

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 155,557,822 38,174,092 15,927,550 5,178,202 – 7,158,604 85,067,286 4,052,088 

Special funds 6,690,087 – – – – – – 6,690,087 

Other payables 8,088,602 – – – – – – 8,088,602

Total Financial 
Liabilities 170,336,511 38,174,092 15,927,550 5,178,202 – 7,158,604 85,067,286 18,830,777

Interest sensitivity 
Gap at 31 Dec. 18 50,036,965 (33,388,230) (15,359,940) 1,569,553 14,917,936 22,028,623 12,663,146 47,605,877

 d The table below summarizes the interest rate risk of the Bank as at 31 December 2018:

*Amounts due from Banks includes interest–rewarding current accounts and so remain current accounts with no predetermined maturities.
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Carrying 
Amount

Up to 6 
Months

6 – 12 Months 1 – 3 Years 3 – 5 Years 5 – 7 Years Over 7 Years Non–interest 
bearing/
others*

Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial Assets
Cash and Balances 
with BNR 1,406,464 150,000 – – – – – 1,256,464

Amount due from 
other Banks* 20,103,489 13,741,277 6,362,212 

Loans and advances 155,374,026 10,564,552 778,406 8,166,686 15,428,056 12,273,543 101,691,235 6,471,548

Investment in Equity 
and Associates 24,230,783 – – – – – – 24,230,783 

Other assets 2,213,627 – – – – – – 2,213,627 

Total Financial 
Assets 203,328,389 24,455,829 778,406 8,166,686 15,428,056 12,273,543 101,691,235 40,534,634

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 148,549,278 36,454,186 15,209,946 3,167,943 – 6,836,078 81,234,642 5,646,483 

Special funds 17,676,459 – – – – – – 17,676,459 

Other payables 11,526,668 – – – – – – 11,526,668 

Total Financial 
Liabilities 177,752,405 36,454,186 15,209,946 3,167,943 – 6,836,078 81,234,642 34,849,610

Interest sensitivity 
Gap at 31 Dec. 17 25,575,984 (11,998,357) (14,431,540) 4,998,743 15,428,056 5,437,465 20,456,593 5,685,024

 d The table below summarizes the interest rate risk of the Bank as at 31 December 2017:

*Amounts due from Banks includes interest–rewarding current accounts and so remain current accounts with no predetermined maturities.

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the 
management of the Bank. It is unusual for Banks ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain 
terms	and	of	different	types.	An	unmatched	position	potentially	enhances	profitability	but	can	also	increase	the	risk	of	losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest–bearing liabilities as they mature, 
are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Bank and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.

Sensitivity Analysis

At 31 December 2018, if the interest rate had decreased/increased by 100 basis points with all other variables held constant, 
pre–tax	profit/loss	for	the	year	would	have	been	Frw	699	million	(2017:	Frw	554	million)	higher/lower,	mainly	as	a	result	of	the	
borrowings held at variable interest rates.

ii. Currency risk
Currency	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	value	of	a	financial	instrument	will	fluctuate	due	to	changes	in	foreign	exchange	rates.	The	Bank	
does not actively engage in dealing and trading operations in currencies and so the Bank’s exposure to currency risk mainly 
involves the risk on the currency swap, foreign exchange losses or gains arising on the retranslation of monetary assets, liabilities 
and	off–balance	sheet	items	denominated	in	foreign	currency.

The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December. Included in the table 
are	the	Bank’s	financial	instruments,	categorized	by	currency:

USD EURO GPB Total

As at 31 December 2018 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000 Frw’ 000

Financial Assets 
Balances with Banks 18,304,335 409,189 17,345 18,730,869 

Derivative 13,171,705 – – 13,171,705 

Loans and Advances 9,130,968  –  – 9,130,968 

Other Assets 2,116,901  –  – 2,116,901

Total Financial Assets (A) 42,723,909  409,189 17,345 43,150,443

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 102,804,701 – – 102,804,701 

Special funds – 404,346 – 404,346 

Other payables 8,354 2,061,492  – 2,069,846

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 102,813,055 2,465,838  – 105,278,893

Net On –Balance sheet Position (A–B) (60,089,146) (2,056,649) 17,345 (62,128,450)

USD EUR GBP TOTAL

As at 31 December 2017 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Financial Assets

Balances with Banks 10,612,290 2,137,162 30,081 12,779,533

Loans and Advances 390,492 – – 390,492

Other Assets 605,740 – – 605,740

Total Financial Assets (A) 11,608,522 2,137,162 30,081 13,775,765

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 80,696,968 – – 80,696,968

Special funds 203,201 – – 203,201

Other Liabilities 979,887 2,133,816 – 3,113,703

Total Financial Liabilities (B) 81,880,056 2,133,816 – 84,013,872

Net On –Balance sheet Position (A–B) (70,271,534) 3,346 30,081 (70,238,107)
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Foreign Currency Swaps 

The	Bank	enters	into	foreign	currency	swaps	with	other	financial	institutions	for	risk	management	purposes.	This	strategy	stems	
from the fact that the Bank, mainly, raises funding in foreign currency while the lending, in large sums, is made in the local 
currency (Frw).

Swaps	are	contractual	agreements	between	two	parties	to	exchange	streams	of	payments	over	time	based	on	specified	notional	
amounts,	in	relation	to	movements	in	a	specified	underlying	index	such	as	an	interest	rate,	foreign	currency	rate	or	equity	index.	
In	a	currency	swap,	the	Bank	pays	a	specified	amount	in	one	currency	and	receives	a	specified	amount	in	another	currency.

Currency	swaps	–	initial	amounts	are	recorded	off	–	balance	sheet	at	initial	exchange	of	cash	flows.	These	contracts	are	
subsequently	measured	at	fair	value	observing	contractual	fixed	interest	rates	applicable	on	periodical	exchanges	of	cash	flows	
and the central Bank’s ruling middle rate. The movements recorded in the year are reported in Note 18.

Sensitivity Analysis
At 31 December, if the Rwandese Franc had weakened/strengthened by (–)/+ 10% against the following foreign currencies, with 
all	other	variables	held	constant,	the	effect	on	pre–tax	profit/loss	would	have	been	as	follows:

Currency % Change in rate Effect	on	Pre–tax	profit % Change in rate Effect	on	Pre–tax	profit

  2018  2017

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

USD (–)/+10% (–)/+ 7,326,085 (–)/+10% (–)/+ 7,027,153

EUR (–)/+10% (–)/+ 205,665 (–)/+10% (–)/+ 335

GBP (–)/+10% +/(–) 1,735 (–)/+10% +/(–) 3,008

Equity % Change in RSE stock 
index Effect	on	OCI/Equity % Change in RSE stock 

index Effect	on	OCI/Equity

  2018  2017

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

BoK (–)/+ 10%   (–)/+ 111,851 (–)/+ 10%   (–)/+ 120,702 

CTL (–)/+ 10%   (–)/+ 143,190 (–)/+ 10%   (–)/+ 178,312 

iv. Equity price risk
The Bank is exposed to equity price risk as a result of its investment in the shares of Bank of Kigali (BoK) Limited and shares in 
Crystal Telecom CTL) listed at the Rwanda Stock Exchange (RSE). At 31 December, a 10% movement in RSE share price index 
would have led to a decrease/increase in other comprehensive income (OCI)/Equity as follows:

(D) Fair Value Measurement
IFRS	7	specifies	a	hierarchy	of	valuation	techniques	based	on	whether	the	inputs	to	those	valuation	techniques	are	observable	or	
unobservable.	Observable	inputs	reflect	market	data	obtained	from	independent	sources;	unobservable	inputs	reflect	the	Bank’s	
market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

 f Level 1 – Fair value is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets and liabilities. Types 
of	financial	assets	include:	actively	traded	government	and	other	agency	securities,	listed	derivative	instruments	and	listed	
equities.	Types	of	financial	liabilities	include	listed	derivative	instruments;

 f Level 2 – Fair value is determined using valuation models with directly or indirectly market observable inputs. Types of 
financial	assets	include:	corporate	and	other	government	bonds	and	loans,	and	over–the–counter	(OTC)	derivatives.	Types	of	
financial	liabilities	include	over–the–counter	(OTC)	derivatives;

The management assessed the fair values of cash and short–term deposits, other assets, other payables, approximate their 
carrying amounts largely due to the short–term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of equity investments were estimated using equity dividend yields. Equity future dividends and are usually 
expressed in annualised percentage terms. They are usually unobservable for less liquid instruments with little with historical 
data.

Quantitative	analysis	of	significant	unobservable	inputs

Interest rate/equity price volatility:

Volatility measures the expected future variability of a market price. It is generally quoted as a percentage; a higher number 
represents a more volatile instrument, for which larger swings in price (or interest rate) are expected. Volatility varies per 
instrument and in time and therefore, it is not viable to make reliable and meaningful general statements about volatility levels.

 f Level	3	–	Fair	value	is	determined	using	Valuation	models	using	significant	non–	market	observable	inputs.	Types	of	financial	
assets include: highly structured OTC derivatives with unobservable parameters and corporate bonds in illiquid markets. 
Types	of	financial	liabilities	include	highly	structured	OTC	derivatives	with	unobservable	parameters.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and observable market 
prices in its valuations where possible.

As at 31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Property and Equipment 13,142,565  – – 13,142,565

Investments in Equity and Associates 2,550,406 – 20,710,738 23,261,144

Derivative	financial	instrument	through	Profit	or	Loss – 1,536,315 – 1,536,315

Total Financial Assets 15,692,971 1,536,315 20,710,738 37,940,024

As at 31 December 2017
Property and Equipment 9,058,891 9,058,891

Investments in Equity and Associates 2,990,142 – 21,240,641 24,230,783

Derivative	financial	instrument	through	Profit	or	Loss – 1,214,611 – 1,214,611

Total Financial Assets 12,049,033 1,214,611 21,240,641 34,504,285

Reconciliation of Level 3 Items: Equity Investments
Frw' 000

At 1 January 2018 21,240,641

Additional investment (Note 18(a) and (b))  1,422,368 

Investments exited (Note 18(b))  (35,250)

Fair	value	gain/(Loss)	&	share	of	loss	of	Associates  (1,917,021)

At 31 December 2018 20,710,738

At 31 December 2017 21,240,641
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Valuation hierarchy 31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 3 Total Fair Value Total Carrying amount

Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Financial assets–Equity investment FVOCI

Listed 2,550,406  – 2,550,406 2,550,406

Unlisted    – 12,120,956 12,120,956 12,120,956

Investments in Associates – – –

Listed     – 8,589,782 8,589,782 8,589,782

Unlisted

Total Financial assets 2,550,406 20,710,738 23,261,144 23,261,144

Valuation hierarchy 31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 3 Total Fair Value Total Carrying amount

Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Financial assets–Available for sale

Listed 2,990,142  – 2,990,142 2,990,142

Unlisted – 12,280,017 12,280,017 12,280,017

Investments in Associates – – –

Listed    – 8,960,624 8,960,624 8,960,624

Unlisted

Total Financial assets 2,990,142 21,240,641 24,230,783 24,230,783

Discount margin/spreads:

Discount	margin/spreads	represent	the	discount	rates	used	when	calculating	the	present	value	of	future	cash	flows.	In	
discounted	cash	flow	models	such	spreads	are	added	to	the	benchmark	rate	when	discounting	the	future	expected	cash	
flows.	Hence,	these	spreads	reduce	the	net	present	value	of	an	asset	or	increase	the	value	of	a	liability.	They	generally	reflect	
the premium an investor expects to achieve over the benchmark interest rate to compensate for the higher risk driven by the 
uncertainty	of	the	cash	flows	caused	by	the	credit	quality	of	the	asset.	They	can	be	implied	from	market	prices	and	are	usually	
unobservable for illiquid or complex instruments.

Equity dividend yields:
Equity dividend yields represent the expected future dividends and are usually expressed in annualised percentage terms. They 
are usually unobservable for less liquid instruments with little historical data.

The	table	below	shows	the	classification	of	Equity	investments	measured	at	fair	value	and	cost.	Valuation	hierarchy	set	out	below.

(G) Capital Management
The	Bank’s	objectives	when	managing	capital,	which	is	a	broader	concept	that	the	‘equity’	on	the	face	of	the	statement	of	financial	
position, are:

 f To comply with the capital requirements set under the Central Bank’s Regulation;

 f To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits	for	other	stakeholders;	and

 f To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

The Bank’s regulator National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank as a whole.

In implementing current capital requirements, BNR, requires the Bank to maintain a prescribed ratio of total capital to total risk–
weighted assets.

Tier 1 capital consists of shareholders’ equity comprising paid up share capital (issued and fully paid–up common share and 
irredeemable,	non–cumulative	preference	shares),	share	premium,	prior	year	retained	profits,	net	current	after	tax	profit	to	date	
(only 50%), general reserves less goodwill and other intangible assets, current years losses (if any), investments in unconsolidated 
financial	subsidiaries,	prohibited	loans	to	insiders	and	deficiencies	in	provisions	for	losses.	Tier	2	capital	includes	the	Bank’s	
recognized	revaluation	reserve	on	fixed	assets,	and	the	subordinated	debt	not	to	exceed	50%	of	the	Bank’s	core	capital	
subjected to discount factors. Tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of Tier 1 capital.

The table below summarizes the composition of the regulatory capital. The Bank is supposed to comply, at all times, with a 
regulatory	floor	of	12.5%	(Tier	1	Capital	ratio)	and	15%	(Total	Capital	ratio):

2018 2017

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Core Capital (Tier 1)
Share capital 39,100,308 7,258,230

Share premium 11,665,569 11,665,569

Prior	year	retained	profits/(losses) (6,178,048) 16,331,472

Other reserves (87,462) 1,320,688

Intangible assets (864,803) (792,530)

Current	year	profit/Loss (3,265,566) (16,472,798)

Other permitted adjustments 3,933,264 –

Core Capital 44,303,262 19,310,631

Supplementary Capital (Tier 2)
Revaluation reserve 2,727,937 1,560,564

Quasi capital – Supplementary equity capital < or = 100% of core capital 11,510,322 9,655,316

Other permitted adjustments 2,516,710

16,754,969 11,215,880

Total Capital (A) 61,058,231 30,526,511

Credit Risk Weighted assets 218,481,154 238,616,908

Operational Risk weighted assets 28,786,272 –

Market risk weighted assets 93,316,192 –

Total Risk Weighted assets (B) 340,583,618 238,616,908

Capital Adequacy: Tier 1 Capital Ratio 13.01% 8.10%

Capital Adequacy: Total Capital Ratio 17.93% 12.80%
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The regulator, through implementation of BASEL II/III, issued a new law addressing capital requirements in 2018. The key change 
was addition of both market and operational risks in total risk weighted assets of the Bank.

31. Commitments and contingencies

Off	balance	sheet	items	and	contingencies
The Bank conducts business involving lending, performance bonds and indemnities. The following are the commitments and 
contingencies outstanding as at year–end.

(a) Letters of credit 
Letters of credit commit the Bank to make payments to suppliers of equipment to approved projects, on presentation of shipping 
documents.

(b) Un–disbursed loan commitments
Commitments to lend are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions. Such commitments are 
normally	made	for	a	fixed	period.

(c) Litigations
The Bank is a litigant in several cases which arise from normal day to day Banking activities. The directors and management 
believe	the	Bank	has	strong	grounds	for	success	and	are	confident	that	they	should	get	rulings	in	their	favor	in	matters	before	
court.	In	cases	where	the	Bank	may	not	be	successful,	directors	and	management	are	confident	that	such	cases	would	not	
significantly	impact	the	Bank’s	operations	either	individually	or	in	aggregate.	Management	has	also	carried	out	an	assessment	of	
all	the	cases	outstanding	as	at	31	December	2018	and	did	not	find	any	that	warranted	a	provision.	This	position	is	supported	by	
independent professional legal advice.

32. Related parties
The ultimate controlling party of the group is the Government of Rwanda, which owns 51% of the Bank’s shares. 45% of the 
remaining shares are held by various government agencies and the rest of the shares are held widely. There are other companies 
which are related to the Group through common shareholdings or common directorships.

A number of Banking and other transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These 
include operation of current accounts, placement of deposits, foreign currency transactions and loans to Directors and other 
key management personnel of the Bank. Related–party transactions during the year, outstanding balances at the year–end, and 
relating expense and income recognised during the year are as follows:

2018 2017

Note Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Letters of credit (a) 193,447  4,903,685 

Un–disbursed loan commitments (b) 28,933,135  37,774,021 

29,126,582  42,677,706 

The transactions with Business Development Fund relates to guarantees provided in relation to

The outstanding balances with Kinazi Cassava Plant Ltd arise mainly from amounts advanced to the entity. The outstanding 
balances with Rugarama Park Estates relate to mainly operational expenses of Rugarama Park met by BRD. The outstanding 
balances	of	BRD	education	relate	to	Management	fees	and	salaries	of	Education	staff.	The	receivables	are	unsecured	in	nature	
and bear no interest and are short term.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Outstanding 
balances at the year–end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees 
provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.

There were no commitments with related party as at year end.

Loans and advances to senior managers were issued at interest rates ranging between 0% and 5% and are repaid as stipulated 
in the HR manual were all performing as at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2017. The repayment is done through set 
off	of	salaries	on	a	monthly	basis.	In	line	with	IFRS	9,	a	provision	of	Frw	5,750,095	was	made	against	the	loans	to	senior	managers	
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders were issued at normal rates of the Bank applicable to other non–
related clients. These loans were all performing as at 31 December 2018 and as at 31 December 2017 and hence no provision 
was required, however, these are subjected to impairment assessment as other loans to non– related clients. In line with IFRS 9, 
a provision of Frw 17,724,869 was made against the Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders during the 
year ended 31 December 2018.

(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties
2018 2017

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Kinazi Cassava Plant – 219

Business Development Fund 666,504 306,616

Rugarama Park Estates ltd 62,694 139,773

BRD Education Fund 192,339 176,002

921,537 622,610

2018 2017

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Loans and advances to senior managers 778,788 837,748

Loans and advances to companies owned by BRD shareholders 14,246,355 12,856,804

15,025,143 13,694,552

(a) Loans and advances to related parties
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33. Post period end events 
If the Bank receives information after the reporting period but prior to the date of authorization for issue, all conditions that 
existed	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period,	the	Bank	will	assess	if	the	information	affects	the	amount	that	it	recognizes	in	the	
financial	statements.	The	Bank	will	adjust	the	amounts	recognized	in	its	financial	statements	to	reflect	any	adjusting	events	after	
the reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in the light of new information. For non–adjusting 
events	after	the	reporting	period,	the	Bank	will	not	change	the	amounts	recognized	in	its	consolidated	financial	statements	but	
will	disclose	the	nature	of	the	non–adjusting	event	and	an	estimate	of	its	financial	effect,	or	a	statement	that	such	an	estimate	
cannot be made, if applicable.

Except	as	disclosed	in	the	notes	to	the	financial	statements,	there	are	no	events	after	the	reporting	date	that	require	disclosure	
in	or	adjustments	to	the	financial	statements	as	at	the	date	of	this	report.

Key management compensation 2018 2017

Frw' 000 Frw' 000

Salaries	and	other	employee	benefits 945,911 1,070,778

Contributions to retirement schemes  64,633   60,720

1,010,544 1,131,498

Directors' remuneration
Fees and other expenses 110,542 68,675

(c) Key management compensation and directors’ remuneration

Appendix I – Other Disclosures 2018 2017

1.	Off	–	balance	sheet	credit	exposures Frw' 000 29,126,582 42,677,706

2. Non – performing loans indicators
 a. Non–performing loans (NPL) Frw' 000 39,865,544 33,633,470

 b. NPL Ratio % 19.34% 16.34%

3. Capital Strength
a. Core capital (Tier 1) Frw' 000 44,303,262 19,310,631 

b. Supplementary capital (Tier 2) Frw' 000 16,754,969 11,215,880

c. Total Capital Frw' 000 61,058,231 30,526,511

d. Total risk weighted assets Frw' 000 340,583,618 238,616,908

e. Core capital/total risk weighted assets (Tier 1 Ratio) % 13.01% 8.1%

f. Tier 2/total risk weighted assets (Tier 2 ratio) % 4.92% 4.7%

g. Total capital/total risk weighted assets (Total Capital ratio) % 17.93% 12.8%

4. Liquidity
a. Regulatory liquidity coverage ratio (30 days ahead) 189.00% 145.96%

b. Internal liquidity coverage ratio (one year ahead) 60.60% 81.00%

5. Insider lending
a. Loans to directors, shareholders and subsidiaries Frw' 000 15,025,143 13,694,552

b. Loans to employees Frw' 000 4,072,830 4,398,670

6. Management and Board Composition
a. Number of Board members 9 9

b. Number of Executive Directors 0 0

c. Number of Non – Executive Directors 9 9

d. Number of female Directors 2 2

e. Number of male Directors 7 7

f. Number of Executive committee members 8 8

g. Number of females in the executive committee 2 2

h. Number of males in the executive committee 6 6

APPENDIX 1

Other Disclosures



Empowering Rwandans to 
access quality education
BRD provided education to Rwandans especially girls through 
scholarships and providing highly needed school materials for 
students and help further their education seamlessly

we empower you

FUTURE. FOCUSED.



Development Bank of Rwanda
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P.O Box: 1341 Kigali, Rwanda

www.brd.rw


